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Sen. Terry Wanzek: Sponsor, support (see attached 1 ) . 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support. 

Rep. Kathy Hogan: Sponsor, support (see attached 2A and 28). 

Sen. Nelson: There have been a number of allegations against the Church, 
what would be the impact of this bill. 

Rep. Kathy Hogan: The intent of this bill is not in any way to target the 
church. We want to be very, very clear about this. In the late 1980's and early 
1990's it was my privilege to work with Catholic Diocese on establishment of 
their sexual abuse policies. I think it is one of the things I am proudest of, as a 
Catholic, about how aggressive and professionally they addressed the 
allegations of sexual abuse as they were identified. They were first targeted 
by accountability and the second issue was to offer amazing support to 
victims. I think we need to be very clear that this is not targeted at the church. 
This is targeted at the perpetrators. We want to really target the opportunity 
for victims to address their abusers and not an institutional complaint. 

Sen. Casper: Do you have any thoughts on having some limitation. The no 
limitation or some limitation, have you thought through that at all. 

Rep. Kathy Hogan: I think as you hear the testimony from the victims, you 
will understand why we took the limitations off. Actually, the process of 
discovery and really working through the many complications that result from 
child sexual abuse; it often takes 20 years. That's because of the serious 
nature and impact. That's why we decided to go with no limitation. It was very 
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intentional based on the actual real stories from the victims. That was the 
intent. 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support. 

Betty Jo Krenz, citizen: Support (see attached 3). 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support. 

Rep. Brandenburg, citizen: Support. I am here to support my wife, who was 
abused as a child. 

Lovice Brandenburg, citizen: Support. What you will hear from me today is 
how child sex abuse, incest, rape changes who we were supposed to be. 
Children have no voice and as an adult, I want a child with a voice when he or 
she cannot speak. Because of the threats that mom and dad will die or your 
dog will be killed, it will be your fault. Your sister will be taken away and you 
will never see them again, all because of you. SB 2331 removing the statute 
of limitations for sex crimes against children is giving them a voice and when 
they feel strong enough to handle their abuser in court. People have stated 
that children are so resilient and that they will get over it, told to just let it go or 
forget about it, that life is too short to dwell on it. Incest is a horrible act with 
pain. When a child's sense of security is stripped by someone who is 
supposed to love you, protect you, and guide you in the right direction, is a 
family member. They strip you of your innocence, your existence of feeling 
safe within that family unit, the child is stripped of their innocence and their 
self-worth as a person, the child puts a huge burden on what he or she did 
wrong to make that family member hurt them in such a horrific way. Then to 
be told that it's all your fault. The child was told from the age of 6 until she 
was 18 that she was nothing but a disgrace to her family name and she was 
never wanted because Daddy only wanted boys. She is told that she is 
nothing but a slut, a whore, a tramp, she's stupid, ugly, fat and disgusting 
piece of crap; left only as a shell of a human being is thrown out into the huge 
world to fend for herself and now she has a child of her own that is going to be 
raised by a mother who is so damaged herself, that the baby is no doubt going 
to be raised with heartbreak and dysfunction; but very loved or at least the 
mother thinks she is giving him/her the right kind of love. After all, the mother 
only knows that love is unbearable and painful. That's all she knows is pain. 
Love to this mom is rage, confusion, depression, suicide, drug and alcohol 
abuse just to get through a day. PTSD, nightmares, you never feel safe, ever. 
You can't comprehend even the simplest things. No reasoning, it's nothing 
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but black and white, there never is a gray. OCD, you don't know what love is; 
love is abuse, physical, emotional, and verbal; with bad relationships, one 
right after another; short term attention span, feeling of never fitting in. There 
is no trust in people regardless of who they are. They are always afraid, you 
have abandonment issues; always a toxic awareness of your exits. The first 
thing you do when you come into a room is you look for a way out. The 
triggers are alcohol and cigarettes on their breath, spit, hay mounds, tree 
groves, grease, sweat, the dark and outhouses. In closing, the reason I know 
how it feels to be a child of incest, is because I am one. I am a survivor; I will 
never get over what happened to me. But with God's grace and my husband's 
support and my wonderful therapist, she has given me the tools to work 
through it and to get past it. I ask for SB 2331 to pass and make our beautiful 
state of North Dakota, the 11th in our nation for removing the statute of 
limitation for sex crimes against children. Let's give our future a voice. 

Rep. Brandenburg: As you deal with this bill and put some thought into it, the 
impact as a child suffering through this abuse, they can't really deal with it until 
they get to an older age. If  you look around the room and the people that I 've 
met, they end up being in their 30's, 40's, and 50's before they are mentally 
stable enough to do it or financially able to do it. People ask me, how you 
know that your wife was abused. I ask them, how do make up a nightmare. 
I'm there when the nightmare happens, then we talk and I could share a lot of 
things that are very personal, but I don't want to get into them now. It is real, 
it does happen. For her, it's a lifelong sentence. She has gone to counseling 
and with God's help dealing with it fairly well. It's a challenge every day. 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support. 

Stephen Wonderlich, Ph.D. UNO Medical School in the Dept. of Psychiatry: 
Support (see attached 4 ). I work at Sanford Health where I am the Chair of 
the Eating Disorder Dept. and I 'm the director of Clinical Research at the 
Neuropsychiatric Research Institute in Fargo. I 'm going to try and talk about 
the impact of sexual abuse in child trauma. I 'm going to do it with a little more 
of a scientific bent; I think the stories that you heard are probably the most 
compelling. I think this information brings a little objectivity to what we know 
about child trauma. Hopefully it will help you in the difficult decisions you'll 
have to make. I 'm not speaking on behalf of UNO Medical School, Sanford 
Health or the Neuropsychiatric Research Institute. I am the director of The 
Treatment Collaborative for Traumatized Youth, which is an organization that 
has trained about 250 mental health professionals to treat traumatized kids, 
frequently have PTSD, mood disorders and other problems. I will speak as 
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the director of that and I'm speaking for the Coordinator, Heather Simonich, 
who has done a lot of work in this state. I will walk you through each slide, 
one by one. If you will turn to slide 2, this is some definitional language for 
"what is this". Not only is this the material we deal with day in and day out, but 
this is really not just language, this is what children experience. Child sexual 
abuse is an interaction between a child and an adult, in which the child is used 
for the sexual stimulation of the perpetrator or an observer. Sexual abuse can 
include both touching and non-touching behavior. Touching behavior may 
involve touching the vagina, penis, breasts, buttocks, oral genital contact, and 
sexual intercourse. Non-touching behaviors can include voyeurism, 
exhibitionism, or exposing the child to pornography. Every one of these 
actions directed toward a child is clearly traumatic, because it overwhelms a 
child's ability to comprehend what's happening and to make sense of it. 
Furthermore, it is frequently done by the caretaker, which is an extremely 
difficult situation for a child to comprehend. Let's talk about what actually 
happens. We heard the story, what does the evidence tell us. The research 
article is actually something that was done in California, Kaiser Permanente in 
conjunction with the Center for Disease Control out of Atlanta. It is becoming 
one of the biggest studies in the country on the impact of sexual abuse on 
children. They took almost 20,000 patients in Kaiser Permanente, they did 
comprehensive medical psychiatric exams and then they did a developmental 
history. The adverse childhood experiences that they assessed in this history 
were the 10 listed; child physical abuse, child sexual abuse, emotional abuse, 
emotional neglect abuse, physical neglect abuse, living with a mentally ill or 
suicidal person in the home, a drug addicted family member, domestic 
violence, loss of a parent to death or abandonment, or incarceration of a 
family member. This is not just about sexual abuse in this particular study, but 
what I will tell you is that every study that's been done that looks at child 
sexual abuse in comparison to physical abuse or emotional abuse, essentially 
says that child sexual abuse seems to have the largest impact. All of us can 
calculate our ACE score by just calculating the number of events out of those 
1 O that you have experienced. This study has told us that if you have four or 
more of those 10 adversities, the numbers are odds ratio. These are the odds 
that you would have each of these behaviors or conditions if you had four or 
more adversities as opposed to having three or less. Let's look at some of 
the bigger ones. Suicide gesture, 12x more likely if you have four or more 
adversities; injectable drug use 10 xs more likely; alcoholism 7.5 xs more 
likely and the list goes on. Clearly, I think that all of us understand that there 
is a psychiatric, psychological impact of abuse. I think for us, as healthcare 
providers and as policy makers, it goes well beyond the psychiatric and 
mental health components. These are the same odds ratios for what we think 



Senate J udiciary Comm ittee 
SB 2331 
2/4/201 5 
Page 5 

of as physical diseases. You will see that bronchitis and emphysema is 4 xs 
more likely if you have four or more adversities. Hepatitis, 2.5x more likely; 
stroke, 2.5x more likely. If  this was a gene that was increasing the risk of all 
these illnesses as much as it is, as opposed to just adversity, this would be 
Nobel Prize work. This is powerful. I think this drives home the point even 
more clearly, this is the suicide attempt and I want you to see what we would 
call a step-wise progression from the percent attempting suicide in terms of 
how many adversities that you have. You can see it is a dose-response 
relationship. As you increase the dose of adversity, the response of suicide 
increase is in a step-wise manner. Each time you get a little more adversity, 
your chances of trying to kill yourself increases. In looking at the pyramid, 
this is the theory that the CDC has put forth, in trying to understand how in the 
world could this happen. That is, that adverse childhood experiences disrupt 
the neuro-development of the child, which in turn, impacts their social, 
emotional, and cognitive development; everything they do, think, and 
experience has changed, which leads to adopting high risk health behaviors, 
which increases the chance of disease, disability, which increases the chance 
of early death. Interestingly, if you have 6 more adversities, you lose 20 years 
of life, compared to people who don't. This goes all the way to increasing the 
risk of early death. I looked for some recent literature and reviews to look 
explicitly at child sexual abuse to make the point that this is not just some 
conglomerate of adversity. This just highlights the scientifically supported 
elevations in a variety of different psychiatric problems. Many of which were 
mentioned in the previous testimony; depression, anxiety, psychosis, self­
mutilation, substance abuse, PTSD, eating disorders, OCD, suicide, severe 
personality disorders. All of these are substantially elevated in people who 
are sexual abuse victims. The bar graph is local data. This is a study done 
back in the late 1990's, early 2000's, we published it in the Journal of 
Traumatic Stress, Kevin Thompson from NDSU was the lead author. This is 
four groups of women. If you look at the colors, the green bars are women 
who had experienced childhood sexual abuse before the age of 18 and were 
also then raped in adulthood. The blue bars are women who had childhood 
sexual abuse only. The yellow bars are women who were raped in adulthood 
and the red bars are those who had no history of trauma. If you look at each 
one of these different psychiatric conditions, and these are serious conditions, 
we had very well trained interviewers to conduct the interviews to find out their 
histories, the interviewers did not know their trauma status, so she was blind 
to this. She didn't know. This is what we found. If  you look at mood disorders 
that are major depression, bipolar disorder, etc. you can see that all three of 
the trauma groups are very substantially elevated compared to the red bar. If 
you move next door to anxiety disorders, what you see is something 
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interesting. All three trauma groups are elevated but the two who have the 
childhood component, the blue and green bars are incrementally above the 
yellow bar, meaning that there is something about this window of adversity in 
childhood which increases your risk of serious problems, even above and 
beyond being raped as an adult. There is something about the developmental 
status. The next one is substance abuse. It was very interesting to find that it 
was the women who had both traumas, which seemed to be most likely to use 
substances. Again, the point that somehow maybe the alcohol is a way to 
manage all of the dysregulation in their life because so much has gone wrong. 
Lastly, eating disorders, which is where I work. I will just tell you, the reason I 
got into all this child trauma in 1996, I was treating eating disorder patients all 
over the state of ND and about 40% of them were child trauma victims and I 
didn't know what to do with it. I didn't have a clue and all of my treatments 
were less effective with trauma victims than they were with non-trauma 
victims. Again, eating disorders you see childhood trauma increases your risk 
quite substantially. Anorexia nervosa, is fairly prevalent in ND is the most 
lethal psychiatric disorder we have, 20% dead within 20 years of initial 
diagnosis. These are serious conditions; the medical consequences of 
childhood sexual abuse. All of these medical conditions are elevated. 
Functional GI problems, chronic pelvic pain, headaches, musculoskeletal pain, 
joint pains, ischemic heart disease and obesity. All of these increased in child 
trauma victims. We are all trying to get to this place where change can 
happen. You see the pictures of a brain and what we now know is that 
experience changes the brain. In the areas that are highlighted in these 
figures are the parts of the brain that tend to regulate emotional states and 
inhibit rash impulsive responses. These are the areas which seem to be 
most affected by histories of child abuse, particularly child sexual abuse. The 
brain is changed. The good news is treatment also changes the brain. So the 
comments about the therapy, there is evidence to suggest that brains change 
as victims get treated in beneficial ways. I think the point we want to make is 
that this is literally changing neurons in the brain. This is not a moral choice; 
this is down to the fabric of who we are. My colleague, Heather Simonich, has 
done a lot of work with the Dept. of Public Instruction for the state of ND on 
what happens to school kids, and if you just look at the educational 
consequences, trauma kids have lower GPAs, miss school more, drop out 
more, suspended more, they are expelled more, they have decreased IQ's, 
probably because the overall size of the traumatized child's brain, a sexually 
abused child's brain is smaller than non-abused kids. Significant deficits in 
attention, abstract reasoning, long term memory and increased use of special 
education services. If  you talk to the teachers, they don't know what is going 
on with these kids and they are trying to run a classroom. Social vocational 
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consequences of child trauma, increased unemployment, more financial 
problems, work absenteeism and much more involvement in the courts. 
Behaviorally these are people who are struggling. Lastly, the economic 
impact, and this was also mentioned in the previous testimony, this breaks it 
down a little bit more. A recent 20 12 estimate, and one of the questions was, 
what does this do, not only to the mental, physical and social fabric of the 
child, but what happens to us. What do we do in terms of taking care of these 
kids after it happens? As Betty Jo said, $210,000 above and beyond a non­
abused child is thought to cost in terms of lost revenue or having to treat 
special conditions associated with a trauma; $32,000 up to the age of 18; 
$10,000 more after the age of 18; and healthcare costs per activity losses 
because these folks are not going to be extremely reliable work people if they 
have PTSD, depression or alcoholism. Child welfare costs are important, 
criminal justice costs are important and special ed costs are important. No 
matter how you look at it, the way I see it, this touches everything. It is 
fundamental. Lastly, my summary, childhood sexual abuse and I would add 
other types of abuse, but today I am talking about childhood sexual abuse 
only. It has significant health, educational and social impacts on children. Not 
all victims experience these consequences. Children's temperament, the 
nature of the abuse itself, the quality of the environment surrounding the child 
at the time, and even particular genes may influence the degree to which the 
child has a negative outcome after trauma. It's estimated that half to 2/3rds of 
all kids have serious psychiatric conditions after serious sexual abuse. The 
effects tend to be enduring and require intensive treatment. I think this point is 
the one that goes most towards the point of this bill. I could have shown you a 
study of 20 women, who were raped 20 years earlier, and they were 
measuring cortisol in these women's bodies compared to other women, and it 
was different. It was dramatically different. Cortisol is a stress hormone; it's 
what we need when we're standing up here talking to people. They didn't 
have it, and that was 20 years after the trauma. Whatever we are talking 
about it lasts a long time and I think it goes to the point of, are sexually abused 
children really able to speak for themselves in a reliable and competent way 
given what they've been through, given their developmental state, and given a 
psychiatric consequences of what they have developed. 

Ch. Hogue: Can you clarify that last point, about the 20 women. You said 
they didn't have the stress hormone, cortisol. What are you saying; they aren't 
able to as easily cope with stress. 

Stephen Wunderlich: Right. Twenty year after the fact, they had suppressed 
cortisol levels; meaning their body's ability to rise to the occasion for whatever 
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seemed impaired. The point I took out of that paper that was really 
compelling, you see the same thing in Vietnam veterans, and they have 
suppressed biological responses. The part that was impressive about this for 
me was that it had been on average 20 years since the trauma happened. It 
seems to scar the biology. The good news is, of course, if we can treat 
people, I think we can change biology. 

Sen. Armstrong: On the graph for the ND study, is it saying that 40% of the 
control group had a serious mood disorder. 

Stephen Wonderlich: At some point in their life. These were people who are 
seeking financial counseling, but they never had any trauma of any kind. 
They probably had some difficulties, but they were not traumatized. 

Sen. Armstrong: So for substance abuse disorder, this isn't supposed to be 
control like across the population and I think you said that this was only 
women, right. 

Stephen Wonderlich: Right. 

Sen. Armstrong: So this isn't ND. 

Stephen Wonderlich: No. 

Sen. Armstrong: This is not a ND-based control group. 

Stephen Wonderlich: It's not an epidemiologic population based estimate. It's 
a group of women who were seeking mental health and financial counseling 
services but had no trauma histories. The other three groups of women were 
seeking mental health services and all had trauma histories. 

Ch. Hogue: On the graph, the green is childhood sexual abuse with rape and 
the blue is childhood sexual abuse. I would not have guessed that there 
would be large segments of individuals who experience childhood sexual 
abuse that does not also include rape. Does that go back to your definition of 
just touching? 

Stephen Wonderlich: That's a very good point. The green bar denotes people 
who had sexual assault or rape as a child and then were subsequently raped 
again separately as adults and the blue bar are the children who could have 
been raped but all before the age of 18. 
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Sen. Luick: Has there been a nationwide study to determine the effects of 
where we have gone as far as media and all of the exploitation of sexual 
experiences on internet and everything else. How is that affecting kids and 
what age has that been noted. 

Stephen Wonderlich: It's early. We don't know as much about that kind of 
media based exploitation of children as we do about these kinds of trauma. 
It's frequently being studied but I don't think we know, for example, is it as 
potent an effect as being beaten or raped directly. We don't have that sorted 
out yet, at least scientifically. I think clinicians would tell you that the kids that 
they are treating that have been traumatized or victimized in some way on the 
internet, it has powerful effects, but I don't think we have scientific data to 
clarify that. 

Sen. Luick: Could you maybe give me an example of how a case would be 
treated, such as this. You have some juniors or seniors in high school that get 
"in love". So they end up getting into petting and maybe even intercourse and 
then they fall "out of love". Now years later one of them decides that they 
were abused. How do you handle something like that because they were both 
minors in this instance and could that be designated in this bill as being a rape 
or sexual abuse? 

Stephen Wonderlich: I think if we're going to define sexual abuse as 
consensual contact between two people at the time, about the same age, I 
think the point that you're making is someone is going to come back later and 
say it wasn't consensual, it was imposed. Is that right. I think the key point 
there is one of the things that help to define sexual abuse and it's in the 
definition I gave, typically it is about an adult to a child or someone who is at 
least some increment in age above the age of the alleged victim. If it's two 
same aged individuals, then I think it is probably just a potential for a rape 
allegation; I don't think we would put it in the category of a childhood sexual 
abuse, because again there is not an age differential. 

Sen. Luick: But it doesn't spell that out here in the bill, I don't think. 

Ch. Hogue: We have Ms. Krenz' testimony about the pervasiveness of child 
sexual abuse, do you have any studies that you regard as reliable that speak 
directly to that issue, particularly in ND. 
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Stephen Wonderlich: ND is a little less clear, but interestingly the best 
national estimate of the rate of sexual abuse of women in the United States 
was done by researchers at the U NO. It was conducted on a national sample 
and I'm speaking to the work done by Dr. Sharon Wilsnack and Dr. Nancy 
Vogeltanz-Holm in the Medical School. They had the national opinion 
research center, which is based in Chicago, interview in the homes of over 
1,000 women, with a whole host of things looking at their psychiatric histories, 
there personal histories, and then also their sexual histories, including sexual 
trauma. They estimate that the average prevalence of childhood sexual 
abuse in the United States is on average about 25%. It depends on the 
definition you use for what is sexual abuse. What behaviors are included and 
it can range actually anywhere from 21 to 34%. The average is 1 in 4 women. 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support. 

Theresa Semmens, citizen: Support (see attached #5). 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support. Testimony in 
opposition. Neutral testimony. We will close the hearing. 
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Ch. Hogue: Let's take a look at SB 233 1. This bill would remove the statute 
of limitations for victims of childhood sexual abuse. 

Sen. Casper: If a person at the age of 12 was a victim and did not come 
forward, did not realize the crime that occurred. The 7 year length of the 
statute of limitation would not begin running until they are 18, so they would 
have until 25 years old. 

Sen. Armstrong: That's why I pulled the book. I wanted to make sure that I 
was sure on current law. If you are a minor, you have 7 years from the date it 
commenced unless you don't report it. Then it's 3 years from the date of 
reporting. If it happens to you when you are 12, you have 7 years from that 
date, they would be 19. If you don't report it to anybody, then you have three 
years from whatever date you reported. So if you don't report it until you're 
25, if it happened when you are 12, you have until you're 19; unless you don't 
report until you are 25 then you have until you're 28 years old. That is how it 
is written for minors. " If the victim was under 18 years of age, at the time the 
offense was committed, must be commenced in the proper court within 7 
years after the commission of the offense, or if the victim failed to report the 
offense within this limitation period, within three years after the offense was 
reported to law enforcement authorities". That's the current law right now. 
The statute is very different than any other statute of limitations we have in the 
law right now. To me, who didn't come to testify in favor of the bill is almost as 
telling as who did. We didn't have a single law enforcement agent or a state's 
attorney. This is the kind of bill that people come and testify for if there is a 
need for solving of the problem. No one from states' attorney or sheriff 
testified in favor of the bill, because I think the reason is that I think our statute 
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of limitations now works pretty well. The reason is because you have that 
catch-all on the back end of those three years from date of reporting. 

Ch. Hogue: The civil statute of limitations is 7 years from when the child 
should have known that a potential claim exists. I don't think the court is going 
to let that statute run on a minor. For civil claims, you have until age 25. If the 
committee wanted to extend that out more than 7 years we could do that; or 
we could leave it as is, or I guess we could pass the bill as well. 

Sen. Armstrong: Civilly, are there any other claims that have no statute of 
limitation. 

Ch. Hogue: Yes and no. We have the discovery rule, which means if you 
don't know you have a claim; for example those who are injured by exposure 
to asbestos, you could be exposed during your working career. That can be 
anywhere, that could be on a naval, installing insulated pipe, lots of different 
things, and those folks don't see the disease manifesting itself for 30 or 40 
years after the exposure. You're statute doesn't run until you have an injury 
and the doctor says you have mesothelioma as the known cancer; that's when 
your statute of limitations starts to run, and it is a 6 year statute for those 
people. In the case of malpractice, you're under anesthesia; you don't know 
how the surgeon did in your surgery. You could come out of surgery feeling 
fine but at some point, there is a complication and you don't have any 
occasion to determine if the physician committed malpractice until the 
complication arises. That's when the statute starts to run; not from the date of 
the surgery. In answering Sen. Armstrong's question, yes there isn't a place 
where it is unlimited, but at the same time there are many places where the 
statute doesn't run until you know you have an injury. 

Sen. Armstrong: So this language has no limitation, just straight, regardless 
of when the injury occurred, regardless of whatever, this would be unique to 
the civil code. 

Ch. Hogue: Yes. 

Sen. Casper: In looking at 28-01-25.1, it is the child sexual abuse - a claim, a 
claim for relief for child sexual abuse must be commenced within seven years 
after the plaintiff knew or reasonably should have known that a potential claim 
exists which has been determined by the court and in the civil matter, the 
reasonability standard of what they would litigate if they tried to push it beyond 
the boundaries. 
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Ch. Hogue: Well, 25 is the minimum; here's what has happened in the past; 
with respect to cases involving spiritual ministers, priests or leaders. The 
plaintiff or the victim of the sexual abuse will argue as supported by their 
therapist, that they often repress the memory. They don't remember it, it stays 
buried deep within their mind for years. They can say, judge, the statute 
shouldn't have run when I was 18, it should have only started to run when this 
came to my mind, when I turned 30. So it would be 30 + 7. I actually had 
experience with a case where that happened. The gentleman was 5 1  or 52 
and said that his memory, mind and brain had repressed the memories, only 
until recently. He claimed he refreshed his mind and memory was of the 
same alleged perpetrator was in the newspaper somewhere else with another 
victim. So it is 18 + 7 is the minimum, 25 years old. 

Sen. Luick: I have a concern, what if you have other abuses, oral or 
psychological or physical abuse, are they treated in the same way as sexual 
abuse or are they treated differently. I would think that there would be issues 
with that also. 

Ch. Hogue: I think sexual abuse is defined. 

Sen. Luick: I didn't see anything in here to set it out. 

Ch. Hogue: Line 13, childhood sexual abuse means any act committed by the 
defendant against the plaintiff which occurred when the plaintiff was under 18, 
which would have been a violation of 12. 1-20. So we go to 12. 1-20, I'm pretty 
confident that it does not preclude verbal abuse. It's got to be a physical act. 

Sen. Luick: My question is, wouldn't those crimes also be just as detrimental 
as sexual abuse or could be. 

Ch. Hogue: I assume it could. I don't feel qualified to answer that one. It's 
possible. 

Sen. Armstrong: I was involved in a case where I was helping the victims, but 
it was a girl, who when she was 5 and 6 years old, was abused by a close 
family member and she didn't report it to the police until she was 26. So we're 
going on 2 1  years and the only thing that triggered at that point, if you're going 
to bring up a 20 year old case, after you report it to law enforcement, within 
three years law enforcement has to charge them. This is criminal not civil, 
that's why I was asking. That's why I was asking about the civil case, because 
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I could see a reason on the civil side possibly to start at the age of majority or 
do some things differently that way. On the criminal side, the way it is written 
now, works pretty well. The case I was involved with, this was obviously 
significantly passed the seven years. But from the time she reported it until 
they charged out 6 or 7 months later, that's when the statute started running, 
that 3 years started running when she was 26. They would have had until she 
turned 29 to charge it. I think from the criminal side, I think that's important 
because when you start getting into 35-40 year old cases, at some point in 
time you make a decision whether you are going to fish or cut bait. You can 
still charge it out at that point and there weren't any repressed memories or 
anything of that nature; it was just reporting to law enforcement. A lot of the 
testimony we heard, at least from the criminal side, is that as they mature and 
get the ability to report those things, that's one thing, but once they report it to 
law enforcement, law enforcement only has "x" number of years to act at that 
point. I think our current law is definitely, the statute of limitations for this 
crime, the most generous we have with the exception of murder, which is not. 
It's significantly more generous than any other criminal act we have in the 
Code. In practical experience, I think it is working. 

Sen. Casper: Going back to the civil case, we were talking about the 
minimum at age 25. Essentially you're saying that the minimum would be 25, 
and beyond that the plaintiff would have to show that they either lacked 
knowledge or they reasonably wouldn't had knowledge before regarding the 
person that had repressed feelings or thoughts, memories. I don't think it 
accounts for the testimony we heard on this bill. I think the folks that testified 
would not fall under this because I think it could be proven that they had 
knowledge. In general, I think the law is good that way it is. 

Ch. Hogue: They are going to know, of course, that they've been sexually 
abused, but the knowledge that this statute relates to you, that you have a 
claim, the ability to assert a law suit against this person. That's why I don't 
think there would ever be a judge that would say that it starts to run before 
age of 18. I can see judges extending it saying, well he was still in high 
school, and he probably wouldn't have known that he had a right to assert a 
law suit. 

Sen. Nelson: In looking at Rep. Hogan's testimony and she had attached the 
statute of limitations for sexual assault, the piece that comes from the US Dept 
of Justice. On the cover page, I found it interesting, it says that it highlights 
states that have a DNA exception to the statute of limitations and the specifics 
vary from state to state, a DNA exception allows for the tolling of the statute of 
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limitations in cases where the perpetrators later identified through DNA 
evidence. And at this point, 27 states have some form of DNA exception that 
extends the length of time. As far as I could see, we don't have a DNA 
exception and we're not listed as any of those states. It is interesting to see 
what the different lengths of time; ND is listed in what we've just said it is, but 
it doesn't indicate 7, 7 and 3 as what's listed for us out of the Century Code. 
But then 8 states don't have any statute of limitations. Delaware has no 
statute of limitations for any sexual offense. Wyoming and South Carolina 
have none for any criminal prosecution and states without a statute of 
limitation would not need a DNA exception. So if we took this the way it is you 
wouldn't need to put in a DNA exception because we'd have an unlimited 
length of time to send it. She said that there are more and more people now, 
in the last 10 years, states are recognizing the need to revise their statutes 
and that this was put in for the victims. 

Sen. Luick: Another way to look at this is, right now, currently the statute of 
limitations that we have in place was brought to this point how long ago. Was 
it just recently? 

Ch. Hogue: I don't know how it is. Are you talking about the civil one or the 
criminal one? 

Sen. Luick: The criminal one. 

Sen. Casper: Civil looks the annotations from 20 1 1. 

Sen. Luick: Are we going to solve something by opening this up or are we 
going to create more of a problem with witch hunts and be less beneficial than 
looking at how we make sure that we are looking forward instead. I 
understand there are victims; they're victims in almost aspect of human life, 
whether it's not having enough food to eat, etc. I'm concerned as far as, are 
we looking at something that we cannot fix or are we making the situation 
worse by trying to open it up. 

Ch. Hogue: That's another policy question we should ask. I'm not sensing 
any momentum on this bill. I won't support a bill that has an unlimited or no 
statute of limitations and I think that's where most of the committee is at. If 
somebody wants to bring an amendment tomorrow to lengthen the statute of 
limitations, I think we could look at that on the civil side. I think the bill without 
a statute of limitations is not good policy. 
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Sen. Grabinger: I looked through the information that Rep. Hogan brought, 
looking at the other states and clearly there's a broad spectrum of where these 
states are going. For the most part, I've seen many of them in the 30 year 
range. They just make it a blanket of 30 years. Does anyone have feelings 
towards that? 

Sen. Armstrong: I'll just speak on the criminal because I don't think this bill 
addresses civil. 

Ch. Hogue: Are you talking about the handout. 

Sen. Armstrong: Yes. The DNA exception is interesting to me; essentially I 
am assuming that would work if you are 12 and you are assaulted and don't 
know who the assaulter was but they collected DNA evidence. Those seven 
years would toll, because the seven years would, in that case, attach 
immediately because it's been reported to law enforcement. So if they 
collected DNA, they didn't know who it was and they found that person later, I 
don't know how I couldn't support that, I suppose if it was brought. I think in all 
honesty most of the people, in vast, vast majority of those cases are 
somebody they owe, unfortunately which is sick in and of itself. The other 
matter is whether you do a straight 30 years or anything of that nature. In all 
honesty, that could reduce the statute in ND. They have three years from the 
date of reporting, whenever that is. They could theoretically report 32 years 
later and then you would have three years, if it was a minor and an adult. 
That's something to keep in mind. Our statute is very open ended on the 
criminal side. That's why the DNA exception intrigues me. I don't know how 
many cases that would affect. I would think it is a small number, but that's just 
anecdotal from all the cases I've ever seen. 

Ch. Hogue: I wasn't focused on the DNA part; on the civil side I think our 
outer statute is 10 years. I think once you get out beyond 10 years, the 
primary purpose behind statute of limitations is it is just patently unfair to the 
defendant because the evidence starts to disappear, either through death or 
just can't be found any longer, people's memories fade, they tend to embellish 
the details. It's just not fair to go back so far to bring a claim. I certainly can 
support lengthening this several more years but to go out 30 years, I go back 
to Sen. Luick's comment. Thirty years plus, what are we really doing at this 
point on the civil side. All of our civil cases require you to come forward with 
reasonable diligence for that reason, that's when people's memories are the 
best; when the evidence is the most reliable and to sit back and put it out 
there indefinitely, even beyond 10 years, is just not justice. 
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Sen. Grabinger: Did I hear you suggest a 10 years. 

Ch. Hogue: I wouldn't oppose 10 years if somebody wanted to lengthen this 
time limit. 
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Ch. Hogue: Let's take a look at SB 233 1. 

Sen. Nelson: Explained the amendments (see attached 1A). The .0100 1 
version had the unlimited number of years to bring an action. 

Sen. Casper: It had unlimited timeframe based on the new DNA in version 
. 0 100 1. 

Sen. Nelson: Yes. 

Sen. Armstrong: But it does toll the statute until the person is found. 

Sen. Nelson: Yes. 

Ch. Hogue: Are they bringing a Christmas tree version of this amendment. 

Sen. Nelson: They said they would bring one. 

Sen. Grabinger: I visited with the prime sponsor on this bill for a few minutes 
and he said whatever we decided was best; he didn't understand the civil and 
criminal portion of it. 

Sen. Casper: The 10 year timeframe would be for civil and criminal. 

Ch. Hogue: No, the bill proposes to make it unlimited for civil and criminal 
cases. Currently, under section 2 of the bill, we have murder has no statute of 
limitation and this would add sexual abuse of a minor, so it would be the two 
crimes of murder and sexual abuse. On the civil side, we have 7 years from 
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the time of majority and the bill would make it unlimited, no statute. Sen. 
Nelson, I understand your amendments to say is, on the civil side, it will make 
it 10 years, and what was the other feature of your amendment. 

Sen. Nelson: On page 1, line 1 1  it changes the 7 to 10 years and takes out all 
the overstrike and takes out the new language that was put in with no 
limitation. On page 2, line 1 1, changes 7 to 10 years; then she has a 
sentence that says prosecution may commence within 3 years after suspect is 
conclusively identified by DNA. Then it removes lines 15-20. 

Ch. Hogue: From civil from 7 to 10 years. Is everybody okay with that? 

Sen. Casper: I think it probably gives us the most liberal laws in the country. 

Sen. Nelson: There are some that are unlimited. We'll be in the middle. 

Ch. Hogue: So the first change on the civil from 7 to 10 years sounds like 
everyone is okay with that. 

Sen. Nelson: Section 2 stays the same; Section 3 - changes are made so that 
it commences within 10 years instead of 7 years. It looks like she is deleting 
sections 4 and 5 and putting in subsection 2, under sexual assault of minors. 

Ch. Hogue: Any indication when the amendments will be done. 

Sen. Nelson: They are done, but we don't know where they are. 

Ch. Hogue: We need to see the new amendments. Reconvened at 10:30 am 

Ch. Hogue: Let's take a look at Sen. Nelson's amendments to SB 233 1. 

Sen. Nelson: Explained amendments for SB 233 1 version .0 1002 (see 
attached 2B). It does what we were talking about yesterday when I got the 
message that you didn't like the "no limitations" but you might go for a few 
more years on the number of years they had to bring the action, so I moved it 
up to 10 years in 28-0 1-25. 1. On the Christmas tree bill (see attached 2A) you 
will see what happened there; basically the piece in green is the amendment 
10. Then according to Vonette Richter, Legislative Council, we didn't need 
section 2 and the new section 2 on page 2, we made the same change to 10 
years. A section to that subsection 2, "if, based upon evidence containing 
DNA obtained at the time of offense, a suspect is conclusively identified by 



Senate Judiciary Committee 
S B  2331 
2/1 1 /201 5  
Page 3 

DNA testing after the time period prescribed in subsection 1 has expired, a 
prosecution may be commenced within 3 years after the suspect is 
conclusively identified by the DNA testing". One of her colleagues 
commented that the first time he ever saw DNA written out it was three times 
in the same sentence. Then, of course, we didn't need sections 4 and 5, so 
those are deleted. The bill is shorter than it started out to be. It does give 
them three years. 

Ch. Hogue: I don't know that we're helping the people that testified. Let's say 
a young woman is 25, I could see where she still would not be comfortable 
coming forward, so I think three more years is a reasonable proposal. 

Sen. Armstrong: I move the amendment 15.0851.0 1002. 

Sen. Casper: Second the motion. 

Ch. Hogue: We will take a voice vote. Motion carried. We now have the bill 
before us as amended. 

Sen. Nelson: I move a Do Pass as amended. 

Sen. Casper: Second the motion. 

6 YES 0 N O  0 ABS E NT DO PASS AS AME N DE D  

CARRIER: Sen. Nelson 



15.0851.01002 
Title.02000 
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO SENATE BILL NO. 2331 

Page 1 , line 1 , remove ", 29-04-02," 

Page 1, line 3, remove "; to repeal section 29-04-03.2 of the North" 

Page 1 , remove line 4 

Page 1, line 5, remove "application" 

Page 1, line 10, remove "there is no limitation of the time within which" 

Page 1, line 11, remove the overstrike over "witffifl" 

Page 1, line 11, after "seveA-" insert "ten" 

Page 1, line 11, remove the overstrike over "years after the" 

Page 1, remove the overstrike over line 12 

Page 1, line 13, remove the overstrike over. "alleged childhood sexual abuse" 

Page 1, remove lines 18 through 24 

Page 2, remove lines 1 through 4 

Page 2, after line 7 insert: 

"1.:." 

Page 2, line 8, remove "If the victim was under eighteen years of age at the time the offense 
was committed, there" 

Page 2, line 9, replace "is no limitation of the time within which a" with "Except as provided in 
subsection 2, a" 

Page 2, line 10, remove the overstrike over "if the victim was under eighteen years of age at 
the" 

Page 2, line 11, remove the overstrike over "time the offense was committed" 

Page 2, line 11, remove the overstrike over "in the proper court within" · 

Page 2, line 11, after "seveA-11 insert "ten" 

Page 2, line 11, remove the overstrike over "years" 

Page 2, remove the overstrike over lines 12 and 13 

Page 2, line 14, remove the overstrike over "authorities" 

Page 2, after line 14, insert: 

"2. If. based upon evidence containing deoxyribonucleic acid obtained at the 
time of offense, a suspect is conclusively identified by deoxyribonucleic 
acid testing after the time period prescribed in subsection 1 has expired, a 

Page No. 1 15.0851.01002 



prosecution may be commenced within three years after the suspect is 
conclusively identified by the deoxyribonucleic acid testing." 

Page 2, remove lines 15 through 20 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 2 15.0851.01002 
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REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
SB 2331: Judiciary Committee (Sen. Hogue, Chairman) recommends AMENDMENTS AS 

FOLLOWS and when so amended, recommends DO PASS (6 YEAS, 0 NAYS, 
0 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). SB 2331 was placed on the Sixth order on the 
calendar. 

Page 1, line 1, remove", 29-04-02," 

Page 1, line 3, remove "; to repeal section 29-04-03.2 of the North" 

Page 1, remove line 4 

Page 1, line 5, remove "application" 

Page 1, line 10, remove "there is no limitation of the time within which" 

Page 1, line 11, remove the overstrike over "witRffi" 

Page 1, line 11 , after "se¥eR" insert "ten" 

Page 1, line 11, remove the overstrike over "years after the" 

Page 1, remove the overstrike over line 12 

Page 1, line 13, remove the overstrike over "alleged childhood sexual abuse" 

Page 1, remove lines 18 through 24 

Page 2, remove lines 1 through 4 

Page 2, after line 7 insert: 

Ifill 

Page 2, line 8, remove "If the victim was under eighteen years of age at the time the offense 
was committed, there" 

Page 2, line 9, replace "is no limitation of the time within which a" with "Except as provided in 
subsection 2, a" 

Page 2, line 10, remove the overstrike. over "if the victim was under eighteen years of age at 
tRe" 

Page 2, line 11 , remove the overstrike over "time the offense was committed" 

Page 2, line 11 , remove the overstrike over "in the proper court within" 

Page 2, line 11 , after "se¥eR" insert "ten" 

Page 2, line 11, remove the overstrike over "yeara" 

Page 2, remove the overstrike over lines 12 and 13 

Page 2, line 14, remove the overstrike over "authorities" 

Page 2, after line 14, insert: 

".£. If, based upon evidence containing deoxyribonucleic acid obtained at the 
time of offense, a suspect is conclusively identified by deoxyribonucleic 
acid testing after the time period prescribed in subsection 1 has expired, 
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a prosecution may be commenced within three years after the suspect is 
conclusively identified by the deoxyribonucleic acid testing ." 

Page 2, remove lines 15 through 20 

Renumber accordingly 
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bi l l/resolution : 

Relating to the statute of l im itations on the prosecution of and claim for relief on actions 
al leging chi ld hood sexua l  abuse. 

Min utes : II Testimony # 1 -5 .  

Chairman K .  Koppelman:  opened the hearing on SB 233 1 . 

Senator Terry Wanzek:  District 29: Introd uced S B  233 1 . This bi l l  comes to you at 
aconstituents req uest. You wi l l  hear from one of the constituents today. The way she 
presented it to me it made sense that a ch i ld victim u nder the age of 1 8  wou ld not be able 
to fu l ly understand or reasonably comprehend the severity of the s ituation or the crime of 
chi ld hood sexual abuse. They wou ld most l ikely be u nable to b ring forth a claim unti l  many 
years later. It made sense to me. The bil l  add resses both the criminal  and civil statutes of 
l imitations on the prosecution and claims of relief for al leged claims of ch i ld hood sexual 
abuse. The orig inal  b i l l  as presented el iminated the statute of l imitations in both the civi l 
and criminal  cases. The b i l l  was amended in the Senate and it put the statute back and 
raised the statute from 7 to 1 0  years and also added a clause about D NA if it is ever 
present at the time of the offence ,  the suspect if he or she is conclusively identified by DNA 
that could open the case back up many years later. This is not an area of expertise for me. 
Thankfu lly I g rew up in an environment of loving ,  caring and protective fami ly. So I can 
only imagine the atrocity of being a victim of chi ld hood sexual abuse. I can never 
completely what kind of suffering they have gone through and can only imagine it would be 
terribly horrific. On the other hand I do not want falsely accuse and convict in nocent 
persons of such a heinous crime. In my opin ion that cou ld be a tragedy in itself. There 
may be a sound legal reason why there is a statute of l imitations. I do believe these victims 
deserve to have that d iscussio n .  I recog n ize there are some legal  knowledge on this 
comm ittee and a lot of expertise and I have respect for you and you r  members .  I bel ieve 
this b i l l  wi l l  be heard fai rly and considered in a rational thoug htfu l legal conclusion wi l l  be 
reached in the end.  

Rep. L. Klem i n :  It seems l ike we dealt with th is same section of  statute of  l imitations not 
so long ago do you know when this was previously amended? 



House Judiciary Comm ittee 
SB 2331 
March 1 7, 20 1 5  
Page 2 

Senator Wanzek: I u nderstand it was not too long ago and there was a study. To me it 
seems l ike it is an issue that I have not real ly dealt with before so I went ahead on behalf of 
the constituent i ntrod uced the b i l l .  

Rep. L. Klem i n :  i t  seems l ike i t  wasn't so long ago,  and I remember a lot of people com ing 
in and tel l ing their  personal experiences with chi ld hood sexual abuse. 

Senator Wanzek: I am not certai n  when that was and this is new to me and I haven't seen 
it before and I felt it was worthy of d iscussion.  

Chairman K. Koppelma n :  I t  seems the bi l l  does two things;  one i s  extend the statute of 
l imitations to 1 0  years and a lso in the cu rrent law it says if the victim fai led to report the 
offense within this l imitation period it extends it to three years after the offense was 
reported to law enforcement. It seems the new lang uage on page 2 basically j ust dovetai ls 
with that to i nclude DNA evidence in  that 3 year window. Is  that what you i ntend with the 
bi l l? 

Senator Wa nzek: If  I u nderstand this rig ht whi le visiting with some Senators that were 
lawyers, it dovetai ls it somewhat but this cou ld be 20-30 years later when they bring the 
case back up and through D NA that might have been gathered d u ring an offense by a 
n u rse for instance and if that conclusively identifies the offender, maybe 20 or 30 years 
later. It wou ld almost provide an unl imited statute of l imitations.  It would open it up again 
and there wou ld be 3 more years from identifying that individual and bringing a cla im.  

Chairman K. Koppelman:  So i t  is  3 years after reporting i n  the current law and th is  would 
say 3 years after the i nd ivid ual  is identified by DNA.  

Senator Wa nzek: There mig ht have been DNA gathered but they d idn 't conclusively 
identify the i nd ivid ual  and maybe with new technology they could now identify them now. It 
could be 20 -30 years down the road . That al lows the case to be opened up agai n .  Then 
they have 3 years from that point in  time to do something about it. 

Rep. Kathy Hogan :  District 21 : (See Testimony # 1 ) .  In support of SB 2331 . (8 :00-1 1 : 50). 

Rep. P.  Anderson :  When you talk about this happened many yea rs after the incident, 
when and how do they d isclose? 

Rep. Hogan : The d isclosure process real ly happens in lots of d ifferent ways. Sometimes 
it is a fami ly talk ing to each other and a sister d isclosed to her you nger sister and the 
d iscovered that they were both sexual ly abused and they thoug ht they were protecti ng 
each other from the perpetrator. As they talked they became concerned that one of their 
n ieces had addition problems. They fou nd she was also abused by the same perpetrator. 
There are some interesting s ituations.  Often times you find s imi lar victims in therapy 
g roups and they wi l l  have three people describe the same pattern and find they have had 
the same perpetrator and at which point you have a pattern and you have a r isk to society 
and to chi ldren.  Examples of victims in a community. The d iscoveries were al l  beyond 1 0  
years and that is the issue. Typically most victims of sexual abuse don't want prosecution 
but some do and there is no legal  option for them now. That is what this bil l  is about. 
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Rep. P. Anderson:  Sometimes you read articles or someone says I was abused and 
another say I was too and then another I was too. The first time somebody says I was 
abused by that particular person and they al l  say me too .  

Rep Hoga n :  That is exactly what happens a n d  then the issue i s ,  the victims may want 
some action and the second issue is to protect in my first fam i ly s ituation because they 
were concerned because that person was sti l l  a l ive and i nstantaneously those women 
became q uite good mother hens and they were going to assure that person had no access 
to chi ldren.  Particularly g i rls and they put a notice out saying everybody watch out th is is a 
danger. There are some protection issues here and some justice issues here and it is a 
very complicated issue. That is why I think this is a good b i l l .  

Rep. L.  Klem i n :  In  Section 2 ,  subsection 2 ,  l ine 3 i t  says "after the time period has 
expired" ; there are two time periods in subsection one so that raises the question is that 
the 1 0  year period or the 3 year period or should that be p lural  on page 2 .  

Rep. Hogan:  I don't know the answer to that. I t  probably should b e  both. I think the DNA 
evidence is an issue because in most of the examples I am aware of finding DNA evidence 
from actual abuse that happened th irty years ago is going to be very hard to do.  I don't 
know of any specific situation where it might be a usable tool .  

Rep. G .  Paur: D o  you have a n y  idea for the reason for putting on a statute of l im itations? 

Rep. Hog a n :  I have the sense from the prior d iscussion with Rep resentative Klem in , 
because it is hard to go back and prove things from 20 years ago. That is the concern and 
the perpetrators rights to adequate legal defense. The things without statute of l imitations 
tend to be m u rder. That is the concern if it is harder to prove the longer you go.  

Rep. L. Klem i n :  We have two d ifferent situations,  one is a criminal  and one is civil statute 
of l im itations.  

Betty Jo Krenz: Resident of Woodworth , North Dakota : (See Testimony #2) .  I n  support 
of SB 233 1 . ( 1 8 : 04- 26 : 34) .  

Rep. Brandenburg :  To speak about this b i l l  that has a lot of mean i ng to me because my 
wife is a victim of chi ld abuse and she is here to testify and I will let her do that and I wi l l  
close with some comments. 

Mrs.  Lovice Brandenburg :  in su pport of SB 233 1 . What you will hear about me today is 
how chi ld sex abuse, incest and rape changes who we are as a person because a ch i ld has 
no voice. As an ad u lt I want to g ive a chi ld a voice when he or  she can't speak for 
themselves because of threats such as your  mom and dad wi l l  d ie ,  you r  dog wi l l  be ki l led 
and what it will be is all your  fau lt. Your  s isters wi l l  be taken away and it· is going to all be 
because of me . By S B  2331 removing the statute of l imitations for sex abuse against 
chi ldren is g iving them a voice when they feel strong enough to handle their  abuser in a 
court of law. People have stated that chi ldren are resi l ient and they wi l l  get over it and are 
told to let it go and forget about it. That l ife is too short to dwel l  on the past. Incest is a 
horrible act of pai n .  The chi ld's sense of security is stripped by someone who is supposed 
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to love you ,  protect and g u ide you in  the rig ht d i rection as a fami ly member. They strip you 
of their very existence of feel ing safe in a fami ly u nit. I was stripped of my innocence ,  my 
self-worth and that puts a h uge burden on what I d id .  What did I do wrong? To make this 
fami ly hurt me in such a horrible way. Then to be told by your  own mother it is a l l  my fau lt. 
I was a child at the age of 6 to 1 7  that I was noth ing but a d isg race to the fam i ly name and 
that I was never wanted and that I should have never been bornmbecause I should have 
been a boy. That is a l l  daddy ever wanted . I was referred to as a s lut a whore ,  tramp, 
stupid , ugly,  and fat. I was broke n .  This shell  of a h uman being is th rown out in the world 
to fend for herself and now I had a chi ld , a son of my own to take care of and is going to be 
raised by a mother that is so damaged herself that the baby no doubt is going to be ra ised 
with heartbreak and dysfu nction.  But very loved or at least I think I am giving h im the rig ht 
kind of love. After a l l  the mother knows of love is unbearable pa i n .  To me a mom is rage,  
confusion, depression , worth lessness , eating d isorder, su icidal thoughts , d rug abuse dai ly 
j ust to cope . PTS D,  crippl ing anxiety attacks, n ightmares and never feel ing safe ever, 
when you go i nto a room you always look for the exits and you can't comprehend even the 
simplest things.  There is no reasoning with me, it is either b lack or white , there is never 
gray with me, OCD and what is love it is abuse physica l ,  emotiona l ,  verbal and bad 
relationships one after another, short attention spans and feel i ng like you never fit i n .  
There i s  n o  trust you have abandonment issues and toxic awareness of exits . You never 
park by two veh icles. The triggers for me are alcohol on the breath ,  spit, tree g roves , 
g rease, sweat, the dark ,  g rain bins,  and gravel beds.  I n  closing I wa nt to tell you I am a 
victim of incest but I am a survivor and I wil l  never get over it, but I am getting past it by the 
grace of God and my wonderfu l husband and an awesome therapist. Who has g iven me 
tools of how to deal with this and I ask the SB 2331 to pass and make North Dakota the 
1 21h in the nation for removi ng the statute of l im itations for sex crimes agai nst chi ldren.  

Rep. Branden burg :  in  support of SB 2331 . I have many people back home because 
Lovice has come out and ta lked about the situation and they say how do you know it is 
true? How do you make up a n ightmare ,  she has n ightmares. I am there and we deal with 
it. It is hard deal ing with th is b i l l  because cu rrently you only have seven years to go after a 
person that offended you .  When you start with a civi l  offense it becomes costly and not 
every can afford to do that and not everybody can deal with it at that young age. My wife is 
in cou nsel ing with a wonderful counselor and that is why she is able today to come here 
and share with you .  The reason she shared with you is because of the chi ld re n .  We have 
chi ldren and grandkids,  a lso the concern was in the Senate. They added to the l im itations 
of 7 years and it went to 1 0  years and they did add the D NA. I th ink  that is a real ly good 
part of this b i l l .  We don't want to overreact but we do want to react in a manner that we 
take care of the people that offend . When it comes to people that are offended , either the 
fami ly comes forward and they have remorse and they are sorry or else you have nothing 
to do with the fami ly and that is where my wife is at. I urge the comm ittee to support what 
the Senate did with their actions and if you ca n work something better I would encourage 
that but that is up to this committee. 

Rep. D. Larson : Did the bi l l  have no statute of l im itations before the Senate got it? 

Rep. Branden burg :  It was extended to seven years after a person has been victimized . 
The Senate added 3 years to that they went from 7 to 1 0  years .  I wou ld l ike to remove the 
statute of l imitations. They should be prosecuted instead of run n ing around free right now. 
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The good part they d id is to add in the DNA, which someone can have done something 20-
30 years ago and you got them if you have the DNA. I think this bil l  does a lot. 

Rep. L. Klem i n :  In the Senate hearing was there any d iscussion about people fi l ing claims 
against someone's estate based on chi ld hood sexual abuse after the person who was 
al leged to have comm itted the act has d ied? 

Rep. Brandenburg :  No,  that d id not happen.  

Rep. G .  Pau r: Representative Hogan professional ly in  your  opin ion,  after 30 years and 
there is a conviction there is probably some feel ings revenge and of justification is there 
psycholog ical heal ing that takes p lace by being able to fol low that path? 

Rep. Hoga n :  The therapeutic term we use is get trying to get closu re ,  you never get over it 
you never get past it but you can work through it and at times confronting the victim and 
have some resolution of that brings some calm and peace . Many victims won't want to do 
that but for some victims it  helps. That why this movement is i n  place to help find some 
peace for the victim .  

Heather Simoni c h :  Coordi nator, Treatment Collobrative for Tra u matized Youth , The 
Neuropsychiatric I nstitute, Fargo, ND: Went through the handouts. In support of SB 
233 1 . (Handout #3) .  (50: 50-1 : 00 : 06) 

Cha irman K. Koppel man :  We have bi l l  on the topic of human trafficki ng.  Do you th ink 
people who have been victimized in  human trafficking have a g reater propensity to fal l  into 
victimization in  that realm? 

Heather Simon ich:  Yes,  about 1 /3 of chi ldhood sexual abuse victims are at  risk of again 
being victimized i n  a d ifferent form and about 1 /3 at risk in  reoffending themselves. I can't 
speak specifica l ly to human trafficking though.  

Chairman K. Koppelman : Reoffending themselves in term of becoming a perpetrator? 

Heather Simonich : An offender, yes.  

Rep. Lois Del more:  I n  the N D  study what were the n umbers you used ? 

Heather Simon i c h :  There were 25 women i n  each of those g roups s o  i t  was a total of 
1 00 .  

Brenda F rost: North Dakota resident: speaking for Theresa Semmens:  one of the bi l ls 
p rimary advocates. (See Testimony #4) ( 1 : 00: 1 0-1 : 1 3 : 1 7) I would l ike to add it is very 
d ifficult to com prehend a four  year old having seven years to bring some type of justice for 
the crime. When you are deal ing with adolescence even teenagers do they even know 
what jud icial processes are and hopefu lly they don't know. It  is very d ifficu lt to broach the 
subject with your  parents m uch less to tel l  a officer, lawyer, or a representative. It is very 
d ifficult to not b lock that out. In my own case it was when I was four  years old . It 
man ifested itself when I was 45. It is d ifficu lt to understand it and u nfortunately there are 
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way too many people that are having to deal with situations of this matter. There are 
usual ly 20 victims to one perpetrator and u nfortu nately a third of those who have been a 
victim become a perpetrator. It is not a comfortable situation for anyone to deal with b ut 
statute of l imitations can be a h indrance to the heal ing process . 

Jonathan Byers, Attorney General 's office: in support of S B  233 1 . The Attorney does 
want to lend h is support to the b i l l .  Representative Brandenberg talked about the 
importance of the D NA provision . We talk about sex crimes we think that comes from a 
semen sample and that is not always the case. It can come from other places other than 
semen such as u nder fingernai ls .  C ited the case of M i ndy Morgenstern . The state med ical 
examiner sent her fi ngernai ls to the crime lab and profiled it and when it was put into the 
data base it matched an unsolved rape that had occurred in Fargo some 4 years before 
that. They did final ly identify the perpetrator was charged and convicted . The campus 
rapist in  the G rand Forks area was also identified by sal iva and not by semen samples. 
This DNA portion is very important. 

Chairman K. Koppelman:  Looking back who are now ta lking about abuse years before 
was there a practice of gathering evidence l ike you are talking about back the n ,  is there a 
any hope that it would help for old , the old crimes that we hear about? 

Jonathan Byers: The modern criminal  code was actual ly passed in 1 973,  and it wasn't 
u nti l  in Great Brita in in  1 989 that the very first person was identified for a rape case by h is  
DNA.  We are playing catch up now making sure we are doing th ings so that i t  wi l l  use the 
technology even if it is many years later. 

Rep. K. Wal lman:  Was the Attorney General in support of this b i l l  before it was amended 
to 1 0  years rather than j ust removing the statute of l imitations on this offense? 

Jonathan Byers : I am not exactly sure what happened on the Senate side. I did talk to 
the Attorney General  today and he said we wanted to be su pportive now. 

Rep. K. Wal l ma n :  Could we find out the AG feels about the orig inal  b i l l?  

Jonathan Byers: I would be g lad to find out. 

Rep. L. Klem i n :  On the new subsection deal ing with DNA evidence,  trying to interface that 
with subsection 1 which this references . We have two time periods in  su bsection 1 ,  7 years 
after the comm ission of the offense or 3 years after the offense was reported . When we 
take su bsection 2 which tacks on an indefin ite period wh ich starts the three year it sounds 
l ike. This seems to me to be the functional equ ivalent of no statute of l im itations except for 
this case where we have DNA evidence. It could have been many, many years later, we 
don't know how far in the future we are going but we have al l  the DNA stored in the data 
bases. Isn't the effect of this where we have DNA avai lable extend that statute of 
l im itations practical ly indefin itely. 

Jonathan Byers : I th ink in effect it may have that impact but what was happen ing in  
some cases before provisions such as th is was they would actual ly do the profi l ing and fi le 
a criminal  charge against somebod ies DNA code which in  effect would g ive you forever for 
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that person to be identified j ust l ike th is does. So I don't th ink  the end effect is going to be 
anyth ing d ifferent than criminal ly charging somebod ies DNA code and because of the fact it 
relates to a positive D NA sample. As I ind icated I th ink  the fear of a false accusation is 
m uch less when you consider the fact that there is DNA there .  

Rep. L .  Klem i n :  The term concl usively identified i s  probably subject to debate too? 

Jonathan Byers : It is certain ly not a term we normal ly work with in  the crim inal realm . 
When you are deal ing with and ad u lt victim ,  which this does not as I u nderstand this relates 
to ch i ld sexual abuse victims, with an adult victim there wou ld sti l l  be q uestion if there is a 
sample, whether it was a consensual case or not. Here we are talking about a DNA with a 
m i nor victim and I can't envision where that is going to relate to a false report. 

Rep. L. Klem i n :  I don't know what the orig inal version of th is b i l l  said with respect to 
e l iminating the statute of l im itations but I was th inking it was only the civi l side. On the 
criminal  side a report can be filed and you have 3 years to prosecute. That can be many, 
many years after the offense was comm itted and there had been no previous report filed . 
Then we have this DNA section added on here and that adds another twist to it. It seems 
l ike on the criminal  side we practically have no statute of l im itations now. 

Cha irman K. Koppel man:  Just for the members of the comm ittee, we are going to get 
copies of the orig inal  bi l l  and the amend ments so we have that as we consider. 

Jonatha n  Byers : I do have the mark up version of the orig inal  b i l l  and it was primarily for 
the criminal  provision it was essentia l ly removing it entirely. There was some fear about 
the false report thing and because of that rather than el iminate it entirely they tagged on 
this DNA provision which at least wou ld i nd icate for many cases it wou ld not be a false 
report. 

Chairman K. Koppelman:  Essential ly this add ition to the bi l l  is sort of a safeg uard to say 
that fear of a false identification should be mitigated by the idea that they are only going to 
extend this for virtual ly an u n l imited time if there is DNA evidence which is virtual ly 
impossible to have a false report is what I am hearing you say. 

Jonathan Byers :  Especially for m inor victims, what we are deal ing with are minor victims 
here so that is a safe guard for the circumstances this bil l  deals with . 

Chairman K. Koppel man :  It appears with the three year window after positive 
identification is just a wi ndow of time for prosecutors sayi ng you need to move on this in  
three years ,  rig ht? 

Jonathan Byers :  Yes. 

Chairman K. Koppelman : As you read this does th is say that the report of the DNA must 
be conclusively identified or that the ind ividual to whom the DNA belongs must be 
conclusively identified ? 

Jonathan Byers : The suspect has to be conclusively identified . 
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Chairman K. Koppelman:  Linking i t  to a human person? 

Jonathan Byers : Yes , I think that would be the correct read ing of that. 

Rep. G. Pa ur: H ow long do you keep evidence and you can get DNA samples off that. 
How long have we had DNA profi les on past crimes? 

Jonathan Byers: The earliest it was done is 1 989 and it began to happen here in the 90's. 
It is very accurate and they l ike to profile it and keep it in  a data base and then al l  you have 
to keep is the profi le. 

Rep. G .  Paur: If somebody was charged now how far back could you go to com pare 
profi les? 

Jonathan Byers : If there was a profi le done in  1 993 or something there could sti l l  be 
something done. 

Rep. K. Wal l ma n : I feel l ike we are being asked to look at the benefit of taking away the 
statute of l imitations ,  the benefits for victims if we do that which is very compel l ing to me 
but on the other hand it was amended because there was the fear of fa lse accusations.  
Can you say what percentage of rape acq uis itions of chi ldren are actual ly proven false? 

Jonathan Byers: The stud ies wou ld say it is around 3% turn out to be fa lse. Many times it 
is a non-offending parent whose accusations are false when the kid maybe has never said 
anything or it was misunderstood . That 3% when you are actual ly looki ng at the chi ld's 
report is even smal ler than 3%.  Some of the fa lse reports get big med ia coverage but we 
need to remember that it is false only very rarely. 

Rep. Branden burg :  There is a d isconnect when this happens to when you are a youth 
and you get to be 45 or 50 years and you have to prove to the courts that this actually 
happened . It is very hard to do.  There is no clear path to be able to convi nce the cou rts 
that they wil l  hear you r  case and if there is an area that needs to be worked i n ,  that is it. 
That is the issue of the day is we can do al l  the extending that we want but if you don't have 
a clear path for proving to the courts that they wil l  actual ly hear the case you haven't 
accompl ished anything.  

Chairman K. Koppel man:  The standard in criminal cases is beyond a reasonable doubt 
wh ich is a very h igh standard to prove and DNA can accomplish that but in  a civi l case it is 
typically a preponderance of the evidence. 

Rep. L. Klem i n :  The issue a lot of times is repressed memory or are you just saying that? 

Rep. Bra ndenburg :  It is a fai r  statement because some people do forget and some 
thi ngs do get clouded . That is the issue is trying to convince the cou rt ,  those are the 
questions that are going to be asked and usually they go wel l  I g ive u p .  
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Betty Jo Krenz: Advocate for Women or Chi ldren of Sexual Abuse : One thing that is 
very common if you look at the t ime i n  your l ife you wil l  see a lot of s imi larities. It is not 
that you can wal k  u p  to an attorney and say this h appened to me,  can you prove it. I have 
been d iagnosed bi-polar, border l ine personality, borderline depressed , I tried to ki l l  myself 
6 times and I h ave had 3 fai led relationships and I have g iven up a chi ld for adoption.  I am 
not making that u p ,  that is my l ife. When I turned 32 years old I fina l ly came into my fam i ly 
that I can sit d own at the supper table and I look around and I th ink this is weird . When you 
tal k  to other victims they wil l  have a parallel l ife. You wil l  see throughout their l ife broken 
periods at a lmost the same time in their l ife. That is nothing that you can just make up ,  you 
j ust can't do it. 

Chai rman K. Kop pelman:  Any other testimony in s upport of SB 2 33 1 ?  Any testimony i n  
opposition to SB 233 1 ? Any testimony neutral to SB 233 1 ?  Seeing none. Closed the 
hearing on SB 2 33 1 . 

Rep. L. Klem i n :  2 9-04-03.2.  Statute of l imitations as to child victim. (See Testimony # 5). 
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Chairman K. Koppelman:  Reopened the meeting on S B233 1 . 

Rep. P. Anderson : I n stead of the ten years I wou ld l ike forty. There is sti l l  the burden of 
proof. I don't' th ink  ten years is where it should be. There is noth ing worse murder first; 
then raping chi ldren.  

Rep. P. Anderson moved to amend the ten year statute of laminations to twenty: 
Seconded by Rep. K. Wal lman.  

Rep.  L. Klem i n :  I am going to  resist that motion . It was two sessions ago that we changed 
it from three to seve n ;  and this b i l l  changes it from seven to ten . We have another section 
of law that says that if the victim is u nder the age of 1 5  this statute of l im itatio n ,  if any, does 
not beg in to ru n u nt i l  the victim reaches the age of 1 5  so th is would g ive a victim u nder the 
age of 1 5  u nti l  at least 25 on this to bring a claim for relief after he knew or reasonably 
should have known . They go on to talk about ch i ld hood sexual abuse which wou ld have 
been a violation committed when the plaintive was u nder 1 8  which would have been a 
vio lation .  We have a statute of l imitations that is a lready up to age 2 5 .  Now we are getting 
into a situation where claims become pretty stale and witnesses d ie and a claim cou ld be 
brought against a deceased estate. There has to be a reasonable period of time where the 
l im itation period ru ns out. I th i n k  ten years is more than sufficient. 

Rep. P. Anderson :  There is an u n l imited statue for m u rder so I th ink there are scenario 
petrifies out there and if we can get rid of them and put them in ja i l .  There is sti l l  that 
burden of proof. 

Rep. K. Wallman :  There is sti l l  a process for decid ing whether it cou ld go to cou rt or not 
based on how m uch evidence there is.  The fu rther you go away from the incident the less 
l ikely you cou ld p rove a crime was comm itted. It has the weeding out effect. I read that 
very often in case of women who are victims of sexual abuse a lot of times having their own 
chi ldren wi l l  g ive them reason that I don't want that to happen to my own chi ld ; that they wi l l  
fol low through with crim inal  p roceed i ngs.  Maybe it is not the case with civil issues. I th ink 
having up to 35 is not such a bad thing now. I don't want th is b i l l  to go down because other 
people th ink that is too b ig of a leap. 
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Rep. K. H awke n :  Every case is d ifferent. This top ic was not even talked about before. 
There are lots of people who rep ress this memory because it is so horrific. The number of 
years does make a d ifference.  I th ink th is crime is worse than m u rder. 

Rep. Mary Johnson : There is virtual ly an u n limited period of time here .  Then you add the 
DNA that is u n l imited .  

Rep. L. Klemi n :  I am assum ing you intend to change that ten to twenty i n  both cases on 
the b i l l .  In  the civi l one I agree with Rep. Johnson so that is covered there. Then on the 
second section that ten year period is one period in there but there is another period in 
there then it is with i n  three years of when the offense was reported . Then final ly we have 
the D NA which is a new part that could give the p rosecution three years after that date. 

Rep. P. Anderson : Don't you th ink sometimes people haven't repressed it or said anything 
and al l  of a sudden someone says that happened too me and then you remember. 

Rep. L. Klem i n :  The p u rpose of the statute of l imitations is you can't sleep on you r  rights. 
There are cases where you have a memory of something that d idn 't happen .  To make a 
claim against the chu rch long after the defender has d ied so that is j ust not right either. 
There has to be a time l imit here .  

Rep. K .  Wallman : There a re 1 2  other states that have done away with this statute of 
l imitations. States have done away with this because they cou ld n't or weren 't brave 
enough or far along enough i n  their recovery p rocess to come confront the perpetrator. 
What is wrong with doing away with the statute of l imitations if it doesn't actually i ncreased 
false reporting? 

Chairman K. Koppelman:  Is  that the criminal statute; the states you are referring to? 

Rep. K. Wal lman : I don't have the b reakdown with criminal  versus civi l .  

Rep. Kretschmar: The law over the years have put i n  statutes of l imitations before ;  but to 
i ncrease it because of the loose of evidence maybe those cases can never be b rought on 
the criminal  side. I wou ld vote not on the proposed motion to amendment. 

C hairman K. Koppelman:  Someone talked about these statutes when a perpetrator 
leaves the state and then they come back. Does it apply in these cases? 

Rep. L. Klem i n :  Yes that was M r. Byer's testimony. 

Rep. G .  Paur: I oppose the amendment. 

Rep . Brabandt: I also oppose the amendment. 

Chai rman K. Koppelman :  So the p roposed amendment was to change the 1 0  to 20 on 
l ines 9 and 22 of the b i l l ;  which would double the statute of laminations both in the civil and 
criminal  real m .  
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Voice vote failed . 

Tabled further action.  
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Chairman K. Koppelman:  Reopened the meeting on SB 233 1 . It is fine for us to go 
forward on this b i l l .  

D o  Pass Motion Made b y  Rep. G .  Paur; Seconded b y  Rep. Lois Delmore 

Discussion : 

Chairman K. Koppelman:  Last session we had some bi l ls that wou ld have shortened the 
statute of l im itation on civi l .  

Rol l  C a l l  Vote: 1 0  Yes 0 No 3 Absent Carrier: Rep. Ka rls : 
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G ood morn ing C h a i r m a n  H ogue a nd members of the Se nate J u d icia ry Co m m ittee.  My n a me is 

Te rry Wa nzek, State Senator fo r District 29 a n d pr ime sponsor of SB 233 1 .  Th is b i l l  co mes 

before you a s  a res u lt of a constitue nt's req u est. You wi l l  hea r fro m that co n stitue nt tod ay. As 

she prese nted h e r  case to me it made sense that a c h i l d  vict im u nd e r  the age of 18 wou ld n ot 

be a b le to fu l ly u n d e rsta nd o r  com p re h e n d  the seve rity of the s ituation o r  the cri me of 

c h i ld hood sexu a l  a b u se a nd wou ld most l i kely be u na b le to bri ng fo rth a c la i m  u nt i l  m a ny yea rs 

late r.  

The bi l l  a d d resses both the cri m i n a l  and civi l statute of l i m itations o n  the p rosecution a n d  

cla i m s  of re l ief fo r a l leged c h i l d hood sex u a l  a buse.  I t  e l i m i n ates t h e  statute of l i m itat ions i n  

both civi l a nd cri m i n a l  cases.  

M r. C h a i r m a n  and Senate J u d ici a ry mem be rs, to be fra n k  with you, a n d  it may a ppea r to be 

o bvious,  th is  is  not an a rea of expertise fo r me. Th a n kfu l ly, I grew u p  in a n  enviro n ment of 

v ing a n d  ca r ing a nd p rotective pa re nts a nd fa m i ly. So I ca n o n ly i m agine the atrocity of bei ng 

a vict i m  of c h i l d h ood sex u a l  a b use.  I ca n never cla i m  to com p letely u nd e rsta nd what k ind of 

suffer i ng they have go ne t h rough,  a nd aga i n  ca n o n ly i m agine it wou ld be te rri bly horrific .  

O n  the oth e r  h a nd,  I d o  not wish to fa lsely accuse a nd convict a ny i n nocent person of such a 

h e i n o u s  cri m e .  This  cou ld be a tragedy i n  itself too. There may be s o u n d  rati o n a l  lega l reason 

why the re is  a statute of l i m itations, I am not s u re, but I bel ieve these vict i m s  deserved th is  

cha n ce to h ave th is  d iscuss ion .  Thus the b i l l  befo re you .  

M r. C h a i r m a n  a nd fe l low Senators, I recogn ize the lega l knowledge, exper ience a n d  expertise 

of t h i s  co m m ittee a nd h ave respect for you a nd you r  m e m be rs .  And in s i n ce rity, I be l ieve th is  

b i l l  w i l l  be fa i r ly hea rd and co nsid ered a nd a rationa l, thoughtfu l lega l concl u sion w i l l  be 

reached . 

Tha n k  you M r. C h a i r m a n  a nd J ud icia ry Com m ittee m e m be rs, a nd I w i l l  try to a n swer a ny 

q u esti o n s  you may have.  
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By Kathy Hogan, Rep. District 21 

Chairman Hogue and members of the Senate Judiciary Com mittee, for the 

record, my name is Kathy Hogan.  I represent District 21 wh ich is the heart of 

Fargo. 

Senate Bi l l  2331 is a bi l l  that would cha nge the statute of l imitation and claims 

of rel ief on actions a l leging child sexual abuse. This bil l  was introd uced on 

behalf of a group of victims of child sexual abuse. Over the last 20 yea rs, our 

society has become m uch more aware of both the frequency of chi ld sexua l  

a buse a n d  t h e  sign ificant l ifelong impacts of these tragic situations. You wil l  be 

hearing both personal stories and expert testimony on this critical issue. 

Over the last 10 yea rs, states are recognizing the need to revise their statutes. 

I am attaching for you r  i nformation, a 2013 comparison study of various state 

statutes. 

Than k  you for you r  consideration. I u rge your support of this b i l l .  I would be 

more than wil l ing to answer a ny q uestions. 
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Statutes of Limitations for Sexual Assault 

Current as of8/21/2013 

This chart summarizes the applicable state statutes of limitations for the prosecution of various sexual assault crimes. The chart also 
highlights states that have a DNA exception to the statute of limitations. Though the specifics vary from state to state, a DNA exception allows for 
the tolling of a statute of limitations in cases where a perpetrator is later identified through DNA evidence. As of the date of this chart, 27 states have 
some form ofa DNA exception that extends the time limit for prosecuting the offense. 

Additionally, 8 states do not have any statute oflimitations for prosecuting felony sexual assault. Of these states, Delaware has no statute of 
limitations for any sexual offense; Wyoming and South Carolina have no statute of limitations for any criminal prosecution. States without a statute 
of limitations would not need a DNA exception. 

Prepared by: 
Brittany Ericksen, Staff Attorney 

Ilse Knecht, Project Manager, Deputy Director Public Policy 

THE NATIONAL CENTER FDR 

Victims or Crime 

copyright laws apply to the proper use and crediting of these materials. This chart is supported by Grant No. 2011-T A-AX-K048 awarded by the Office on Violence Against 

omen, U.S. Department of Justice. The opinions, findings, conclusions, and recommendations expressed in these materials are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily 

reflect the views of the Department of Justice, Office on Violence Against Women. 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

' $ta~ 

§ 15-3-1, 15-3-2, 15-3-5 

Alaska 
Alaska Stat.§ 12.10.010 

Arizona 
Ariz. Rev. Stat.§ 13-107 

Rape; Sexual abuse with 
violence or threat of 
violence; Sexual offense 
victim under 16 

Felon sexual abuse 
Misdemeanor sexual 
abuse 

Sexual assault; Sexual 
abuse a ainst a minor 
Sexual offense against an 
unaware, incapacitated, or 
mentall inca able victim 
Other sexual offenses 

Violent sexual offenses; 
Sexual assault; Sexual 
conduct with a minor 
(under 15 or perpetrated 
b famil I uardian 

None 

3 ears 
I year 

None 

IO years 

5 years 

None 

./ (E) The period of limitation does not run for a serious offense as 
defined in section 13-706 during any time when the identity of the 
person who commits the offense or offenses is unknown. 

1 Most states have provisions tolling the period of limitations if the accused purposely avoids prosecution or does not reside within the state. 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 
Sexual conduct with a 7 years 

California 

minor, age 15-18; Sexual 
abuse 

Sexual offenses against a 
minor 
Rae 
Sexual assault 

Cal. Penal Code§§ 799, 800, 801, 803 

Colorado 
olo. Rev. Stat. § 16-5-401 

Sexual offenses against a 
minor 
Rape 

Before victim 
turns 28 
6 ears 
3 ears 

Before victim 
turns 28 
10 years 

./ (i) If there is biological evidence connecting a person with the 
commission of an offense and that person's identity is unknown, the 
prosecution is commenced if an indictment or information is filed 
against the unknown person and the indictment contains the genetic 
information ·of the unknown person and the genetic information is 
accepted to be likely to be applicable only to the unknown person. 
G) When DNA testing implicates a person previously identified 
through a search of state or national DNA database, a statute of 
limitations shall not reclude roseclition. 

./ A criminal complaint may be filed within one year of the date on 
which the identity of the suspect is conclusively established by 
DNA testing, if both of the following conditions are met: 

(A) The crime is .one that is described in subdivision (c) of Section 
290. 

(B) The offense was committed prior to January I, 200 I, and 
biological evidence collected in connection with the offense is 
analyzed for DNA type no later than January 1, 2004, or the offense 
was committed on or after January 1, 2001; and biological evidence 
collected in connection with the offense is analyzed for DNA type no 
later than two ears from the date of the offense. 

./ (a.5) ·Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (a) of subsection (1) 
of this sectio.n concerning sex offenses against children, in any case 
in which the identity of the defendant is determined, in whole or in 

art, b atterned chemical structure of enetic information, and in 

2 "After actual discovery by the state or political subdivision having jurisdiction of the offense or discovery by the state or the political subdivision that should have occurred with 
the exercise of reasonable diligence, whichever first occurs." 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

Connecticut 
Conn. Gen. Stat. § 54-193 

Sexual offense against 
children under 15 
Sexual assault 

Sex assault of a minor 
under 16 and with force 
Other sexual assault of a 
minor if no force 

None 

10 ears 

None 

30 years after 
victim attains 
the age of 
majority, or 
within five 
years after 
report to 
authorities, 
whichever is 

which the offense has been reported to a law enforcement agency, as 
defined in section 26-1-114 (3) (a) (Ill) (B), C.R.S., within ten years 
after the commission of the offense, there shall be no limit on the 
period of time during which a person may be prosecuted after 
the commission of the offense as to any offense charged : 
(I) Under section 18-3-402, C.R.S. [sexual assault], or section 18-3-
403, C.R.S.[sexual assault (2"d degree)], as said section existed prior 
to July I, 2000; or 
(II) As criminal attempt, conspiracy, or solicitation to commit any of 
the offenses specified in subparagraph (I) of this paragraph (a.5). 

v' [T]here shall be no limitation of time within which a person may be 
prosecuted for a violation of section 53a-70 [sexual assault (!st 
degree)], 53a-70a [aggravated sexual assault (!st degree)], 53a-70b 
[sexual assault in a spousal or cohabitative relationship], 53a-71 
[sexual assault (2nd degree)], 53a-72a [sexual assault (3rd degree)], or 
53a-72b [sexual assault (3rd degree) with a firearm], provided (1) the 
victim notified any police officer or state's attorney acting in such 
police officer's or state's attorney's official capacity of the commission 
of the offense not later than five years after the commission of the 
offense, and (2) the identity of the person who allegedly committed the 
offense has been established through a DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) 
profile comparison using evidence collected at the time of the 
commission of the offense. 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

Delaware 
0

• Code Ann. tit. 11, § 205 

District of Columbia 
D.C. Code§ 23-113 

Florida 
Fla. Stat.§ 775.15 

Sexual assault 

Sexual offenses 

Sexual abuse against a 
minor 
Sexual abuse 

earlier' 
5 years 

None• 

15 years after 
victim turns 21 
15 years' 

./ (i) If the limitation period has expired, a prosecution for any offense 
"in this title may be commenced within 10 years after it is committed 
if based upon forensic DNA testing. • : _ , · · · · · 

./ (15) (a) In addition to the time periods prescribed in this section, a 
prosecution for any of the following offenses may be commenced 
within I year after the date on which the identity of the accused is 
established, or should have been established by the exercise of due 
diligence, through the analysis of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) 
evidence, if a sufficient portion of the evidence collected at the time of 
the original investigation and tested for DNA is preserved and available 
for testing by the accused: 

I. An offense of sexual battery under chapter 794. 
2. A lewd or lascivious offense under s. 800.04 ors. 825.1025. 

(b) This subsection applies to any offense that is not otherwise barred 
from prosecution between July I, 2004, and June 30, 2006. 
(16) (a) In addition to the time periods prescribed in this section, a 
prosecution for any of the following offenses may be commenced at 
any time after the date on which the identity of the accused is 
established, or should have been established by the exercise of due 
diligence, through the analysis of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) 
evidence, if a sufficient portion of the evidence collected at the time of 
the original investigation and tested for DNA is preserved and available 
for testin_g by the accused: 

ided that ifthe prosecution is for 2nd degree sexual assault and victim is 13 or older but under 16 and offender is more than 3 years older, the victim notified such police 
r or state's attorney not later than five years after the commission of the offense. 

o long as prosecution is not based solely on the victim's memory, if recovered through psychotherapy without independent evidence. 
s The period oflimitation shall not begin to run for 1 •degree sexual abuse of a ward (D.C. Code§ 22-3013) or 2nd degree sexual abuse of a ward (D.C. Code§ 22-3014) until the 
victim is no longer a ward. The period of limitation shall not begin to run for I st sexual abuse ofa patient or client (D.C. Code§ 22-3015) or 2nd degree sexual abuse ofa patient or 
client (D.C. Code§ 22-3016) until the victim is no longer a patient or client of the actor. 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

Georgia 
Ga. Code§§ 17-3-1, 17-3-
2.1 

Sexual battery, if victim 
under 18 ears 
Sexual battery with 
threat/force 
Other sexual batte 

None 

4 years· 

3 ears 

1. Aggravated battery or any felony battery offense under chapter 
784. 

2. Kidnapping under s. 787.01 or false imprisonment under s. 
787.02. 

3. An offense of sexual battery under chapter 794. 
4. A lewd or lascivious offense under s. 800.04, s. 825. l 025, ors. 

847.0135(5). 
5. A burglary offense under s. 810.02. 
6. A robbery offense unders. 812.13, s. 812.131 , ors. 812.135. 
7. Carjacking under s. 812.133. 
8. Aggravated child abuse under s. 827.03. 

(b) This subsection applies to any offense that is not otherwise 
barred from prosecution on or after July 1, 2006. 

..t' ( c-1) A prosecution for the following offenses may be commenced 
at any time when deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) evidence is used to 
establish the identity of the accused: 

(1) Armed robbery, as defined in Code Section 16-8-41; 
(2) Kidnapping, as defined in Code Section 16-5-40; 
(3) Rape, as defined in Code Section 16-6-1; 
(4) Aggravated child molestation, as defined in Code Section 16-6-

4; 
(5) Aggravated sodomy, as defined in Code Section 16-6-2; or 
(6) Aggravated sexual battery, as defined in Code Section 16-6-

22.2; 
provided, however, that a sufficient portion of the physical evidence 
tested for DNA is preserved and available for testing by the accused 
and provided, further, that if the DNA evidence does not establish 
the identi of the accused, the limitation on rosecution shall be as 

6 If the victim was under 18 at the time the offense was committed, the applicable period of limitation does not begin to run until victim has reached the age of 18 or the offense 
is reported to a law enforcement agency, whichever occurs first. 
1 If the victim was 18 or older at the time of commission of the offense and the offense was reported to law enforcement within 72 hours after its commission, there is no statute of 
limitations; if the offense was not reported within 72 hours after its commission, the prosecution must be commenced within the original statute of limitations. 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 
provided in subsections (b) and (c) of this Code section. 

Sexual assault against a None 
minor, committed after 
July 1, 2012 
Sexual assault against a 7 years after 
minor, committed before victim turns 16 
July 1, 2012 or the violation 

is reported to 
authorities, 
whichever 
occurs earlier 

Forcible rape 15 years 
Hawaii ./ (3) If the period prescribed in subsection (2) has expired, a prosecution 
Haw. Rev. Stat.§ 701 -108 may nevertheless be commenced for: 

. . . 
(c) Any felony offense involving evidence containing 
deoxyribonucleic acid from the offender, if a test confirming the 
presence of deoxyribonucleic acid is performed prior to expiration of 
the period oflimitation prescribed in subsection (2), but in no case 
shall this provision extend the period oflimitation by more than ten 
years from the expiration of the period of limitation prescribed in 
subsection (2). 

Sexual assault, class A 6 years 
Sexual assault against a 3-6 years 
minor 
Other sexual assault 3 years 

Idaho 
Idaho Code §§ 19-401, 402 

Rape; Sexual abuse of a None 
child 
Sexual abuse 5 years 
Ritualized abuse of a child 3 years after 

disclosure , ,;, ./ (a) A prosecution for: . . . any offense involving sexual conduct or 
Ill. Comp. Stat. 513-5, sexual penetration, as defined by Section ·11-0. l of this Code which the 
6 DNA profile of the offender is obtained and entered into a DNA 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

Sexual abuse/assault 
a ainst a minor 
Sexual abuse/assault 

Rape (class B, C, D, level 
3, 4, 5, 6 
Listed sex offenses 
a ainst children9 

Other sex offenses against 
children 

20 years after 
victim turns 18 
10 years (as 
long as victim 
reported 
offense within 
3 years); 
otherwise, 3 

Until victim 
turns 31 
Within 10 
ears of 

database within 10 years after the commission of the offense, may be 
commenced at any time. Clause (2) of this subsection (a) applies if 
either: (i) the victim reported the offense to law enforcement authorities 
within 3 years after the commission of the offense unless a longer 
period for reporting the offense to law enforcement authorities is 
provided in Section 3-6 or (ii) the victim is murdered during the cou 
of the offense or within 2 ears after the commission of the offense. 

~ (b) A prosecution for a Class B or Class C felony (for a crime _ _ 
committed before July I, 2014) or a Level 3, Level 4, or Level 5 felony · 
(for a crime committed after June 30, 2014) that would otherwise be 
, barred under this section may be commenced within one ( 1) year after . 
'the earlier of the date on which the state: . · · ' ' _ 

(1) first discovers evidence sufficient to charge the offender with · 
the offense through DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) analysis; or · 

1 
· · 

(2) could have discovered evidence sufficient to charge the · 
.offender with the offense through DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) :·" 
'anal sis b the exercise of due dili ence.;'· . ·: · _ :·,. '': · . ' ' · ·, 

8 For any offense involving sexual conduct or sexual penetration where the defendant was within a professional or fiduciary relationship or a purported professional or fiduciary 
relationship with the victim at the time of the commission of the offense may be commenced within I year after the discovery of the offense by the victim. 
9 Ind. Code § 35-42-4-3(a) (Child molesting); Ind. Code § 35-42-4-5 (Vicarious sexual gratification); Ind. Code § 35-42-4-6 (Child solicitation); Ind. Code § 35-42-4-7 (Child 
seduction); Ind. Code § 35-46-1-3 (Incest). 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 
commission or 
4 years after 
the person 
ceases to be a 
dependent of 
the perpetrator, 
whichever is 
later 

Iowa ,/ 1. An information or indictment for sexual abuse in the first, second, or 
Iowa Code § 802.2 third degree committed on or with a person who is under the age of 

t;ighteen years shall be found within ten.years after the person upon 
whom the offense is.committed attains eighteen years of age, or if the 
person against whom the information or indictment is sought is 
identified through the use of a DNA profile, an information or 
indictment shall be found .within three years from the date the 
person is identified by the person's DNA profile, whichever is later. 
2. An information or indictment for any other sexual abuse in the first, 
second, or third degree shall be found within ten years after its 
commission, or ifthe person against whom the information or 
indictment is sought is identified through the use of a DNA profile, an 
information or indictment shall be found within three years from the 
date the person is identified l>Y the person's DNA profile, whichever 
is later. 

Sexual abuse of a minor 10 years after 
victim turns 18 

Sexual abuse 10 years 
Kansas ,/ (c) Except as provided in subsection (e), a prosecution for a sexually 
Kan. Stat.Ann.§ 21-5107 violent offense as defined in K.S.A. 22-3717, and amendments thereto, 

shall be commenced within the limitation of time provided by the law 
pertaining to such offense or one year from the date on which the 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 
identity of the suspect is conclusively established by DNA testing, 
whichever is later. 

Rape None 
Sexually violent crimes I 0 years after 
against a minor10 victim turns 18 
Sexually violent crimes 11 10 years 

Kentucky 
Ky. Rev. Stat.§ 500.050 

Rape; Felony sex abuse None 
Misdemeanor sex abuse 5 years after 
with minor victim turns 18 
Misdemeanor sex abuse I year 

Louisiana v' (1) Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 57.1.1 and Paragraph A of 
La. Code Crim. Proc. arts. 571, 571.1, 572 this Article, prosecutions for any sex offense may be commenced 

beyond the time limitations set forth i!l this Title ifthe identity of the 
offender is established after the expiration of such time limitation 
through the use of a DNA profile. 

(2) A prosecution under the exception provided by this Paragraph 
shall be commenced within three years from the date on which the 
identity of the suspect is established by DNA testing. 

Forcible rape None 
Sexual offenses against a 30 years after 
minor victim turns 18 
Sexual offenses 30 years 

Maine 
Me. Rev. Stat. tit. 17-A, § 8 

If victim is under 16: None 
Gross sexual assault; 
Rape; Incest: Unlawful 

10 The statute of limitations is tolled when (A) The victim was a child under 15 years of age at the time of the crime; (B) the victim was of such age or intelligence that the victim 
was unable to determine that the acts constituted a crime; (C) the victim was prevented by a parent or other legal authority from making known to law enforcement authorities the 
fact of the crime whether or not the parent or other legal authority is the accused; and (D) there is substantially competent expert testimony indicating the victim psychologically 
repressed such witness' memory of the fact of the crime, and in the expert's professional opinion the recall of such memory is accurate and free of undue manipulation, and 
substantial corroborating evidence can be produced in support of the allegations contained in the complaint or information but in no event may a prosecution be commenced as 
later than the date the victim turns 28 years of age. Corroborating evidence may include, but is not limited to, evidence the defendant committed similar acts against other persons 
or evidence of contemporaneous physical manifestations of the crime. 
11 Same as above. 
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Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 
sexual contact; Sexual 
abuse 
Unlawful sexual contact; 8 years 
Gross sexual assault (class 
A, B, orC) 
Sexual offense (class Dor 3 years 
E) 

Maryland 
Md. Code, Cts. & Jud. Proc. §§ 5-106, 117 

Felony sexual offense or None•• 
misdemeanor punished by 
imprisonment in a 
penitentiary 
Other misdemeanor sex I year 
offense 

Massachusetts 
Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 277, § 63 

Rape or abuse of a child Noneu 
under 16 
Rape 15 years 
Other sexual offenses 6 years 

Michigan ./ (2)(b) If evidence of the offense is obtained and that evidence contains 
Mich. Comp. Laws § DNA that is determined to be from an unidentified individual, an 
767.24 indictment against that individual for the offense may be found and 

filed at any time after the offense is committed. However, after the 
individual is identified, the indictment may be found and filed within 
IO years after the individual is identified or by the alleged victim's 
twenty-first birthday, whichever is later. 

Criminal sexual conduct None 
(1st degree) 
Criminal sexual conduct 10 years (or by 
(2"d - 4th degrees) the victim's 21 

birthday, 
whichever is 

12 Smallwoodv. State, 443 A.2d 512, 1006 (Md. 1996). 
13 Any indictment or complaint found and filed more than 27 years after the date of commission of such offense must be supported by independent evidence that corroborates the 
victim's allegation. 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

Minnesota 
Minn. Stat. § 628.26 

Mississippi 
Miss. Code Ann.§ 99-1-5 

Criminal sexual conduct 
with a minor 

Criminal sexual conduct 

later 

9 years after 
commission of 
the offense or 
within 3 years 
after the 
offense was 
reported to 
authorities, 
whichever is 
later 
3 ears 

Rape (including statutory None 
rape); Sexual battery of a 
child 
Other sexual offenses 2 ears 

./ (f) No.Withstanding the limitations iri paragraph (e), i,ndictments or . · 
complaints for vlol!ltion of sections 609.342 to 609.34;4 [criminal : . . 
s~xual conducf(lsi, 2nd, and ~rd degree)] may be· found or made and, 
filed in the proper court at any time after commis~ion of the bffense, 

. phy~ical evidence is collected and preserved that is capable of being 
tested for its DNA characteristics. If this evidence is not collected and 

, preserved andthe victim was 18 years ;old or o lder atthe timG.ofthe , 
otfen~e, the prosecution fuust be commbnci:d v/ithin nin~ years a~e( . 
the c0mmission of the offense. ' · · 
•• ~ - , J ' ·., •. ~.. • .,._ ·',t,. ~ - . .·-, 't. . . · ·:... T . 

(n) The llmitilticins period contained fu this"se~tion' shaii not include . ' . 
any period~ftiine' during which physical e~idence relatirig' to the .' • 
offt;nie was·.iinde; going J?NA analysis: unless the d-~fendarit , ·- ' 
d~m9nstrates that t\)e prosecuting or la~ enforc~ment ~gel}~Y. . 

. purposefuJly delayed the DNA analysis proeess in order to gain an · 
unfair. advanta e. 1 • • ~ • • · · · :~· ' ·~ - • .' 

14 The limitations periods shall not include any period of time during which physical evidence relating to the offense was undergoing DNA analysis, as defined in section Minn. 
Stat. § 299C.155, unless the defendant demonstrates that the prosecuting or law enforcement agency purposefully delayed the DNA analysis process in order to gain an unfair 
advantage. 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

Missouri 
Rev. Stat. §§ 556.036, 556.037 

Forcible rape None 

Other sexual offenses 3 0 years after 
involving a minor victim turns 18 
Other sexual offenses 2 years 

M ontana ./ (b)(9) !fa suspect is conclusively identified by DNA testing after a 
Mont. Code§ 45-1-205 time period prescribed in subsection (l)(b) or (l)(c) has expired, a 

prosecution may be commenced wit.hin one year after the 
suspect is conclusively identified by DNA testing. 

Sexual assault against a IO years after 
minor victim turns 18 
Sexual assault; Sexual 10 years 
intercourse without 
consent 
Other felony sexual 5 years 
offense 

Nebraska 
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 29-110 

Sexual assault (I st or 2"0 None 
degree); Sexual assault of 
a minor ( I st or 2"d degree); 
Sexual assault of a minor 
(3'd degree), if victim 
under 16; Incest 
Other felony sexual 3 years 
offenses 

Nevada 
Nev. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§ 171.083 , 171.085, 171.095 

- Sexual assault, if written None 
report made before statute 
of limitations expires 
Child sexual abuse Before the 

victim turns 
21 , if victim 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

New Hampshire 
N.H. Rev. Stat.§ 625:8 

New Jersey 
N.J. Stat. Ann.§ 2C:1-6 

New Mexico 

Sexual assault 

Sexual assault if victim is 
under 18 
Sexual assault 

Sexual assault 
Other sexual offenses 

N.M. Stat. Ann. § 30-1-8, 30-1-9.1, 30-1-9.2 

Criminal sexual 
penetration resulting in 
bodil harm or victim 

discovered or 
should have 
discovered she 
was a victim, 
otherwise age 
28 
4 ears 

22 years after 
victim turns 18 
6 ears 

None 
5 ears 

None 

../ ( c) An offense is committed either when every element occurs or, if a 
legislative purpose to prohibit a continuing course of conduct plainly 
appears, at the time when the course of conduct or the defendant's 
complicity therein is terminated. Time starts to run on the day after the 
offense is committed, except that when the prosecution is supported by 
physical evidence that identifies the actor by means of DNA testing or 
fingerprint analysis, time does not start to run until the State is in 
possession of both the physical evidence and the DNA or 
fingerprint evidence necessary to establish the identification of the 
actor b means of com arison to the h sical evidence. 

../ (A) When DNA evidence is available and a suspect has not been 
identified, the applicable time period for commencing a prosecution 
pursuant to Section 30-1-8 NMSA 1978 [statute oflimitations] shall 
not commence to run for an alleged violation of Section 30-9-11 
NMSA 1978 [criminal sexual penetration) until a DNA profile is 
matched with a sus ect. 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

North Carolina 

under 13 I" de ree 
Criminal sexual 

enetration 2"d de ree 
Criminal sexual 
penetration (3rd and 4th 
de rees) 

6 years 

5 years 

Rape; Criminal sexual act; None 
Aggravated sexual abuse; 
Course of sexual conduct 
a ainst a child 
Other felon sex offenses 5 ears 

State v. Hardin, 201 S.E.2d 74 . 1973 

North Dakota 

Rape; Other felony sexual None 
offenses 

N.D. Cent. Code, §§ 29-04-02.1, 29-03.1, 29-03.2, 29.04.02 

Ohio 

Sexual abuse of minor 

Gross sexual imposition, 
if serious bodil in·u 
Other felon sex offenses 

Ohio Rev. Code Ann.§ 2901.13 

7 years or 3 
years after 
report is 
made18 

7 years 

3 ears 

:ii9-1s 

15 If the victim was under 18 during the commission of the crime, the statute will not run until the victim reaches age 18 or the violation is reported to a law enforcement agency, 
whichever occurs first. 

the victim was under 18 during the commission of the crime, the statute will not run until the victim reaches age 18 or the violation is reported to a law enforcement agency, 
ever occurs first. 
ough New York does not have a statutory DNA exception, the common law suggests its existence in certain cases. See People v. Ramos, 877 N. Y.S.2d 177 (N. Y. App. Div. 

9) (extending the 5 year statute of limitation to 10 years, noting that the defendants whereabouts were unknown until he was identified through a DNA profile match from a 
rape kit); People v. Brown, 890 N.Y.S.2d 415 (N. Y. App. Ct. 2009) (allowing an action to continue though the complaint was filed well beyond the 5 year statute of limitations 
because recent DNA evidence made the defendants identity known). 
18 If victim is under 15, the statute of limitations will not run until victim reaches age 15. N.D. Cent. Code § 29-04-03.2 
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Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

Oklalip~a ~ 
22 Okla' Stat. tit:22, § :152 

' ·!. i· ? ' • ' • 

Oregon 
Or. Rev. Stat. § 131.125 

Unlawful sexual conduct 
with a minor 

Rape; Sexual battery; 
Gross sexual im osition 

Lewd or indecent 
proposals or acts against 
children 
Ra e; Forcible sodom 

20 years after 
victim turns 18 
or after 
notification to 
authorities 
20 years 

12 years after 
discovery19 

12 ears 

v' 2. However, prosecutions for the crime.s listed· in paragrap)l l o.f'this 
.·;· .stibseetion may be com'menced at any time after' the commission of 

.tile: orrense If: .' • . :, · ·. '·'·., ";:'. · 
... ..i ,, .- ·• ... • • " •• 

, -: . ,'a the \icti.~ :notifie:q lav/el)fo~~m~nt withi? twelv~ '( 12) y,~ars ·' 
.· afteriliediscovery:ofthecrime ·:.. -" '. · · · , · 
-~ b. physi~~l (!yid(!nC~ is co1J~cted and. preserve~ !}l~t is capahJ~of.1 .: 

_ : beingtested to o):>tain a profi.Je fro~ deo~yljb9fmcl<;ic 'ac;id (I?NA), 
'and ... · ··\ ·" - · .. ~-· /-. l· · ~. ,... .. · 
c. the !de[!tity oftpe of'fender is subsequel)~ly established through 
'th1 use of a DNA-profile.psing evidence' Fsted.in subparagraph b 

ofthisparagraph. . ... . , : .. , . 
A prosecution tinder this exception mtist be cominenced'.within three 
(3)' yeats from, the date' oil' which the identit)' of the suspect is ,'. ' r 
·established 1{ DNA testin . . .• · ' . ./ · · 

v' (8) Notwithstanding subsection (2) of this section, ifthe defendant is 
identified after the period described in subsection (2) of this section on 
the basis of DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) sample comparisons, a 
prosecution for: 
(a) Rape in the first degree, sodomy in the first degree, unlawful sexual 
penetration in the first degree or sexual abuse in the first degree may 
be commenced at any time after the commission of the crime. 
(b) Rape in the second degree, sodomy in the second degree or 
unlawful sexual penetration in the second degree may be commenc 
within 25 years after the commission of the crime. 
9 Notwithstandin subsection 8 of this section, if a 

19 "Discovery" means the date a victim under 18 is reports the crime to a law enforcement agency, up to and including one year after the victim turns 18. 

56 233/ 
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Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

felony listed in subsection (8) of this section would otherwise be barred 
by subsection (2) of this section, the prosecution must be commenced 
within two years of the DNA-based identification of the defendant. 

Rape or sexual abuse of a Before the 
minor victim turns 30 

or within 12 
years after the 
offense is 
reported to 
authorities, 
whichever 
occurs first 

Rape; Sodomy; Unlawful 6 years 
penetration; Sexual abuse 

Pennsylvania ,/ ( c-1) Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, if evidence 
42 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 5552 of a misdemeanor sexual offense set forth in subsection (c)(3) or a 

felony offense is obtained containing human deoxyribonucleic acid 
(DNA) which is subsequently used to identify an otherwise 
unidentified individual as the perpetrator of the offense, the prosecution 
of the offense may be commenced within the period of limitations 
provided for the offense or one year after the identity of the 
individual is determined, whichever is later. 

Sex offenses against a Until victim 
minor victim turns 50 
Rape; Sexual assault; 12 years 
Sexual abuse; Deviant 
sexual intercourse 

Rhode Island 
R.I. Gen. Laws § 12-12-17 

Rape; Sexual assault (I st None 
degree); Child molestation 
(I st and 2"d degree) 

- hCa<0li•• 
Other sex assault 3 years 

Anv criminal prosecution None 
South Dakota 
S.D. Codified Laws§§ 22-22-1 , 23A-42-2 



Statute of Lim itations for Sexual Assau lt Offenses 
Rape (!st and 200 degree) None 
Rape (3'0 and 41

" degree) Before victim 
turns 25 or 
within 7 years 
of the 
commission of 
the crime, 
whichever is 
longer 

Other sex offenses 7 years 
Tennessee'" 
Tenn. Code Ann.§ 40-2-101 

Child victim, prior to July Until age 18 or 
1, 1997: Aggravated rape; 4 years after 
Rape; Aggravated sexual offense, 
battery; Sexual battery; whichever is 
Incest later 
Child victim between July Until age 21 
1, I997- June 2006: 
Aggravated rape; Rape; 
Aggravated sexual 
battery; Sexual battery; 
Incest 
Child victim on or after 25 years after 
June 2006: Aggravated age 18 
rape; Rape; Aggravated 
sexual battery; Sexual 
battery; Incest 
Ain?.ravated rape 15 years 
Rape; Aggravated sexual 8 years 
battery 
Other sexual offenses 4-2 years 

Texas v' [F]elony indictments may be presented within these limits, and not 
Tex. Code Crim. Proc. art. 12.01 afterward: 

'
0 The Tennessee legislature considered a bill that would allow for the prosecution of aggravated rape, rape, aggravated rape ofa child, rape ofa child, aggravated sexual battery, 

and sexual battery to be commenced within a year of when DNA evidence established the identity of the accused. This bill assigned to subcommittee on 3/26/2013. See H.B 2685, 
S.B 2136, 107th Gen. Assemb., Reg. Sess. (Tenn. 2012). 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

Sexual assault of a child; None 
Abuse of a child 

Rape; Rape of a child; 
Object rape; Object rape 
of a child; Forcible 
sodomy; Sodomy on a 
child; Aggravated sexual 
abuse of a child; Sexual 
abuse of a child; 
A ravated sexual assault 
Forcible sexual abuse; 
Incest 

Within 8 years 
after the 
offense is 
committed, 

rovided that 

(1) no limitation: 

(B) sexual assault, if during the investigation of the 
offense biological matter is collected and subjected to forensic 
DNA testing and the testing results show that the matter does not 
match the victim or any other person whose identity is readily 
ascertained; 

: ./ :(2)(a) Prosec_utiqnior'the oJfens~s lisred.in Subsection~ 76-3-· · · 
·~. 203.5(1 )( c )(i)(A),thfough ()3B),[haliituaily vioknt offenders]' may.be 

C01!Jfi'.ienced.at agy ti.~e)f th!l. i_cienticy' of the per~on . ~ho ' . . 
committed the i:rinie~is unlufo'Wn tiut DNA evidence is collected 
that WO.Uld identify ilie perSOflat 'a later date 21

' ' I < • '• ~ 
• :(b) Sub~ection (2)(a) does !lOt<apply_if l he statute oflirliitations on 

a crime has run as of May 5, 20·03, and no ~harges have~l>.een filed. · 
(3) lf the statute dfljmi_tations' woulq ha~e run 'but ,ror !}le provisibns 
of Subsection (2)'and identification of.a'perpetrator.is made through 
J:?NA, ·~· prosecution .shall h,e c~~menced with.in o·n_!l .. yea.r of the 

,discov~ry ofth!l identity of'tlie perpetrator, .~.'." 
t ·- ' • ..~~ ''. . . • .... ~... -

21 The above provision does not apply if the statute oflimitations on an offense has run as of May 5, 2003, and no charges have been filed 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

Other felonies 
Vermont .. 
Vt. Stat. Ann. tit. ·13, § 4501, _ 

Virginia , . 
Va. Code Aim .. §.19 .~"8 

Aggravated sexual 
assault; Aggravated 
sexual assault against a 
child 
Sexual assault of a minor 

Sexual assault; Sexual 
abuse against a vulnerable 
erson 

Washington · , . 
Wash. Rev. Cope § 9A.04.080 

.. 
Rape of victim under 18 
(!"or 2"d degree); Rape 
ofa child(!", znd or 3rd 
de ree 
Rape(l"or2" degree) 

the offense 
was reported to 
a law 
enforcement 
agency within 
4 years after 
commission of 
the offense 
4 ears 

- '-. .. ~· 

None 

Within 40 
years of the 
assault 
6 years 

Before victim 
turns 30 

JO years if 
reported to 
law 

· -.-' G)(3) In any prosecuti<;m for a sex offense as d_ettned in R~W 
9.94A.030, the periods oflimitation prescribed. in supsection ( 1) of this · 
section run from the date of coinmissio"ri. or one' year from the -date on' 
~liicb.tbe identity ~fthe S

0

USp~ct is ~onclusively established by . 
deox ribonucleic acid testin ·, whichever is later. -~ ' 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

Rape (l ' ' or 2" degree), if 
not reported within 1 year 

enforcement 
within 1 year 
of commission 
If victim age 
14 or older: 
within 3 years 
of 
commission. 
If victim under 
14 years: 3 
years after 
victim turns 
18, or 7 years 
after 
commission, 
whichever is 
later 

Other felon sex offenses 6-3 ears 
West Virginia ' ~\, 

W. Va. Code§ 6I-ll-9 ' 
sex offense 

,./ (2d) (c) lf, pefore the.applicable time limitation ilnder sub. (1) or (2) 
·(am), (c), or (cm) for'co~enC:in'g pfosecution ofa felony ooder ch~ 
949 [ciiJll~s· agalrist life 'and bodily ~1:curitY] or,948' [ cri~es ·against 
children], other than a felony specified in sub. (2) (a)·[inclilding sexual 
assault '( 1" degree) and sexual ·assault of a c4ild (!'~degree)] , expires, · 
ilie' state collects biological material that is evidence of the identity of 

·~, ;·th~perso9 w!lo Gojiim_itted the're\ony, !deptifies a deqx)'ffbonucleic 
acia profile from ,the ,bfologicaI material, and eompares the . · 
depxyribcinucieic acic,\.profile to deoxyrib9nucleic acid ~rofiles of 
lµ\own persons,'tile . ~tate rriay comrnence,prose_cution of~e person '. 
;who is the source of the biological material for the felony or a crime 
that is 'feiated to' the felony br both within 12 months after . 
compari.so~ of the-:deoxyriboiuicleic acid profile relati_n~ to the 
feloriy results in a;probable identification of the person or within the 
a licable time under 'sub. 1 or 2 , 'whichever is latest. 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

Sexual assault (I 51 

degree); Sexual assault of 
a child 1st de ee 
Other listed sexual 
offenses a ainst children 
Other felony sexual 
assault 

Wyoming ...:""' 
Bo s .V: State; 484 P.2d.7I.i W · o. '1971 , , ·· 

An criminal rosecution 

.. , 
None 

Before victim 
turns 45 
6 years 

None 

( e) If, within <? years after commission of a feloriy sP,ecified u'nder sub. 
(2) (a) [including se~ual assault (1 '1 degree) and se.xuai assault'ofa 
child (1st degre,e)], th.e s~te c91lects bi91ogical inat~rial that is.evidence 

.. ci~the identity oft)'ie person wh'o committed the' ft:fony, identifi~s a ' 
deoxyribo·nucleic acid profile from the biological material, and 
co~pares the deoxyribom1cleic acid profile to deo~yr°ibonu~leic aci . 
profiles of known persons: the state may commence prosecution of the 
per~bn ' wh~ is 'the source of the biolqgical iPaterial. for a crime~that:is . 
related to the felony withiri 12 months after comparison of the ' . 
deoxyrilfonucleic acid proftl~ relating to t~e felony results in a 
probable identification of the person or within the applicable time 
und~r sub: -1 'or 2 ·: whichever is lat.est. .. : . :~... . . ·.- .. 'I : / : 



SB 233 1 

Chairman Hogue and members of the 

For the record, my name is Betty Jo Krenz. I am from Woodworth North Dakota and 
I am an advocate for victims of abuse. 

I want to visit with each of you about why it is  so important to pass SB 23 3 1 .  

Today, we speak for the girl that l ives next door, your cousin, your sister, your sister­
in-law, your niece, your best-friend, your wife, your c lassmate or your dorm mate. We 
speak for all the children who have been sexually abused and do not have the courage 
to stand up and speak for themselves. 

Sexual abuse is more prominent that we choose to think. It i s  in your neighborhood, in 
your community and in your county. 

We can look away from it or choose to ignore it. This behavior makes it impossible 
for the victims to come to terms with and to heal from the long-term symptoms they 
develop from the abuse. Looking away from or ignoring sexual abuse is happening 
al lows the offender to continue to abuse those around them. 

By the time the human brain matures at 25 years of age, long term abuse has already 
taken place and the effects from it are firmly cemented into the person' s  being. If and 
when they find the courage and strength to disclose the abuse, they are called l iars and 
branded as troubled youth and problematic. Many are told that no one will bel ieve 
their story and "who is  going to care anyway?" Defeated, the victims sl ide into an 
unrealistic self- image, self-harm, legal issues and failed relationships are typical of an 
individual that fights this internal battle. They are told they are trouble makers and 
are labeled as damaged. They l ive in constant emotional pain and most are not 
allowed to talk about what is hurting so badly. If somebody has cancer or a broken 
bone, they are given the opportunity to heal, and people have empathy for their 
situation. When a victim of sexual abuse, or any childhood abuse for that matter, show 
behaviors that demonstrate their pain, they are referred to as l iars or attention seekers. 
This cyc le needs to end. Healing needs to take place. Taking away the statute of 
l imitations on sexual abuse of a minor will give the victim a chance to validate the 
crime and have a starting point from where they can begin to heal. Not every victim 
will step forward and take advantage of the bill ,  but it will  leave the door open for 
anyone who chooses that path. 

One in six boys and one in four girls will be sexually abused by the time they are 
1 8 . If you put that into perspective for North Dakota, consider this :  



In 20 1 3 ,  North Dakota's population count for chi ldren under the age of 1 8  was 
1 62,688 .  Of that population, 83 ,267 were boys and 79,42 1 were girls.  Using the 
percentages given above, 1 3 ,877 boys and 1 9,85 5 girls wil l  be sexually abused by the 
time they are 1 8 . To add further perspective, if you have a classroom with forty 
students, at some point, eight of those students will have been or will be sexually 
abused. That rounds out to 20 percent of North Dakota's youth who will or have 
suffered sexual abuse by the time they are 1 8 . According to statistics published for 
20 1 3  on the NDKidsCount Web site, there were 64 unique cases child sexual abuse. 
This figure is grossly low. A simple bit of rough math using the above statistics will 
tel l  you that in 20 1 3 , there were 1 784 children who were victimized. The 64 unique 
cases is not a representative number of the cases that are actually taking place. 

The Administration for Children and Families estimates the economic burden 
of child abuse and neglect in the United States at an average of $210,012 per 
child, including long-term health care, lost productivity, child welfare, 
criminal justice and special education costs. 

While working as an advocate in the state of North Dakota, I have spoken to women 
who c laim that 80% of their family members or female friends have been raped or 
were victims of childhood abuse. That number is not only shocking, but it ' s  
unacceptable. 

Sexual offenders are masters at grooming their victims, and when they groom the 
victims appropriately, they (the offenders) know that nobody will believe the 
victims .  They will  tell  the child that it' s  a "special kind of love that has to be a 
secret," and/or they are told "mommy or your sister will be j ealous and mad if you 
tell ." These perpetrators are master manipulators and will continue to abuse unless we 
stop them. 

Ten states have removed the statute of l imitations on sexual abuse of a minor; in fact, 
Kentucky has completely removed all statute of limitations on ALL felonies !  North 
Dakota nice does not apply to sex offenders ! Let 's  take the lead in this fight, and tell 
all abusers that it is  not OK to offend in state of North Dakota. 

Thank you for your time, I want to personally thank Senator Terry Wanzek for 
listening to me and offering to work with us to sponsor this bil l .  

Betty Jo Krenz 
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Anatomical bra in regions implica ted in maltreated subjects based on stt·uc tural and functional imaging studies on1•laicl 011 a high 

1·esolutio11 structural �IRI ima ge. Regions highli2hted in pink cone pond to fronto-limbic areas i.tn·oln�d i.t1 emotion and moti\·ation proce si.t1g 

and reizion hiizhlighted i.t1 blue to fronto-striatal brai.t1 reizions i.t1 ·ol ·ed i.t1 executi ·e function . \\·orki.t1iz memory. i.t1.hibition and attention. Panel 

(A) . how an axial ·iew contai.t1i.t1g the basal !?clll!?lia and panels (B C)  are agittal ,·iew highlighti.t1g the hippocruuptl'>. amygdala and DLPFC 

and A CC . OFC . and cerebellum. re pecti ·ely. 
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Februa ry 4, 2015 I Theresa Semmens 

S B  2331 

Chairman Hogue and Members of the Senate Judiciary Committee: 

I am Theresa Semmens from Fargo. Thank you for your interest in  Senate Bill 233 1.  

As the bi l l  has  been introduced and described to you, SB 2331 seeks to remove the statute of  l imitations for child 

sexual abuse for criminal and civil proceedings. 

Testimony, both personal and expert related to the victims and survivors of childhood sexual abuse has been 

presented to you for your  review and consideration. Today is the start of many conversations, discussions and 

work that will  provide means and ways to protect North Dakota's children against these heinous crimes. 

I want to provide you with a description of a "typical" childhood sexual abuse offender profile along with facts 

related to their behavior. The information I am sharing with you was gleaned from research reports, law 

enforcement websites and sites dedicated to preventing chi ld abuse. 

Who is a child sexual abuse offender? They are a heterogeneous group; they can be the volunteer softbal l  coach, 

the fourth grade teacher, the football  quarterback, the owner of the local bowling al ley, an uncle, brother, cousin 

or neighbor. They can be a farmer, banker, plumber or someone who is retired, and both genders can be 

offenders. They do not fa ll along any specific socioeconomic or social achievement spectrums; intell igence levels 

vary a mong them; and most are not "crazy11 or psychotic In fact, there is no such thing as a typical profile. But they 

do have several common denominators or characteristics. 

• Offenders justify their behavior through 

o Denial - they refuse to admit to others and even to themselves they have committed sexual 

assaults. They may say, "It's a lie, I never did that,11 or "She/he agreed to it.11 

o Rationalizing - this involves blaming the victim, other people or circumstances. You might hear, 

"It wasn't my fault, she/he asked for it,11 or I was drunk and didn't know what I was doing.11 

o Minimizing - this is used by offenders to deny the seriousness of the acts. It is not unusual to 

hear "She is too little to understand what happened," "I didn't really hurt her," "It wasn't that 

bad, he l iked it,11 or "It wasn't penetration, how can it be a crime?" 

• Child molesters may engage in incestuous, as well as non-i ncestuous abuse and may target children of 

both genders. 

• Seventy percent of adult offenders admitted they had begun their deviant sexual behaviors as 

adolescents. 

• If the child victim is under the age of 12, 90% know their offender, and almost half of the offenders are a 

family member. Of sexual assau lts against individuals 12 years-old and up, 80% of the victims know the 

offender. 

• In the majority of cases, abusers gain  access to their victims through deception, coercion, enticement, 

threats and fear. They seldom use force or violence. 

• While there is a small  subset of offenders who are exclusively attracted to children, the majority who 

sexually abuse children are (or have been) attracted to adults. Most are ma rried or in a consenting 

relationship. 

• No assumptions can be made about an offender's preference. Research and anecdotal evidence indicate 

that some sex offenders choose only one type of victim, while others prey on different types. 

• Because of the age difference, children are unable to legally consent to sexual acts. They do not have the 

abi l ity to say no, they can only cooperate. 



February 4, 2015 I Theresa Semmens 

We received several letters of testimony through our Facebook page, "Child Survivors for Justice," and our email 

address, childsurvivor@gmail.com. These two excerpts carry a powerful message. 

The first excerpt was taken from "Proud Mom of 3 boys under 3:" She states, "You are probably wondering why I 

did not tell anyone. I can tell you when I was very little, he would threaten me. He told me my toys would be taken 

away, no one would believe or love me and I would be sent away. He told me it was our secret and I would get into 

big trouble if I told. The neighbor girl was also molested by him and she came forward. I remember how terrible 

the entire family talked about this girl, saying that she had problems and that she was lying, that they were poor, 

etc. This girl was pretty much coerced into saying that she lied and that it didn't happen. I felt ashamed and 

embarrassed. I knew that if I came forward the same fate would happen to me. I lived in fear every day when I 

went to my Grandma's house. I would cry and tell my mother I did not want to go. She thought it was because it 

was "boring" or because Grandma was not the best housekeeper. So she would force me to go. (I know my mother 

has severe guilt over this because she did not realize what was going on.)" 

A second excerpt is taken from an email sent to us from Ginger. She states, "You need to pass this bill so when 

children are mature and strong enough to face their offenders, they are able to do this, not when they are still 

children. As the statutes stand, ifthe abuse stopped at age 7, a victim would only have until age 14 to report it. 

This needs to CHANGE! Children are not able to express easily that they are being abused. As a victim of child 

sexual abuse, I can say that it is very hard to express this due to being intimidated, being told that your parents will 

fight and get divorced, that no one will believe you and that you will no longer have a family. I did tell my 

grandmother and she did not believe me. When the abuse finally did come out from another victim and I 

collaborated, I was told to be quiet and that "boys will be boys," and it would "break my grandpa's heart." So, even 

at 24 years of age I did not pursue the abuse because I was pressured by family members not to say anything. Can 

you imagine being told this as a child? 

It is important to understand that offenders always make a choice when they commit sexual offenses. They decide 

to act even though it is wrong. Nothing a victim does can make a person commit a sexual offense. 

The information presented to you today does not adequately describe how important it is to pass SB 2331. 

Removing the statute of limitations for child sexual abuse crimes will give victims and survivors, when they are 

strong in mind, spirit and body, a chance to face their offender or offenders in a legal venue albeit civil or criminal. 

As Betty Jo Krenz explained to you, often this strength and healing does not happen until the victim is in their 30s, 

40s and even SOs. 

I would like to thank Senators Terry Wanzek and Joan Heckaman, and Representatives Kathy Hogan and Mike 

Brandenburg for sponsoring this bill. This bill is important for protecting North Dakota's children. To do this, we 

are getting the conversation started, and the passing of the bill, or some form of it will help to further that 

conversation and work. 

Thank you for taking the time to listen to and to visit with us today. 

Theresa Semmens 

Theresa.Y.Semmens@gmail.com 
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February 1, 2015 

RE:  SB 

To the Members of the Senate J udiciary Committee; 

My name is G inger Westfa l l ,  and as a chi ldhood sexual  abuse survivor, I want to stress how it is 
extremely i m portant that SB B i l l  2331 passes. There must be no statute of limitations on child sexual 

abuse. Chi ldren do not have the ski l l s  or the courage to face their offenders. Chi ldren are not a ble to 
express easily that they a re being a bused. 

As a victim of chi ld  sexua l  abuse I can tel l  you that it is very hard to express this due to being 
i ntimidated, being told that your  parents wil l  fight a nd get d ivorced, told that no one wil l  bel ieve you, 
and that you wil l  no longer have a fam i ly. 

I can say that I did tel l  my grandmother a nd she did not believe me. When the a buse fina l ly did come 
out from a nother victim and I col laborated, I was told to be quiet and that "boys wi l l  be boys," and that 
it would  "break my grandpa's heart." Even at 24 years of age, when I tried to ta lk  a bo ut this, I did not 
pursue the a buse because I was pressured by fam i ly members not to say anyth ing. Ca n you imagine 
being tol d  this as a chi ld? You must pass this bi l l  so when chi ldren are mature and strong enough to 
face their accusers they wil l  be ab le to do this. 

With the current statute of l i mitations, if the a buse stopped at age 7, I would have only had unti l  14 
years of age to report it. This needs to CHANGE !  

My a buse started a t  such a young age I d o  not remember. I either b locked i t  out, or I do not remember. 
IT a lways was. It  continued into grade school .  I then avoided ever being in  the same room as my 
a buser. However, even in  high school he attempted to rape me on 2 occasions. I d id fight him off. As 
a n  adu lt he knew I d id not want h im a round me. I made this obvious. He would sti l l  try to i nt imidate 
me. When in  publ ic situations, I could not do a nything. For example, at my wedding, he came through 
the dol lar  dance. KNOWING I d id not want him too, and I a m  positive it was his arrogance saying, "What 
a re you going to do a bo ut it?????" 

I am currently 43 years old.  This is sti l l  traumatizing for me. I can say the abuse affected me. I was in 2 
a busive re lationships. I have self-loathing, a d istorted self-image. I look back at my chi ldhood a nd I 
have very few good memories. My chi ldhood was stolen from me 

Please pass this b i l l, 

G i nger Westfa l l  

ginwestfa l l @ya hoo.com 
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January 29, 201 4  

S B  2331 

Chairman and members of the Legislative Jud iciary Committee, 

I am writing you this letter to stress the importance of the SB 2331 to extend the statute of l imitations on 
child rape. I am a child rape survivor that grew up in the state of North Dakota. I was raped by a family 
member who we know has victimized at least 5 other girls and a boy. I ,  however, was molested daily 
from the earliest I can remember at the age of 2 until 6 by an uncle who lived with my grandmother. My 
grandmother babysat me during the day while my mother and father worked. It then turned into raping 
me whenever she babysat me such as on weekends or during family holidays. The latest I remember this 
individual trying to rape me was the age of 16 when he exposed himself and tried to force h is penis into 
my face while I was babysitting my cousins at their farm house. 

You are probably wondering why I did not tell anyone. I can tell you when I was very l ittle he would 
threaten me. He told me my toys would be taken away, no one would believe or love me and I would be 
sent away. He told me it was our secret and I would get into big trouble if I told. The neighbor girl was 
also molested by him and she came forward. I remember how terrible the entire family talked about this 
girl ,  saying that she had problems, that she was lying , that they were poor etc . . .  This g irl was pretty much 
coerced into saying that she lied and it didn't happen. I felt ashamed and embarrassed. I knew that if I 
came forward the same fate would happen to me. I lived in fear every day when I went to my grandma's 
house. I would cry and tell my mother I d id not want to. She thought it was because it was "boring" or 
because she was not the best housekeeper. So she would force me to go. ( I  know now my mother has 
severe gu ilt over this and not realizing what was going on.) 

At about the age of 14 ,  I developed severe body complex issues. I was anorexic and bulimic until the age 
of 25. I lost many friends and close relationships because of this. I told my mother about the abuse at 
the age of 1 8, while I was in college. My roommates in college called my parents about my bulimia and 
how it was affecting them. My mother called me, at her wits end asking me why I was bulimic, what was 
wrong etc . . .  I finally got up the courage to tell her. I told her I was sexually abused by my uncle/her 
brother for years and I thought about it every single day. She remained quiet and hung up. She called 
some of her family members who then called me and called me a liar, threatened me and told me to shut 
up. My sister, who was also sexually abused informed them I was telling the truth. I was then called again 
and told not to tarnish the family name, that it would break my Grandmother and Grandfather's heart and 
to keep qu iet. I was still called a liar by an aunt and was told "boys will be boys." 

I was 1 8  when I came forward and this is how I was treated. Can you imagine being school age and trying 
to come forward or feeling gui lt and shame when you realize it is not ok to be touched sexually and that it 
is happening to you? We need to have tougher laws to stop these perpetrators from hurting more kids. It 
is important that when the victims become strong enough to come forward and want to prosecute their 
abuser we have laws set in  place that allow th is. I am asking you to please extend the statute of 
l imitations on child rape 

Sincerely, 

Robin Jo Carter (Proud Mom of 3 boys under 3) 



Private Message from a survivor who wishes to remain a nonymous. This was sent to the Chi ld Survivor 

for J ustice Facebook page on February 2, 2015. 

I was sexually harassed and abused by peers from the age of twelve to the age of eighteen. They kept 
saying that I was their friend and that it was what friends did. Until I was nineteen I believed it was normal. 
I realize now what they did and made me do has greatly d isrupted my life and I stil l  suffer from symptoms 
of PTSD because of it. I still haven't confronted them but I admire those who are brave enough to speak 
out against they people who did them wrong. If you share this I want to be left anonymous. Thank you. I 
g ive my ful l  support. 
r 

Child Survivors for J ustice 
Sent by Betty Jo Krenz 

Feb 2nd, 2 :29pm 
Thank you so much for sharing. We will not use your name in any way . . . .  your voice will be heard. If  you 
need to talk to anyone just let me know where you are located and I can set up something with a 
professional who is trained to help get thru this. You are a very brave individual and I applaud you. 
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This handout offers information on sexual offenders. It  is written to help you understand the common behaviors of sexual offend­
ers and conditions that contribute to their acts. The H arborview Center for Sexual Assault and Traumatic Stress ( HCSATS) is here 
to help you. 

Observations About Sexual Offenders 

There is no "typical" sexual offender. Rapists and child molesters come from all backgrounds and can often seem l ike ordinary law 
abiding people. Although most offenders are male, females can also commit sexual offenses. 

Sexual offenders can range in age, from young teenagers to senior citizens. More than half of adult sexual offenders begin offend­
ing in their teens. A lthough young children can be sexually aggressive or inappropriate, they are not offenders and are not prose­
cuted. Instead they are treated as children with serious behavior problems who should have treatment and be supervised. 

This handout tries to answer these commonly asked questions: 

• What are the common characteristics of sexual offenders? 

• What are the punishments for sexual crimes and what treatment available for sexual offenders? 
What can be done to help prevent someone from becoming a sexual offender? 

Common Behaviors and Characteristics of Sexual Offenders 
Most sexual offenders think about their crimes ahead of time. Sexual assault is  rarely an impulsive act although sometimes sex 
offenders take advantage of opportunity to offend. Offenders most often know their victims and use these relationships to set up 
situations in which a chosen victim can be sexually assaulted. Sexual assaults can involve physical violence, threats, or overpower­
ing. Jn other cases victims go along with the assaults because they are afraid to resist or to try to get away. 

Planning and manipulating relationships over time to commit sexual offenses is called grooming. In these situations victims may 
come to believe that they are responsible for what happened even though this is never true. After the assaults, offenders often 
threaten, pressure or use gui lt  to keep victims from telling anyone. 

How Offenders Justify Their Behavior 
Offenders may j ustify their behavior in several ways: 

Denial is used by offenders to avoid facing the consequences of their actions. Denial means that offenders refuse to admit to oth­
ers or sometimes even to themselves that they have committed sexual assaults. They may say, "It's a l ie. I never did it," or "That 
wasn't really rape, she agreed to it." 

Rationalizing involves blaming the victim, other people or circumstances. Typical thoughts are, "It wasn't my fault, she led me 
on'', "he didn't fight back" or "I didn't know what I was doing, I had too much alcohol . .. " These are ways of placing responsibil­
ity on someone or something else. 

Minimizing is used by offenders to deny the seriousness of the acts or the harm done to the victims. "It wasn 't that bad - he l iked 
it," or "I didn't really hurt her." By minimizing their actions, offenders try to make it seem as though what they did was not such a 
big deal. 

Common Conditions Which Contribute to Sexual Offending 
Several conditions can contribute to the likel ihood of sexual offending. Typically a case involves a combination of factors and 
circumstances. I t  is important to understand that sex offenders always make a choice when they commit sexual offenses no matter 
what the reasons are that go into why they did it. They decide to act even though they know it is wrong. Nothing a victim does can 
make a person commit a sexual offense. 

Feeling Motivated -Offenders often have abnormal or unusual sexual interests. They may be sexually attracted to children or 
young teenagers. It does not bother them to have sex with someone who doesn't want to. 

Harborvicw Center for Sexull Assault a Tl8imUltie S4lws 
1401 East left'enon, see 400 

SCldtle WA 91122 
206-74t-1600 www.hcslls.org 
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A ntisocial Attitudes - Some offenders believe it is acceptable to take advantage of other people or break the law. They may not 
understand or care about the feelings of others and put what they want first. 

Background of Offender - Some people who have been abused, mistreated or neglected develop negative feel ings and beliefs 
about themselves and others. They may try to gain control over their l ives or relieve emotional pain through abusive sexual behav­
ior towards others. 

Lack of External Controls -Offenders create situations that give them the opportunity to offend and where there is l ittle chance of 
being caught. In the case of child molesters, they may put themselves in situations where they are alone with and have control 
over children. Rapists wil l  often get victims away from friends or in isolated situations. 

Vulnerable Victims - Although the responsibil ity for sexual offending is always with offenders, rapists and child molesters may 
look for vulnerable people to victimize. Victims can be vulnerable because they are young, have a disabil ity or are impaired in 
some way. People can be victimized because they are alone in  an isolated area, asleep, under the influence of drugs or alcohol, or 
suffering from emotional problems. Offenders want victims who cannot protect themselves. 

Stopping Sexual Offenders From Offending 

Some sex offenders will  stop offending on their own, but making a report to the authorities is  the best way to lower the chances for 
repeat offending. When sex offenders are caught and investigated or prosecuted they learn that there are consequences for offend­
ing. If they are convicted of a crime, then the courts can impose punishment, require them to get treatment or put restrictions on 
what they do. 

I ncarceration:  Courts can sentence convicted sex offenders to prison. This serves two purposes. F irst, it is  punishment 
for breaking the law and second, the community is protected while offenders serve their term in jail or prison. Convicted 
sex offenders who commit violent offenses, have been convicted before or have many victims will  almost always be im­
prisoned. Sometimes offenders can have treatment while they are in prison. They will  be supervised once they get out 
and have certain restrictions or requirements that they must follow. 

Community Sentencing Alternatives: Offenders who have committed less violent offenses and who show that they 
want to change their behavior, may be given the opportunity to avoid going to prison and stay in the community and get 
treatment under the supervision of the court. Offenders who get this option may have to go to jail for a few months as 
well for punishment. If these offenders do not complete treatment or break the rules, they wil l  have to serve a prison term. 
V ictims are allowed to have a say about whether the court should allow this alternative sentence. 

Convicted offenders are often court-ordered to pay for their victims' counseling and medical costs, and legal fees. Those 
who get to remain in the community under supervision must pay for their own treatment. 

Sex Offender Treatment 
Research has shown that special ized sex offender treatment can lower the chances of repeat offending for some sex of­
fenders. This type of treatment specifically focuses on changing abnormal sexual interests, correcting attitudes and beliefs 
that j ustify sexual offending, increasing understanding and empathy for victims and teaching skills to prevent re­
offending and to help offenders lead normal l ives. Only special ists can give this kind of treatment. Sometimes treatment is  
given in the community and other times it happens in prison. 

Prevention 
There are ways in which fami l ies and society can work to make it less l ikely that children will grow up to be offenders. 

Chi ldren who have been physically or sexually abused should have counseling so that they have an opportunity to express their 
feeling and recover from their experiences. 
Famil ies should teach values about sexual behavior that emphasize the importance of consent, respect, and responsibil ity. 
Children should not be exposed to sexually violent magazines, p ictures, or movies. 
Children need opportunities to express all kinds of feel ings in ways that do not hurt others. 

HadJorview Center for Sexual Assault ct Traumatic Stress 
1 40 1  East Jefferson, Ste 400 

Seattle WA 91 1 22 
206-744- 1 600 www.hcslts.org 



When children sexually misbehave, parents should immediately take steps to control the behavior, to get children treatment, and to 
protect other children. 

More than half of adult sex offenders begin offending in adolescence. This does not mean that all teenage sexual misbehavior will 
lead to adult sexual offending. However, the evidence shows that rape, child molesting, or other sexual offenses committed by 
teenagers should not be minimized as adolescent sexual experimentation. I f  these behaviors are not confronted and treated, they 
may develop into patterns that will  be more and more difficult to change. 

We hope the information provided in this booklet wi l l  be helpful to you. Every situation of sexual offending is unique and you 
may have questions that were not answered here. We encourage you to discuss your questions with you counselor. We are here to 
support you. Please let us know of any way we can be of further assistance to you. 

Our mission is to prevent and counter the harmful effects of traumatic experiences on victims, families 

and our community. These experiences include sexual and physical abuse and neglect of children, rape, 
sexual harassment, violent crime, accidents and disasters. Services reflect the values, beliefs and tradi­

tions of our community and are available to people of all ages. We strive to create a society free of inter­
personal violence. 

Founded in 1973, the Harborview Center for Sexual Assault and Traumatic Stress is a Washington state 
accredited Community Sexual Assault Program. 

Harborview Center for Sexual Asslmlt & Traumatic SCRss 
1 40 1 East Jefferson, Ste 400 

Seattle WA 98 1 22 
206-744- 1 600 www.hcsats.org 
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North Dal�ota 
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Child Victims of Sexual  Abuse in North Dakota 

N umbers are rising 
In  20 1 3, North Dakota reported 64 unique child victims of  sexual abuse. This number is  up from 60 in 

20 1 2, 57 in 20 1 1 ,  and 46 in 20 1 0. This growth represents a 39 percent increase in the number of  child 

sexual abuse victims from 20 1 0  to 20 1 3. During this same time frame, the total number of children ages 

O through 1 7  grew 8 percent. When expressed as a rate of all children, child victims of sexual abuse 

rose from 30.6 per 1 00,000 children to 39.3 per 1 00,000 from 20 1 0  to 20 1 3  in North Dakota . 

Child victims of sexual abuse in North Dakota 
Rate per 1 00,000 children ages 0 - 1 7  
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Comparison with other states 
Nationally, nearly 6 1 ,000 children were reported victims of sexual abuse in 20 1 3. This translates to 82.8 

per 1 00,000 children ages 0 through 1 7  in 20 1 3. This rate is down from 85.7 in 20 1 0. 

Among all  states and Puerto Rico, North Dakota had the 1 1 th lowest rate of child sexual abuse in 20 1 3. 

Hawaii and Idaho had the lowest child sexual abuse rates at 22.8 and 22.9 per 1 00.000 children in 20 1 3  

(70 and 98 children, respectively) . 

Note: As not all cases of maltreatment are reported to the proper authorities, it is important to note that these are 

conservative numbers. Also, cases of child maltreatment occurring on tribal lands in North Dakota are processed 

through separate tribal systems and are not included in these numbers . 

Sources: U .S.  C hildren's Bureau. an Office of the Administration for Children & Families, Child Maltreatment 20 1 0-
20 1 2, http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/research-data-technology /statistics-research/child-maltreatment: 

U .S.  Census Bureau, Population Estimates Division, http://www.census.gov/popest/. 
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15.0851 .01001 
Title. 

Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Senator Nelson 

February 10, 2015 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO SENATE BILL NO. 2331 

Page 1, line 1, remove" , 29-04-02," 

Page 1, line 3, remove "; to repeal section 29-04-03.2 of the North" 

Page 1, remove line 4 

Page 1, line 5, remove "application" 

---
Page 1, line 10, remove "there is no limitation of the time within which" 

Page 1, line 11 , remove the overstrike over "wi-ti::lffi" 

Page 1, line 11 , after "se-\fefl" insert "ten" 

Page 1, line 11 , remove the overstrike over "years after the" 

Page 1, remove the overstrike over line 12 

Page 1, line 13, remove the overstrike over "alleged childhood sexual abuse" 

Page 1, remove lines 18 through 24 

Page 2, remove lines 1 through 4 

Page 2, after line 7 insert: 

"i" 

Page 2, line 8, remove "If the victim was under eighteen years of age at the time the offense 
was committed, there" 

Page 2, line 9, replace "is no limitation of the time within which a" with "Except as provided in 
subsection 2, a" 

Page 2, line 10, remove the overstrike over "if the victim was under eighteen years of age at 
#le" 

Page 2, line 11 , remove the overstrike over "time the offense •.vas committed" 

Page 2, line 11 , remove the overstrike over "in the proper court within" 

Page 2, line 11 , after "se-\fefl" insert "ten" 

Page 2, line 11 , remove the overstrike over "yeaFS" 

Page 2, remove the overstrike over lines 12 and 13 

Page 2, line 14, remove the overstrike over "authorities" 

Page 2, after line 14, insert: 

"£:. If. based upon evidence containing deoxyribonucleic acid obtained at the 
time of offense, a suspect is conclusively identified by deoxyribonucleic 
acid testing after the time period prescribed in subsection 1 has expired , 
there is no limitation of the time within which a prosecution may be 

Page No. 1 15.0851 .01001 v~ 
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commenced after the suspect is conclusively identified by the 
deoxyribonucleic acid testing ." 

Page 2, remove lines 15 through 20 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 2 15.0851 .01001 

• 

• 

• 



• 

• 

• 

15.0851 .01002 
,~·~ 
. ~~ .. J 

Sixty-fourth 
Legislative Assembly 
of North Dakota 

Introduced by 

Senators Wanzek, Heckaman 

SE NAT~ 

Representatives Brandenburg, Hogan 

~{ 11 {t? 

1 A BILL for an Act to amend and reenact sections 28-01-25.1 , 29 04 02, and 29-04-03.1 of the 

2 North Dakota Century Code, relating the statute of limitations on the prosecution of and claim 

3 for relief on actions alleging childhood sexual abuse; to repeal section 29 04 oa.2 of the North 

4 Dakota Century Code, relating to statute of limitations as to the ohild viotim; and to provide for 

5 application . 

6 BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA: 

7 SECTION 1. AMENDMENT. Section 28-01-25.1 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

8 amended and reenacted as follows: 

9 28-01-25.1. Limitation on actions alleging childhood sexual abuse. 

10 Notwithstanding section 28-01-25, there is no limitation of the time within whioh a claim for 

11 relief resulting from childhood sexual abuse must be commenced within sevoo ten years after 

12 the plaintiff knew or reasonably should have known that a potential claim exists resulting from 

13 alleged childhood sexual abuse. For purposes of this section , "childhood sexual abuse" means 

14 any act committed by the defendant against the plaintiff which occurred when the plaintiff was 

15 under eighteen years of age and which would have been a violation of chapter 12.1-20 or 

16 12.1-27 .2. In a claim for relief under this section. the plaintiff is not required to establish which 

17 act in a continuous series of sexual abuse acts by the defendant caused the injury. 

18 SECTION 2. AMENDMENT. Scotian 29 04 02 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

19 amended and reenacted as follows: 

20 29 04 02. Prosecution for felony other than murder or sexual abuse of a minor ·.-.iithin 

21 three years. 

22 Exoept as otherwise provided by la•N, a prosecution for any felony other than murder Q£ 

23 sexual abuse of a minor must be commenced within three years after its commission. 

24 Prosecution of felony offenses under chapter 12.1 2a must be oommenoed with in the later of 

J~~W~age No. 1 15.0851 .01002 
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1 three years of oommission of the last aot that is an element of the offense, three years of 

2 disoovery of the stolen property, or three years of disoovery of the loss of the property or • 

3 servioes. ~Jothing in this seotion prevents a person proseouted for murder from being found 

4 guilty of any inoluded offense and punished aooordingly. 

5 SECTION 2. AMENDMENT. Section 29-04-03.1 of the North Dakota Century Code is 

6 amended and reenacted as follows: 

7 29-04-03.1 . Prosecution for sexual abuse of minors. 

8 1. A lf the viotim was under eighteen years of age at the time the offense was oommitted. 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

there is no limitation of the time within vt'hioh aExcept as provided in subsection 2. a 

prosecution for.§. violation of sections 12.1-20-03 through 12.1-20-08 or of section 

12.1 -20-11 if the victim was under eighteen years of age at the time the offense was 

committed must be commenced in the proper court within seveR ten years after the 

commission of the offense or, if the victim failed to report the offense within this 

limitation period, within three years after the offense was reported to law enforcement 

authorities. 

2. If. based upon evidence containing deoxyribonucleic acid obtained at the time of 

offense. a suspect is conclusively identified by deoxyribonucleic acid testing after the 

18 time period prescribed in subsection 1 has expired . a prosecution may be commenced 

19 within three years after the suspect is conclusively identified by the deoxyribonucleic 

20 acid testing. 

21 SECTION 4. REPEAL. Seotion 29 04 03.2 of the North Dakota Century Code is repealed. 

22 SECTION 5. APPLICATION. Notwithstanding any other pro11ision of la1N, in the ease of 

23 alleged sexual abuse of an individual under the age of eighteen, if the olaim for relief would 

24 otherwise be time barred under a previous version of seotion 28 01 25.1 or other time limit, a 

25 olaim for relief for damages under seotion 28 01 25.1 against a person may be oommenoed no 

26 later than four years after the effeotive date of this Ast. 
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15.0851 .01002 
Title. 

Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Senator Nelson 

February 11 , 2015 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO SENATE BILL NO. 2331 

Page 1, line 1, remove", 29-04-02," 

...,....,. ____ _ 
Page 1, line 3, remove "; to repeal section 29-04-03.2 of the North" 

Page 1, remove line 4 

Page 1, line 5, remove "application" 

Page 1, line 10, remove "there is no limitation of the time within which" 

Page 1, line 11 , remove the overstrike over "wft.Affi" 

Page 1, line 11 , after "sevefl" insert "ten" 

Page 1, line 11, remove the overstrike over "years after the" 

Page 1, remove the overstrike over line 12 

Page 1, line 13, remove the overstrike over "alleged childhood sexual abuse" 

Page 1, remove lines 18 through 24 

Page 2, remove lines 1 through 4 

Page 2, after line 7 insert: 

Page 2, line 8, remove "If the victim was under eighteen years of age at the time the offense 
was committed, there" 

Page 2, line 9, replace "is no limitation of the time within which a" with "Except as provided in 
subsection 2 .. a" 

Page 2, line 10, remove the overstrike over "if the victim was under eighteen years of age at 
tl=le" 

Page 2, line 11 , remove the overstrike over "time the offense was committed" 

Page 2, line 11 , remove the overstrike over "in the proper court •.vithin" 

Page 2, line 11 , after "sevefl" insert "ten" 

Page 2, line 11 , remove the overstrike over "yeaFS" 

Page 2, remove the overstrike over lines 12 and 13 

Page 2, line 14, remove the overstrike over "authorities" 

Page 2, after line 14, insert: 

"£. If. based upon evidence containing deoxyribonucleic acid obtained at the 
time of offense. a suspect is conclusively identified by deoxyribonucleic 
acid testing after the time period prescribed in subsection 1 has expired , a 

Page No. 1 15.0851 .01002 



~-~:L 
.?e ~~~ J 

').j /J J J5 prosecution may be commenced within three years after the suspect is 
conclusively identified by the deoxyribonucleic acid testing ." 

Page 2, remove lines 15 through 20 

Renumber accordingly 
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Testimony in  support of 

SB 2331 

March 17, 2015 

By Kathy Hogan, Rep. District 21 

* '  
s 5 a ?J3 J 

3- 1 1 - 13 

Chairman Koppelman and members of the House Judiciary Committee, for the 

record, my name is Kathy Hogan.  I represent District 21 which is the heart of 

Fargo. 

Senate Bil l  2331 is a bi l l  that would change the statute of l imitation and claims 

of rel ief on actions alleging child sexual abuse. This bil l  was introduced on 

behalf of a group of victims of child sexual abuse. Over the last 20 years, our 

society has become much more aware of both the frequency of child sexual  

abuse a nd t h e significant l ifelong impacts of these tragic situations. 

Over the last 10 years, states have begun to recognize the need to revise their 

statutes. I am attaching for your information, a 2013 comparison study of 

various state statutes. 

Part of my interest in this issue is a result of my participation in the Fargo 

Diocese Sexual  Abuse Advisory Committee. In the early 90's, the Fargo Diocese 

acknowledged the serious consequences for both the institution and the victims 

of child sexual abuse. The Church in ND was a leader in establishing protocols 

for investigation, for appropriate discipl inary actions and for assuring strong 

victim services and supports. 

SB 2331 al lows victims the opportunity to pursue legal action. Disclosure of 

child sexual abuse typical ly happens many years after the incidents. I am 

requesting that you seriously consider the original version of SB 2331. 

Thank you for your  consideration. I would be more than wil l ing to answer any 

questions. 
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• Statutes of Limitations for Sexual Assault 
___ A State-~y-Sta!~ Comp~rison_ 

Current as of 8/2112013 

This chart summarizes the applicable state statutes of limitations for the prosecution of various sexual assault crimes. The chart also 
highlights states that have a DNA exception to the statute of limitations. Though the specifics vary from state to state, a DNA exception allows for 
the tolling of a statute of limitations in cases where a perpetrator is later identified through DNA evidence. As of the date of this chart, 27 states have 
some form of a DNA exception that extends the time limit for prosecuting the offense. 

Additionally, 8 states do not have any statute oflimitations for prosecuting felony sexual assault. Of these states, Delaware has no statute of 
limitations for any sexual offense; Wyoming and South Carolina have no statute of limitations for any criminal prosecution. States without a statute 
of limitations would not need a DNA exception. 

Prepared by: 
Brittany Ericksen, Staff Attorney 

Ilse Knecht, Project Manager, Deputy Director Public Policy 

THE NATIONAL CE•TER FOR 

Victims Of Crime ---
All copyright laws apply to the proper use and crediting of these materials. This chart is supported by Grant No. 20 l l -TA-AX-K048 awarded by the Office on Violence Against 

Women, U.S. Department of Justice. The opinions, findings, conclusions, and recommendations expressed in these materials are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily 

reflect the views of the Department of Justice, Office on Violence Against Women. 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

Alabama 
Ala. Code §§ 15-3-1, 15-3-2, 15-3-5 

Rape; Sexual abuse with None 

Alaska 
Alaska Stat. 12.10.010 

Arizona 
Ariz. Rev. Stat.§ 13-107 

violence or threat of 
violence; Sexual offense 
(victim under 16) 
Felon sexual abuse 
Misdemeanor sexual 
abuse 

Sexual assault; Sexual 
abuse a ainst a minor 
Sexual offense against an 
unaware, incapacitated, or 
mentall inca able victim 
Other sexual offenses 

Violent sexual offenses; 
Sexual assault; Sexual 
conduct with a minor 
(under 15 or perpetrated 
b famil I uardian) 

3 ears 
1 year 

None 

10 years 

5 years 

None 

./ (E) The period of limitation does not run for a serious offense as 
defined in section 13-706 during any time when the identity of the 
person who commits the offense or offenses is unknown. 

1 Most states h e provisions tolling the period of limitations if the accused purposely avoids rosecution or does not reside within the state . 



ations for Sexual Assault Offenses 
Sexual conduct with a 7 yearsL 
minor, age 15-18; Sexual 
abuse 

Arkansas ./ (i) If there is biological evidence connecting a person with the 
Ark. Code§ 5-1-109 commission of an offense and that person's identity is unknown, the 

prosecution is commenced if an indictment or information is filed 
against the unknown person and the indictment contains the genetic 
information of the unknown person and the genetic information is 
accepted to be likely to be applicable only to the unknown person. 
G) When DNA testing implicates a person previously identified 
through a search of state or national DNA database, a statute of 
limitations shall not preclude prosecution. 

Sexual offenses against a Before victim 
mm or turns 28 
Rape 6 years 
Sexual assault 3 years 

California ./ A criminal complaint may be filed within one year of the date on 
Cal. Penal Code§§ 799, 800, 801, 803 which the identity of the suspect is conclusively established by 

DNA testing, if both of the following conditions are met: 
(A) The crime is one that is described in subdivision ( c) of Section 

290. 
(B) The offense was committed prior to January 1, 2001, and 

biological evidence.collected in· connection with the offense is 
analyzed for DNA type no later than January l, 2004, or the offense 
was committed on or after January 1, 2001, and biological evidence 
collected in connection with the offense is analyzed for DNA type no 
later than two years from the date of the offense. 

Sexual offenses against a Before victim 
minor turns 28 
Rape 10 years 

Colorado ./ ( a.5) Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (a) of subsection ( 1) 
Colo: Rev. Stat. § 16-5-401 of this section concerning sex offenses against children, in any case 

in which the identity of the defendant is determined, in whole or in 
. ' part; by patterned chemical structure of genetic information, and in 

2 "After actual discovery by the state or political subdivision having jurisdiction of the offense or discovery by the state or the political subdivision that should have occurred with 
the exercise of reasonable diligence, whichever first occurs." 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 
which the offense has been reported to a law enforcement agency, as 
defined in section 26-1-114 (3) (a) (III) (B), C.R.S., within ten years 
after the commission of the offense, there shall be no limit on the 
period of time during which a person may be prosecuted after 
the commission of the offense as to any offense charged: 
(!)'Under section 18-3-402, C.R.S. [sexual assault], or section 18-3-
403, C.R.S.[sexual assault (2nd degree)], as said section existed prior 
to July 1, 2000; or 
(II) As criminal attempt, conspiracy, or solicitation to commit any of 
the offenses specified in subparagraph (I) of this paragraph (a.5). 

Sexual offense against None 
children under 15 
Sexual assault 10 years 

Connecticut v" [T]here shall be no limitation of time within which a person may be 
Conn. Gen. Stat. § 54-193 prosecuted for a violation of section 53a-70 [sexual assault (1st 

degree)], 53a-70a [aggravated sexual assault (1st degree)], 53a-70b 

. l)\. [sexual assault in a spousal or cohabitative relationship], 53a-7 l 
[sexual assault (2nd degree)], 53a-72a [sexual assault (3rd degree)], or 
53a-72b [sexual assault (3rd degree) with a firearm], provided (1) the 
victim notified any police officer or state's attorney acting in such 
police officer's or state's attorney's official capacity of the commission 
of the offense not later than five years after the commission of the 
offense, and (2) the identity of the person who allegedly committed the 
offense has been established through a DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) 
profile comparison using evidence collected at the time of the 
commission of the offense. 

Sex assault of a minor None 
under 16 and with force 
Other sexual assault of a 30 years after 
minor if no force victim attains 

the age of 
majority, or 
within five 
years after 
report to 
authorities, 
whichever is 



tions for Sexual Assault Offenses 
earlierj 

Sexual assault 5 years 
Delaware ./ (i) If the limitation period has expired, a prosecution for any offense 
Del. Code Ann. tit. 11, § 205 in this title may be commenced within 10 years after it is committed 

lifbased upon forensic DNA testing. - '" 

Sexual offenses None4 

District of Columbia 
D.C. Code§ 23-113 

Sexual abuse against a 15 years after 
minor victim turns 21 
Sexual abuse 15 years) 

Florida ./ (15) (a) In addition to the time periods prescribed in this section, a 
Fla. Stat. § 77 5 .15 prosecution for any of the following offenses may be commenced 

within 1 year after the date on which the identity of the accused is 
established, or should have been established by the exercise of due 
diligence, through the analysis of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) 
evidence, if a sufficient portion of the evidence collected at the time of 
the original investigation and tested for DNA is preserved and available 
for testing by the accused: 

1. An offense of sexual battery under chapter 794. 
2. A lewd or lascivious offense under s. 800.04 ors. 825.1025. 

(b) This subsection applies to any offense that is not otherwise barred 
from prosecution between July 1, 2004, and June 30, 2006. 
(16) (a) In addition to the time periods prescribed in this section, a 
prosecution for any of the following offenses may be commenced at 

· any time after the date on which the identity of the accused is 
established, or should have been established by the exercise of due 
diligence, through the analysis of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) 
evidence, if a sufficient portion of the evidence collected at the time of 
the original investigation and tested for DNA is preserved and available 

,, , for testing by the accused: 

3 Provided that ifthe prosecution is for 2nd degree sexual assault and victim is 13 or older but under 16 and offender is more than 3 years older, the victim notified such police 
officer or state's attorney not later than five years after the commission of the offense. 
4 So long as prosecution is not based solely on the victim's memory, if recovered through psychotherapy without independent evidence. 
5 The period of limitation shall not begin to run for 1st degree sexual abuse of a ward (D.C. Code § 22-3013) or 2nd degree sexual abuse of a ward (D.C. Code § 22-3014) until the 
victim is no longer a ward . The period oflimitation shall not begin to run for 1st sexual abuse of a patient or client (D.C. Code § 22-3015) or 2°d degree sexual abuse of a patient or 
client (D.C. Code § 22-3016) until the victim is no longer a patient or client of the actor. 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 
1. Aggravated battery or any felony battery offense under chapter 

784. 
2. Kidnapping under s. 787.01 or false imprisonment under s. 

787.02. 
3. An offense of sexual battery under chapter 794. 
4. A lewd or lascivious offense under s. 800.04, s. 825.1025, ors. 

847.0135(5). 
5. A burglary offense under s. 810.02. 
6. A robbery offense under s. 812.13, s. 812.131, ors. 812.135. 
7. Carjacking under s. 812.133. 
8. Aggravated child abuse under s. 827.03. 

(b) This subsection applies to any offense that is not otherwise 
barred from prosecution on or after July 1, 2006. 

Sexual battery, if victim None 
under 18 years 
Sexual battery with 4 years0

' 
/ 

threat/force 
Other sexual battery 3 years 

Georgia ./ (c-1) A prosecution for the following offenses may be commenced 
Ga. Code§§ 17-3-1, 17-3- at any time when deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) evidence is used to 
2.1 establish the identity of the accused: 

( 1) Armed robbery, as defined in Code Section 16-8-41 ; 
(2) Kidnapping, !IS defined in Code Section 16-5-40; 
(3) Rape, as defined in Code Section 16-6-1; 
(4) Aggravated child molestation, as defined in Code Section 16-6-

4· 
' (5) Aggravated sodomy, as defined in Code Section 16-6-2; or 
(6) Aggravated sexual battery, as defined in Code Section 16-6-

22.2; 
provided, however, that a sufficient portion of the physical evidence 
tested for DNA is preserved and available for testing by the accused 
and provided, further, that if the DNA evidence tloes not establish 
the identity of the accused, the limitation on prosecution shall be as 

6 If the victim was under 18 at the time the offense was committed, the applicable period of limitation does not begin to run until victim has reached the age of 18 or the offense 
is reported to a law enforcement agency, whichever occurs first. 
7 If the victim was 18 or older at the time of commission of the offense and the offense was reported to law enforcement within 72 hours after its commission, there is no statute of 
limitations; if ense was not reported within 72 hours after its commission, the prosecu · ust be commenced within the original statute oflimitations. 



ations for Sexual Assault Offenses 
provided in subsections (b) and ( c) of this Code section. 

Sexual assault against a None 
minor, committed after 
July 1, 2012 
Sexual assault against a 7 years after 
minor, committed before victim turns 16 
July 1, 2012 or the violation 

is reported to 
authorities, 
whichever 
occurs earlier 

Forcible rape 15 years 
Hawaii ./ (3) If the period prescribed in subsection (2) has expired, a prosecution 
Haw. Rev. Stat.§ 701-108 may nevertheless be commenced for: 

... 
(c) Any felony offense involving evidence containing 
deoxyribonucleic acid from the offender, if a test confirming the 
presence of deoxyribonucleic acid is performed prior to expiration of 
the period of limitation prescribed in subsection (2), but in no case 
shall this provision extend the period of limitation by more than ten 
years from the expiration of the period of limitation prescribed in 
subsection (2). 

Sexual assault, class A 6 years 

Sexual assault against a 3-6 years 
minor 
Other sexual assault 3 years 

Idaho 
Idaho Code~~ 19-401, 402 

Rape; Sexual abuse of a None 
child 
Sexual abuse 5 years 
Ritualized abuse of a child 3 years after 

disclosure 
Illinois ./ (a) A prosecution for: , .. any offense involving sexual conduct or 
720 Ill. Comp. Stat'. 5/3-5, sexual penetration, as defined by Section 11-0 .1 of this Code which the 
5/3-6 .. DNA profile of the offender is obtained and entered into a DNA 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

Indiana 
Ind. Code§ 35-414-2 

Sexual abuse/assault 
a ainst a minor 
Sexual abuse/assault 

Rape (class B, C, D, level 
3, 4, 5, 6) 
Listed sex offenses 
a ainst children 9 

Other sex offenses against 
children 

20 years after 
victim turns 18 
10 years (as 
long as victim 
reported 
offense within 
3 years); 
otherwise, 3 
years 

None 
5 years 

Unti l victim 
turns 31 
Within 10 

ears of 

database within 10 years after the commission of the offense, may be 
commenced at.any time. Clause (2) of this subsection (a) applies if 
either: (i) the victim reported the offense to law enforcement authorities 
within 3 years after the commission of the offense unless a longer 
period for repottihg the .offense to law enforcement authorities is 
provided in Section 3-6 or (ii) the victim is murdered during the course 
of the offense or.within 2 ears after the commission of the offense. 

· (b) A prosecution for a Class B or Class C felony (for a crime · 
committed before July 1, 2014) or a Level 3, Level 4, or Level 5 felony 
(for a crime committed after June 30, 2014) that would otherwise be . 
barred under this section may be commenced within one (1) year after. 
the earlier of the date on which the state: 

(1) first discovers evidence sufficient to charge the offender with. 
the offense through DNA (deoxyribonucleic .acid) analysis; or · 

(2) could have discovered evidence sufficient to charge the 
offender with the offense through DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) 
anal sis b the exercise of due dili ence. 

8 For any offense involving sexual conduct or sexual penetration where the defendant was within a professional or fiduciary relationship or a purported professional or fiduciary 
relationship with the victim at the time of the commission of the offense may be commenced within I year after the discovery of the offense by the victim. 
9 Ind . Code§ 35-42-4-3(a) (Child molesting); Ind. Code§ 35-42-4-5 (Vicarious sexual gratification); Ind. Code§ 35-42-4-6 (Child solicitation); Ind. Code§ 35-42-4-7 (Child 
seduction); In de § 35-46-1-3 (Incest). 



ations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

Iowa 
Iowa Code §,·802.2 

a 

Sexual abuse of a minor 

Sexual abuse 
Kansas 
Kan. Stat. Ann~' § 21-5H>7 

comm1ss10n or 
4 years after 
the person 
ceases to be a 
dependent of 
the perpetrator, 
whichever is 
later 

1 0 years after 
victim turns 18 
10 vears 

./ I 1. An information or indictment for sexual abuse in the first, second, or 
third degree committed on c>r'with a person who is under the age of 
eighteen, years shall be found within ten ye~rs ilfter the person upon 
whom the offense is committed attains eighteen years of age, or if the 
person against whom the information or indictment is sought is 
identified through the use of a DNA profile, an information or 
indictment shall be found-within three years from the date the 
person is identified by the p'erson's DNA profile, whichever is later. 
2. An inforrµation or.indictment for any otqer sexual abuse in the first, 
second, or third degree shall be found within ten years after its 
commission, orifthe person against whom the information or 
indictment is sought is identjfied tJ.:irough the use of a DNA profile, an 
information or thdictmeiit shall be found ~ithin three years from the 
date the person is identified by the person is DNA profile, whichever 
is later. 

./I (c) Except as provided in-subsection (e), a prosecution for a sexually 
,violent offense as defined irt ~K.S.A. 22-3717,.,and amendments thereto, 
shall be commencec:f. within the limitation of time provided by the law 

~ftaininl:?: to such offense or one~ vear from the date on which the 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 
identity of the suspect is conclusively established by DNA testing, 
whichever is later. 

Rape None 
Sexually violent crimes 1 0 years after 

• • IO victim turns 18 agamst a mmor 
Sexually violent crimes 11 10 years 

Kentucky 
KY. Rev. Stat.§ 500.050 

Rape; Felony sex abuse None 
Misdemeanor sex abuse 5 years after 
with minor victim turns 18 
Misdemeanor sex abuse 1 year 

Louisiana ./' (1) Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 571.1 and Paragraph A of 
La. Code Crim. Proc. arts. 571, 571.1, 572 this Article, prosecutions for any sex offense-may be commenced 

beyond the time limitations set forth in this Title if the identity of the 
offender is established after the expiration of such time limitation 
through the use of a DNA profile. 

(2) A prosecution under the exception provided by this Paragraph 
shall be commenced within three years from the date on which the 
identity of the susuect is established by DNA testin2. 

Forcible rape None 
Sexual offenses against a 30 years after 
minor victim turns 18 
Sexual offenses 30 years 

Maine 
Me. Rev. Stat. tit. 17-A, § 8 

If victim is under 16: None 
Gross sexual assault; 
Rape; Incest: Unlawful 

10 The statute of limitations is tolled when (A) The victim was a child under 15 years of age at the time of the crime; (B) the victim was of such age or intelligence that the victim 
was unable to determine that the acts constituted a crime; (C) the victim was prevented by a parent or other legal authority from making known to law enforcement authorities the 
fact of the crime whether or not the parent or other legal authority is the accused; and (D) there is substantially competent expert testimony indicating the victim psychologically 
repressed such witness' memory of the fact of the crime, and in the expert's professional opinion the recall of such memory is accurate and free of undue manipulation, and 
substantial corroborating evidence can be produced in support of the allegations contained in the complaint or information but in no event may a prosecution be commenced as 
later than the date the victim turns 28 years of age. Corroborating evidence may include, but is not limited to, evidence the defendant committed similar acts against other persons 
or evidence of contemporaneous physical manifestations of the crime. 
11 Same as ab 



ations for Sexual Assault Offenses 
sexual contact; Sexual 
abuse 
Unlawful sexual contact; 8 years 
Gross sexual assault (class 
A, B, or C) . 
Sexual offense (class D or 3 years 
E) 

Maryland 
Md. Code, Cts. & Jud. Proc. §§ 5-106, 117 

Felony sexual offense or None 1z 

misdemeanor punished by 
imprisonment in a 
penitentiary 
Other misdemeanor sex 1 year 
offense 

Massachusetts 
Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 277, § 63 

Rape or abuse of a child None u 
under 16 
Rape 15 years 
Other sexual offenses 6 years 

.Michigan ./ (Z)(b) .If evidence o-f the offense is obtained and that evidence contains 
Mich. Comp. Laws~ § ; ·DNA that) s determihed to be from an unide:r:itified individual, an 
767.24 I indicttnent against that individual for the offense may be found and 

filed at any time after the offense is committed. However, after the 
i ' it;1d~vidual is identified, the indictment may be found and filed wjthin 

_ ,, 
10 years after the individual is identified or by the alleged victim's 
twenty-first birthday, whichever is later. _ 

Criminal sexual conduct None 
(1 st degree) 
Criminal sexual conduct 10 years (or by 
(2nd - 4th degrees) the victim' s 21 

birthday, 
whichever is 

12 Smallwood v. State, 443 A.2d 51 2, 1006 (Md. 1996). 
13 Any indictment or complaint found and filed more than 27 years after the date of commission of such offense must be supported by independent evidence that corroborates the 
victim's allegation. 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

Minnesota 
Minn. Stat. § 628.26 

Mississippi 
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-1-5 

Criminal sexual conduct 
with a minor 

Criminal sexual conduct 

later) 

9 years after 
commission of 
the offense or 
within 3 years 
after the 
offense was 
reported to 
authorities, 
whichever is 
later 

Rape (including statutory None 
rape); Sexual battery of a 
child 
Other sexual offenses 2 ears 

./ (f) Notwithstanding the limitations in paragraph (e), indictments or . 
complaints for violation of sections 609 .342 to 609 .344 [criminal 
sexual conduct (1st, 2nd, and 3rd degree)] may be found or made-and 
filed in the proper court at any time after commission of the offense, if ' 
physical evidence is collected and preserve~ that is capable of being 
tested for its DNA characteristics. If this evidence is not collected and 
preserved and the victim was 18 years old or older at the time of the . 
offense, the prosecution must be commenced within nine years after 
the commission of the offense. 

(n) The limitations period contained in this sec;tion shall not include · 
any period of time during which physical evidence relating to the 
offense was undergoing DNA analysis, unless the defendant 
demonstrates that the prosecuting or law enforcement agency 
purposefully delayed the DNA analysis process in order to gain an 
unfair advanta e. 

14 The limitations periods shall not include any period of time during which physical evidence relating to the offense was undergoing DNA analysis, as defined in section Minn. 
Stat. § 299C. l SS, unless the defendant demonstrates that the prosecuting or law enforcement agency purposefully delayed the D A analysis process in order to gain an unfair 
advantage. 



ations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

Missouri 
Mo. Rev. Stat. §§ 556.036, 556.037 

Forcible rape None 

Other sexual offenses 30 years after 
involving a minor victim turns 18 
Other sexual offenses 2 years 

Montana ./ (b)(9) If a suspect is conclusively identified by DNA testing after a 
Mont. Code § 45-1-205 time period prescribed in subsection (l)(b) or (l)(c) has expired, a 

prosecution may be commenced within one year after the 
suspect is conclusively identified by DNA testing. 

Sexual assault against a 1 0 years after 
minor victim turns 18 
Sexual assault; Sexual 10 years 
intercourse without 
consent 
Other felony sexual 5 years 
offense 

Nebraska 
Neb. Rev. Stat.§ 29•110 

Sexual assault (1st or 2na None 
degree); Sexual assault of 
a minor (1st or 2nd degree); 
Sexual assault of a minor 
(3rd degree), if victim 
under 16; Incest 
Other felony sexual 3 years 
offenses 

Nevada 
Nev. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§ 171.083 , 171.085, 171.095 . . 

Sexual assault, if written None 
report made before statute 
of limitations expires 
Child sexual abuse Before the 

victim turns 
21 , if victim 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 
discovered or 
should have 
discovered she 
was a victim, 
otherwise age 
28 

Sexual assault 4 years 
New Hampshire 
N.H. Rev. Stat.~ 625:8 

.. 

Sexual assault if victim is 22 years after 
under 18 victim turns 18 
Sexual assault 6 years 

New Jersey ./ ( c) An offense is committed either when every element occurs or, if a 
N.J. Stat. Ann.§ 2C:l-6 legislative purpose to prohibit a continuing cburse of conduct plainly 

appears, at t,he time When the course of conduct or the defendant's 
complicity therein is terminated. Time starts to run on the day after the 
offense is committed, except that when the ptosecution is supported by 
physical evidence that identifies the actor by means of DNA testing or 
fingerprint analysis, time does not start to run until the State is in 
possession of both the physical evidence and the DNA or 
fingerprint evidence necessary to establish the identification of the 
actor by means of comoarison to the physicaLevidence. 

Sexual assault None 
Other sexual offenses 5 years 

New Mexico ./ (A) When DNA evidence is available and a suspect has not been 
N.M. Stat. Ann.§ 30'-l-8, 30-1-9.1 , 30-1-9 . .2 identified,. the applicable t\me period for commencing a prosecution 

pursuant to Section 30-1-8 NMSA 1978 [statute oflimitations] shall 
not commence to run for an alleged violation of Section 30-9-11 
NMSA 1978 [criminal sexual penetration) until a DNA profile is 
matched with a suspect. 

Criminal sexual None 
penetration resulting in 
bodily harm or victim 



Statute ofL ations for Sexual Assault Offenses 
under 13 (1 st degree) 
Criminal sexual 6 years' ) 
penetration (2nd degree) 
Criminal sexual 
penetration (3rd and 4th 

5 years 1
ti 

degrees) 
New Yorkn 

·~ •' ./ f ... <J. 1 

N.Y. Crim. Pro. Law§ 30.10 ,, 
" ~ \ .... -

Rape; Criminal sexual act; None 
Aggravated sexual abuse; 
Course of sexual conduct 
against a child 
Other felony sex offenses 5 years 

North Carolina 
State v. Hardin, 201 S.E.2d 74 (N.C. Ct. App. 1973) 

Rape; Other felony sexual None 
offenses 

North Dakota 
N.D. Cent. Code,§§ 29-04-02.1, 29-03.1, 29-03.2, 29.04.02 

Sexual abuse of minor 7 years or 3 
years after 
report is 
made 18 

Gross sexual imposition, 7 years 
if serious bodily injury 
Other felony sex offenses 3 years 

Ohio 
Ohio Rev. Code Ann.§ 2901.13 

15 If the victim was under 18 during the commission of the crime, the statute will not run until the victim reaches age 18 or the violation is reported to a law enforcement agency, 
whichever occurs first. 
16 If the victim was under 18 during the commission of the crime, the statute will not run until the victim reaches age 18 or the violation is reported to a law enforcement agency, 
whichever occurs first. 

. . 
.. 

17 Although New York does not have a statutory DNA exception, the common law suggests its existence in certain cases. See People v. Ramos, 877 N.Y.S.2d 177 (N.Y. App. Div. 
2009) (extending the 5 year statute of limitation to 10 years, noting that the defendants whereabouts were unknown until he was identified through a DNA profile match from a 
rape kit); People v. Brown, 890 N.Y.S.2d 415 (N.Y. App. Ct. 2009) (allowing an action to continue though the complaint was filed well beyond the 5 year statute of limitations 
because recent DNA evidence made the defendants identity known). 
18 If victim is under 15, the statute of limitations will not run until victim reaches age 15 . .D. Cent. Code§ 29-04-03.2 
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Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

Oklahoma 
22 Okla. Stat. tit. 22, § 152 

Oregon 
Or. Rev. Stat.§ 131.125 

Unlawful sexual conduct 
with a minor 

Rape; Sexual battery; 
Gross sexual im osition 

Lewd or indecent 
proposals or acts against 
children 
Ra e; Forcible sodom 

20 years after 
victim turns 18 
or after 
notification to 
authorities 
20 years 

12 years after 
discovery19 

12 ears 

./ 2. However, prosecutions for the crimes listed in paragraph 1 of this 
subsection may be commenced at any. time a'rter the commission of 
the offense if: 

a. the victim notified law enforcement within twelve (12) years 
after the. discovery 'of the crime 
1:5. physical evidence is collected and preserved that is capable of .. 
being tested to obtain a profile froin deoxytj~onucleic acid (DNA), · 

·· and '' · · · 

c. the identity of the offender is subsequently established through 
the use of a DNA profile using evidence listed in subparagraph b 

of this paragraph. -
A prosecution under this exception must be commenced within three 
(3) years from the date on which the identity of the suspect is 
established b DNA testin . 

./ (8) Notwithstanding subsection (2) of this section, ifthe defendant is 
identified after the period described in subsection (2) of this section on 
the basis of DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid) sample comparisons, a 
prosecution for: 
(a) Rape in the first degree, sodomy in the first degree, unlawful sexual 
penetration in the first degree or sexual abuse in the first degree may 
be commenced at any time after the commission of the crime. 
(b) Rape in the second degree, sodomy in the second degree or 
unlawful sexual penetration in the second degree may be commenced 
within 25 years after the commission of the crime. 
(9) Notwithstandin subsection (8) of this section, if a rosecution for a 

19 "Discovery" ans the date a victim under 18 is reports the crime to a law enforcement a , up to and including one year after the victim turns 18. 



ations for Sexual Assault Offenses 
felony listed in subsection (8) of this section would otherwise be barred 
by subsection (2) of this section, the prosecution must be commenced 
within two years of the DNA-based identification of the defendant. 

Rape or sexual abuse of a Before the 
minor victim turns 30 

or within 12 
years after the 
offense is 
reported to 
authorities, 
whichever 
occurs first 

Rape; Sodomy; Unlawful 6 years 
penetration; Sexual abuse 

Pennsylvania ./ ( c-1) Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary; if evidence 
42 Pa. Cons. Stat. § 5552 of a misdemeanor sexual offense set forth in subsection (c)(3) or a 

felony offense is obtained containing human deoxyribonucleic acid 
(DNA) which is subsequently us_ed to identify an otherwise 
unidentified individual as the perpetrator of the offense, the prosecution 
of the offense may be coinmenced within the period of limitations -- provided for the offense or one y~ar after the identity of the 
individual is determined, whichever is later. 

Sex offenses against a Until victim 
minor victim turns 50 
Rape; Sexual assault; 12 years 
Sexual abuse; Deviant 
sexual intercourse 

Rhode Island 
R.I. Gen. La:ws § 12-12-17 

Rape; Sexual assault (I st None 
degree); Child molestation 
(1 st and 2nd de1rree) 
Other sex assault 3 years 

South Carolina .. 
Any criminal prosecution None 

South Dakota 
S.D. Codified Laws-§§ 22-22~1; 23A-42-2 ~ ·'· -- ' 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 
Rape (1 st and 2na degree) None 
Rape (3ra and 41

h degree) Before victim 
turns 25 or 
within 7 years 
of the 
commission of 
the crime, 
whichever is 
longer 

Other sex offenses 7 years 
Tennessee.:u 
Tenn. Code Ann. § 40-2-101 

Child victim, prior to July Until age 18 or 
1, 1997: Aggravated rape ; 4 years after 
Rape; Aggravated sexual offense, 
battery; Sexual battery; whichever is 
Incest later 
Child victim between July Until age 21 
1, 1997- June 2006 : 
Aggravated rape; Rape; 
Aggravated sexual 
battery; Sexual battery; 
Incest 
Child victim on or after 25 years after 
June 2006: Aggravated age 18 
rape; Rape; Aggravated 
sexual battery; Sexual 
battery; Incest 
Aggravated rape 15 years 
Rape; Aggravated sexual 8 years 
battery 
Other sexual offenses 4-2 years 

Texas v" [F]elony indictments may be presented within these limits, and not 
Tex. Code Crim. Proc. art. 12.01 afterward: 

20 The Tennessee legislature considered a bill that would allow for the prosecution of aggravated rape, rape, aggravated rape of a child, rape of a child, aggravated sexual battery, 
and sexual battery to be commenced within a year of when D A evidence established the identity of the accused. This bill assigned to subcommittee on 3/26/201 3. See H.B 2685, 
S.B 2136, 107th n. Assemb., Reg. Sess. (Tenn. 201 2). 



ations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

Sexual assault of a child; None 
Abuse of a child 

Utah 
Utah Code Ann~§§ 76-1-301, 76-1-302 

Rape; Rape of a child; 
Object rape; Object rape 
of a child; Forcible 
sodomy; Sodomy on a 
child; Aggravated sexual 
abuse of a child; Sexual 
abuse of a child; 
A avated sexual assault 
Forcible sexual abuse; 
Incest 

None 

Within 8 years 
after the 
offense is 
committed, 

rovided that 

(1) no limitation: 

(B) sexual assault, if during the investigation of the 
offense biological matter is collected and subjected to forensic 
DNA testing and the testing results show that the matter does not 
match the victim or any other person whose identity is readily 
ascertained; 

-" (2)(a) Prosecution for the offenses listed in Subsections 76-3-
203.S(l)(c)(i)(A) through (BB) [habitually violent offenders] may be 
commenced at any time if the identity of the person who 
committed the crime is unknown but DNA evidence is collected 
that would identifythe person at a later date 21 

(b) Subsection (2)(a) does not apply if the statute of limitations on 
a crime has run ·as of May 5, 2003, and no charges have been filed. 
(3) If the statute 0£ limitations would have n,m but for the provisions 
of Subsection (2) and identification of a perpetrator is made through 
DNA, a prosecution .shall be commenced within on~ y~r of the 
discovery of the identity of the perpetrator. 

21 The above provision does not apply if the statute of limitations on an offense has run as of May 5, 2003, and no charges have been filed 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

Vermont . . 
Vt. Stat. Ann. tit. 13, 

Virginia 
V:a. Code Ann. § 19 .2-8 

Washington _ 

Other felonies 

the offense 
was reported to 
a law 
enforcement 
agency within 
4 years after 
commission of 
the offense 

Aggravated sexual None 
assault; Aggravated 
sexual assault against a 
child 
Sexual assault of a minor Within 40 

years of the 
assault 

Sexual assault; Sexual 
abuse against a vulnerable 

erson 

Felony criminal sexual 
assault 

6 years 

Wash. Rev. Code § 9A.04.080 

Rape of victim under 18 
(1st or 2nd degree); Rape 
of a child (1 5

\ 2nd or 3rd 

de ree) 
Rape (1 s or 2n degree) 

Before victim 
turns 30 

10 years if 
reported to 
law 

{j)(3) In any prosecution for a sex offense as defined in RCW 
9.94A.030, the periods of limitation prescribed in subsection (1) of this 
section run from the date of commission or one year from the date on . 
which the identity of the suspect is conclusively established by 
deo ribonucleic acid testin , whichever is later. 



tions for Sexual Assault Offenses 

West Virginia 
(\ W. Va. Code 61-11-9 ,)1-..J 

Wisconsin 
Wis; Stat. § 939.74 

Rape (1 51 or 2n degree), if 
not reported within 1 year 

enforcement 
within 1 year 
of commission 
If victim age 
14 or older: 
within 3 years 
of 
commission. 
If victim under 
14 years: 3 
years after 
victim turns 
18, or 7 years 
after 
commission, 
whichever is 
later 

Other felon sex offenses 6-3 ears 

Felon sex offense None 
Misdemeanor sex offense 1 ear 

(2d) (c) If, before the applicable time limitation under sub. (1) or (2) 
(am), ( c ), or (cm) for commencing prosecution of a fe.lony under ch. 
940 [crimes against life and bodily security] or 948 [crimes against 
children], other than a felony specified in sub. (2) (a) [including sexual 
assault (1st degree) and sexual assault of a child (lst degree)], expires, 
the state collects biological material that is evidence of the identity of 
the person who committed the felony, identifies a deoxyribonucleic 
acid profile from the biological material, and compares the 
deoxyribonucleic acid profile to deoxyribonucleic acid profiles of 
known persons, the· state may commence prosecution of the person 
who is the solirce of the biologiCal material for the felony or a crime 
that is related to the felony or both within 12 months after 
comparison or the deoxyribonucleic acid profile relating to the 
felony results in a probable identification of the person or within t~e 
a ·ncable time under sub. l or 2 , whichever is latest. 



Statute of Limitations for Sexual Assault Offenses 

Sexual assault (1 st 
degree); Sexual assault of 
a child (1 st de ree) 
Other listed sexual 
offenses a ainst children 
Other felony sexual 
assault 

None 

Before victim 
turns 45 
6 years 

None 

( e) If, within 6 years after commission of a felony specified under sub. 
(2) (a) [including sexual assault (1st degree) and sexual assault of a 
child (1st degree)], the state collects biological material that is evidence 
of the identity of the person who committed the felony, identifies a 
deoxyribonucleic acid profile from the biological material, and 
compares the deoxyribonucleic acid profile to · deoxyribonucleic acid 
profiles of known persons, the state may commence prosecution of the 
person who is the source of the biological material for a crime that is 
related to the felony within 12 months after comparison of the 
deoxyribonucleic acid profile relatin~tothe felony results in a 
probable identification of the person or within the applicable time 
under sub. 1 or 2 , whichever is latest. 
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SB 233 1 

Chairm an Kim K oppelman and members of the House Judiciary 

Committee :  

For the record, my name is  B etty J o  Krenz. I am from Woodworth 

North D akota and I am an advocate for victims of abuse and a survivor. 

I want to v is it with each of you about why it is  so important to pass SB 
233 1 .  

We need to break the si lence for ourselves, and others for the safety and 

protection of the chi ldren . When we break the si lence together, we strip 

the shame and stigma of sexual abuse of chi ldren . 

Today, I speak for the girl that l ives next door, your cousin, your sister, 

your s ister-in-law, your niece, your best-friend, your wife, your 

classmate or your dorm m ate. We speak for all the children who have 

been sexual ly abused and do not have the courage to stand up and speak 

for them selves. 

Sexual abuse is  more prominent that we choose to think. It i s  in your 

neighborhood, in your community and in your county . 

We look away from it and choose to ignore it. Th is  behav ior m akes it  

impossible for the v ictims to come to terms with the past and to heal 

from the long-term symptoms they develop from the abuse. Looking 
away from or ignoring sexual abuse is happen ing and it  al lows the 

offender to continue to abuse those around them . The average sex 

offender has 20 victims by the time their "career" has ended. 

By the time the human brain m atures at 25 years of age, long term abuse 

h as already taken place and the effects from it are firmly cemented into 

the person ' s  being. If and when they find the courage and strength to 
disclose the abuse, they are called l iars and branded as troubled youth 

and problematic.  Many are tol d  that no one wil l  bel ieve their story and 

"who is going to care anyway?" Defeated, the victims s l ide into an 
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unrealistic self-image, self-harm, legal issues and fai led rel ationships are 

typical of an individual that fights this  internal battle .  They are told they 
are trouble makers and are labeled as damaged. They l ive in constant 

emotional pain and most are not allowed to talk about what is hurting so 

badly.  I f  somebody has cancer or a broken bone, they are given the 

opportunity to heal , and people have empathy for their situation. When a 

victim of sexual abuse, or any chi l dhood abuse for that matter, show 

behaviors that demonstrate their pain, they are referred to as l iars or 
attention seekers. The victims have rto self worth and do not feel  they 

are deserving of love. We fear abandonment every moment of every day, 

we are constantly on high alert afraid of what could happen next. There 

is no such thing as "rel axing". Even in the best of times I fear the worst. 

Th is  cycle  needs to end. Healing needs to take place.  Taking away the 

statute of l imitations on sexual abuse of a minor wi l l  give the victim a 

chance to val idate the crime and have a starting point from where they 

can begin to heal . Not every victim will  step forward and take 

advantage of the b i l l ,  but it wil l  leave the door open for anyone who 

chooses that path . 

I am happy the Senate took the time to l isten to us and recognized that 

our l aw as it stands is not in the best interest of the victims of sexual 
abuse. They added a few things that are difficult for me to understand. 

The so-cal led reasonable person in  the eyes of the law, is  a 
creation of legal fiction . Such a "person " is  real ly an ideal , 
focusing on how a typical person ,  with ord inary prudence ,  would 
act i n  certain ci rcumstances. The test as to whether a person has 
acted as a reasonable person is an objective one, and so it does 

not take into account the specific abi l it ies of the victim .  Thus,  even 

a person who has had ch ronic abuse and the brain is physical ly 
changed is  held to the same standard as a non abused perso n .  I t  
has been proven that sexual abuse changes the way the brai n 

develops .  See attached photog raphs . 
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One in s ix  boys and one in four girls wil l  be sexually abused by the time 

they are 1 8 . I f  you put that into perspective for North Dakota,' consider 
thi s :  

In 20 1 3 , North D akota's population count for children under the age o f  

1 8  was 1 62,688 .  Of that population, 83 ,267 were boys and 79,42 1 were 

girls .  Using the percentages given above, 1 3 ,877 boys and 1 9,855  girls 
wi l l  be sexually abused by the time they are 1 8 . To add further 

perspective, i f  you have a classroom with forty students, at some point, 

eight of those students will  have been or will  be sexually abused. That 

rounds out to 20 percent of North Dakota's youth who wil l  or have 

suffered sexual abuse by the time they are 1 8 . According to statistics 

published for 20 1 3  on the N DKidsCount Web site, there were 64 unique 

cases child sexual abuse. This figure is  grossly low. A simple bit of 

rough m ath using the above statistics will  tel l  you that in  20 1 3 ,  there 

were 1 784 ch i ldren who were victim ized. The 64 unique cases is not a 

representative number of the cases that are actually taking place . 

The Administration for Children and Families estimates the 
economic burden of child abuse and neglect in the United States 
at an average of $210,012 per child, including long-term health 
care, lost productivity, child welfare, criminal justice and special 
education costs. 

While  working as an advocate in the state of North D akota, I have 

spoken to women who claim that 80% of their fami ly members or 

fem ale friends have been raped or were v ictims of chi ldhood 

abuse.  That number is  not only shocking, but it' s unacceptable.  

Sexual offenders are m asters at grooming their victims,  and when they 

groom the victim s appropriately, they (the offenders) know that nobody 

wil l  bel ieve the v ictims.  They wil l  tel l  the child that it' s  a "special kind 

of love that has to be a secret," and/or they are told "mommy or your 

s ister wil l  be j ealous and m ad if you tel l ."  These perpetrators are master 

• m anipulators and wil l  continue to abuse unless we stop them . 



• Ten states have removed the statute of l im itations on sexual abuse of a 

minor; in fact, Kentucky has completely removed al l statute of 

l imitations on A L L  felonies ! N orth Dakota nice does not apply to sex 

offenders ! Let ' s  take the lead in th is fight, and tel l  all abusers that it is  

not OK to offend in state of North Dakota. 

• 

• 

Thank you for your time, I want to personally thank you for l isten ing to 

me and offering to work with us to change this  law. 

Betty Jo Krenz 
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March 17, 2015 I Theresa Semmens 

2331 

Chairman Koppelma n  a nd Mem bers of the Senate House of Representatives Jud iciary 

Com mittee : 

Tha n k  you for you r  interest in Senate B i l l  233 1 .  

My n a m e  is  Brenda Frost and I a m  speaking on behalf o f  Theresa Semmens, o n e  o f  t h e  b i l l s  

pr imary advocates 

Theresa Sem m e n s  is from Fa rgo and was unab le  to be here today d ue to work com mitments. 

As the bi l l  has been i ntrod uced and described to you, 2331 seeks to remove the statute of 

l i m itations for ch i ld  sexua l a buse for crimina l  a n d  civil proceed i ngs. This s a crucia l step i n  

a l lowing s u rviving sexua l  chi ld a buse victims in  t h e  course o f  their hea l ing t o  be a b l e  t o  have 

tools and recou rse needed to complete that process. 

Testimony, both personal  and expert related to the vict ims and su rvivors of chi ldhood sexua l  

a buse has been presented to you for you r  review and consideration.  Today is  the sta rt of many 

conversations, d iscussions and work that wi l l  provide means and ways to protect North 

Da kota's ch i l d re n  aga inst these heinous crimes. 

I want to provide you with a description of a "typical" chi ld hood sexua l  a buse offender profi le 

. a long with facts re lated to their behavior. The information I am sharing with you was gleaned 

from resea rch reports, law enforcement websites and sites ded icated to preventing chi ld a buse 

a n d  test imony s h a red with me from actua l victi ms. 

Who is  a chi ld sexual  a buse offender? They are a heterogeneous gro u p  and do not fa l l  a long 

any specific socioeconomic or socia l  ach ievement spectrums.  Intel l igence levels va ry a mong 

them; a nd most a re not menta l ly  i l l  or  psychotic. In fact, there is  no such th ing as a typica l 

p rofi le .  They ca n be the vol u nteer softba l l  coach, the fou rth grade teacher, the footbal l  

q ua rterback, the owner of the loca l bowling a l ley, a n  u ncle, brother, cousin o r  neigh bor. They 

can be a fa rmer, ba nker, p l u m ber  o r  someone who is  retired, and both genders ca n be 

offenders.  Each offender shares common behavior tra its and cha racteristics. I wi l l  exp la in  a few 

of those to you .  

• Seventy percent of a d u lt offenders a d m itted they had begun their  deviant sexual  

behaviors as ado lescents. 

• Offenders justify their  behavior through 

o Denia l  - they refuse to a d m it to others and even to themselves they have 

com m itted sexua l  assau lts. They may say, "It's a l ie,  I never d i d  that," o r  "She/he 

agreed to it." 
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o Rationalizing - this involves blaming the victim, other people or circumstances. 

You might hear, "It wasn't my fault, she/he asked for it," or I was drunk and 

didn't know what I was doing." 

o Minimizing - this is used by offenders to deny the seriousness of the acts. It is 

not unusual to hear "She is too little to understand what happened," "I didn't 

really hurt her," "It wasn't that bad, he liked it," or "It wasn't penetration, how 

can it be a crime?" 

• Child molesters may engage in incestuous, as well as non-incestuous abuse and may 

target children of both genders. 

• If the child victim is under the age of 12, 90% know their offender, and almost half of 

the offenders are a family member. Of sexual assaults against individuals 12 years-old 

and up, 80% of the victims know the offender. 

• In the majority of cases, abusers gain access to their victims through deception, 

coercion, enticement, threats and fear. They seldom use force or violence. 

• While there is a small subset of offenders who are exclusively attracted to children, the 

majority who sexually abuse children are {or have been} attracted to adults. Most are 

married or in a consenting relationship. 

• No assumptions can be made about an offender's preference. Research and anecdotal 

evidence indicate that some sex offenders choose only one type of victim, while others 

prey on different types. 

• Because of the age difference, children are unable to legally consent to sexual acts. They 

do not have the ability to say no, they can only cooperate. 

We received several letters of testimony through our Face book page, "Child Survivors for 

Justice," and our email address, childsurvivor@gmail.com. These three excerpts carry a 

powerful message and validate the description I have shared with you. 

The first excerpt taken from "Proud Mom of 3 boys under 3:" She states, "You are probably 
wondering why I did not tell anyone. I can tell you when I was very little, he would threaten me. 
He told me my toys would be taken away, no one would believe or love me and I would be sent 

away. He told me it was our secret and I would get into big trouble if I told. The neighbor girl 
was also molested by him and she came forward. I remember how terrible the entire family 
talked about this girl, saying that she had problems and that she was lying, that they were poor, 

etc. This girl was pretty much coerced into saying that she lied and that it didn't happen. I felt 

ashamed and embarrassed. I knew that if I came forward the same fate would happen to me. I 
lived in fear every day when I went to my Grandma's house. I would cry and tell my mother I did 
not want to go. She thought it was because it was "boring" or because Grandma was not the 
best housekeeper. So she would force me to go. (I know my mother has severe guilt over this 

because she did not realize what was going on.)" 

A second excerpt is taken from an email sent to us from Ginger. She shares, "You need to pass 
this bill so when children are mature and strong enough to face their offenders, they are able to 
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do this, not when they ore still children. As the statutes stand, if the abuse stopped at age 7, a 

victim would only have until age 14 to report it. This needs to CHANGE! Children ore not able to 

express easily that they are being abused. As a victim of child sexual abuse, I can say that it is 

very hard to express this due to being intimidated, being told that your parents will fight and get 

divorced, that no one will believe you and that you will no longer have a family. I did tell my 

grandmother and she did not believe me. When the abuse finally did come out from another 

victim and I collaborated, I was told to be quiet and that "boys will be boys, " and it would 

"break my grandpa's heart. " So, even at 24 years of age I did not pursue the abuse because I 

was pressured by family members not to say anything. Can you imagine being told this as a 

child?" 

The th i rd excerpt written by a 61 yea r-old gra nd mother states "/ write this letter for all those 

who have been abused and because of state laws are not allowed to bring charges against their 

abusers. The laws do not take into consideration that many of us were abused when young 

children. I was eight years old when my father began molesting me. Think back to when you 

were eight years old. Can you even begin to imagine the pain and anguish of an eight year old 

who looked to her father for protection ? What about all the victims who couldn't handle such 

an assault and blocked it in their mind? Many do not recall what was done to them until 

decades later! When I did seek counseling, I was told more than two-thirds of incest victims 

commit suicide!! 

As I mentioned, I was eight years old. That was over 53 years ago but still remains in my mind, 

never to be forgotten. When my father started molesting me, I cried for a long time. I made 

attempts to tell my mother, but she wasn't interested and told me to obey my father. When he 

would come for me, I tried screaming and fighting him. His solution to that was to tell me it was 

OK, he would simply take my sisters instead!! You can't imagine what that did to me!! My 

sisters were five and two!!!! Needless to say I had to comply to protect my little sisters!! 

This doesn't even begin to tell the atrocities that were done to me!! Yet, if someone is finally 

strong enough to bring charges against their abusers, they simply can't because of the laws. Do 

you honestly believe a child is going to bring charges ? What about those who blocked it out? 

Their abusers seem to think you should just let it go because it's in the past. How convenien t!! 

How nice that the courts and lawmakers allow children to have no recourse because the statute 

of limitation passed before they were even teenagers!! How convenient. For all those who 

committed suicide or have crumbled under the returning memories, I say it's time to change the 

laws!! Allow those individuals to grow and become trusting of their fellow man so they are no 

longer bound by the "secret". 

It is i mportant to u n dersta nd that offenders a lways m a ke a choice when they commit sexua l  

offenses.  They decide to act even though it is wrong. Nothing a victim does can m a ke a person 

com mit a sexua l  offense.  
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The information p resented to you today does not adequately describe how i m porta nt it is to 

pass 2 3 3 1 .  Removing the statute of l i mitations for chi ld  sexua l  a buse crimes wil l  give vict ims 

and su rvivors, when they a re strong i n  mind,  spi rit and body a chance to face their  offender o r  

offenders in  a lega l venue, a l beit, civil o r  cri m i n a l .  Through Betty Jo Krenz's testimony, Heather 

S imon ich's presentation and s l ides, and Lovice Brandenburg's persona l  testimony, you learn the 

strength and hea l i ng does n ot happen u nti l  the vict im is in  their  30s, 40s and even 50s. 

On behalf of Theresa Sem m ens, I thank Senators Terry Wanzek and Joan Heckaman,  and 

Representatives Kathy Hoga n a n d  M i ke Bra ndenburg for sponsoring this  b i l l .  Th is  b i l l  i s  

i m portant for protecting North Dakota's ch i ldren .  We a re getting sta rt ing the conversation, a n d  

the passing o f  the b i l l , o r  s o m e  form o f  it w i l l  h e l p  t o  further that conversation and work. 

Tha n k  you for taking the time to listen to and to visit with us today. 

Brenda Frost o n  behalf of Theresa Semmens, Fa rgo North  Da kota, District 27 

Theresa Sem m e n s  

4415 47th Street South 

Fa rgo, North Dakota 

Theresa .Y.Se m m e ns@gma i l .com 
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CHILD SEXUAL ABUSE 
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Number of sexual 
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1 in 3 
girls are 

sexually abused 1°/o 1 in 5 
of child molesters 

are female 
boys are 

sexually abused 

400,000 
Number .of convicted pedophiles Jiving in the U.S. 

Only 1 in 10 children 
will tell someone 

they were molested 

80% 
of sexual abuse 
survivors have 

druglalcot10l problems 

20% 
.of male sexual abuse 

survivors will 
attempt suicide 

$20 billion 
Estimated annual mental health 

care cost of child sexual abuse in the U.S. 
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This picture represents how victims feel .  When posted on Facebook on the 

Chi ld Su rvivors for J ustice Page, the photo gathered several  comments. Al l  

who responded agreed that "You can"t  see· the scars but you wil l  a lways feel 

the hands a l l  over you . . . . .  " 
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Letters of Testimony from Victims 

Letter from a 61-year-old g rand m other  w h o  is  a victim/survivor 

I write this letter for al l  those who have been abused and because of state laws are not a l lowed to bring 

charges against their a busers. The laws do not take into consideration that many of us were a bused 

when young chi ld ren. I was eight years old when my father bega n molest ing me. Think back to when 

you were eight years old.  Ca n you even begin to imagine the pa in  and anguish of an  eight year  old who 

looked to her father for protection? What about a l l  the victims who couldn't handle such an  assault and 

blocked it in their mind? Many do not reca l l  what was done to them u nti l  decades later! When I d id 

seek counseling, I was told more than two-th i rds of incest victims commit suicide ! !  

As I mentioned, I was eight years old. That was over 53 years ago but sti l l  remains i n  my mind, never to 

be forgotten.  When my father started molesting me, I cried for a long time. I made attem pts to tel l  my 

mother, but she wasn't interested and told me to obey my father. When he would come for me, I tried 

screaming a nd fighting h im.  His solution to that was to tell me it was OK, he would s imply take my 

sisters instead ! !  You can't imagine what that did to me ! !  My s isters were five and two ! ! ! !  Needless to 

say I had to comply to protect my l ittle sisters ! !  

M y  father was a very mean and nasty individual .  H e  beat a l l  of us kids whenever the opportun ity 

a l lowed (there were three gi rls and two boys) .  I learned over t ime that I cou ld manipu late my way out 

of beatings by threaten ing him with non-compliance ! As a result, I became a very man ipu lative chi ld 

and teenager. I became very adept at being the qu iet sneak ! ! My brothers and sisters were 

dumbfou nded that I received less and less beatings ! !  There were many outraged cries by my sibl ings as 

no one cou ld u nderstand why I got away with murder ! !  

When we moved t o  a d ifferent state, a l l  five of u s  kids had t o  share one bedroom .  I was 1 6  then and 

that's when I decided enough ! !  My sister and I had to share a bed. So, when my father tried to come 

for me, I pinched my sister under the covers so she wou ld wake up screaming! That ended it ! !  I wi l l  

never forget my father's face when I sneered at him and told h im to take out his woes on my mother ! ! 

Things settled down, but as I became older and sta rted spending time with friends, my father would 

beat my sisters to see if they knew where I was and what I was doing. It became so bad I final ly pu l led 

him aside and told him he was done. If he d idn't stop beating my sisters, I told him I would go to the 

police. Then he could explain to them, my mother and God why I would come up with such a story. I 

explained the doubt wou ld be cast and I wou ld make sure he would go to ja i l .  Again  th ings settled 

down. 

When I was 19, I became pregnant. Yes, I was a very promiscuous teenager. I actual ly wa nted to be a 

prostitute s ince it was the only thing I knew! ! My family traveled to Europe. Due to my pregnancy, I 
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was incredibly sick. When my mother and s ib l ings went sightseeing one day, my father was i l l  and 

stayed behind with me. Once again  he tried to come for me. I mocked him and spit in  his face ! To ld 

him every Tom, Dick and Harry cou ld have me, but he would never again touch me ! !  That stopped h im 

in  his tracks for a whi le. 

When I moved out of my parents' home, my father wou ld follow me and stal k  my apartment. I let h im 

fol low me from my apartment one day  and when we were in traffic and he was behind me, I s lammed 

on my brakes so he would nearly hit me from behind. I got out of my car and started screa ming at h im 

in  the middle of traffic ! !  It frightened h im so badly he final ly did stop sta lk ing me ! 

Duri ng a l l  these years I became more and more angry and aggressive. I was such an  angry person ready 

to inflict pa in  on anyone who crossed me. I st i l l  have those tendencies today, but choose to keep that 

side of my personal ity i n  check. I 'm not a lways successful, but continue to work on it every day! Some 

days the proverbial closet where my skeletons l ive flies open !  I am happy they no longer fa l l  out and I 

can s imply close the door. My father died 10 yea rs ago and it was one of the happiest days of my l ife ! !  

M y  husband never knew any of this unt i l  our daughter was approaching her e ighth birthday. We were 

going to visit fami ly and friends and planned to leave the kids with my parents for two days .  That 

thought consumed me and I fina l ly sought counse l ing. I knew in my hea rt it had everything to do with 

leaving my daughter in my father's care. When we arrived at my parents, I took my father aside and 

expla i ned if he even thought of touching the kids, I wou ld ki l l  h im and gladly spend my l ife in  jai l  for it. I 

explained the kids could not l ie to me and I wou ld be questioning them. My husband came forwa rd and 

told h im he knew of everything a nd would stand by my side.  That was the fi rst t ime my father broke 

down. He asked why I cou ldn't let it go . . . . .  I explained he put everything in motion when he decided to 

start molesting me at eight years old and as a result had no rights. My husband explained it was now my 

father's problem to keep the "secret" because we were no longer going to keep qu iet ! My sisters a re 

aware and su pport me. My mother and one brother learned of the whole mess. They believe I tel l  l ies 

and a m  more evi l than Satan h imself. I d isagree. That was the definition of my father, not me. 

This doesn't even begin to tel l  the atrocities that were done to me ! !  Yet, if someone is fina l ly strong 

enough to bring charges against their abusers, they sim ply can't because of the laws. Do you honestly 

believe a chi ld is going to bring cha rges? What about those who blocked it out? Their abusers seem to 

th ink you should just let it go because it's in  the past. How convenient ! !  How n ice that the courts and 

lawmakers a l low chi ldren to have no recourse because the statute of l imitation passed before they were 

even teenagers ! !  How convenient. For all those who committed su icide or have cru mbled u nder the 

return ing memories, I say it's t ime to change the laws ! !  Allow those individua ls to grow and become 

trust ing of their fellow man so they a re no longer bound by the "secret". 

STOP THE ABUSE NOW ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! !  
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Letter  from G inger 

February 1, 2015 

RE : SB 

To the Members of the Senate Judiciary Committee; 

My name is G inger Westfa ll, and as a chi ldhood sexua l  abuse survivor, I wa nt to stress how it is 

extremely important that SB Bi l l  2331 passes. There must be no statute of limitations on child sexual 
abuse. Chi ldren do not have the ski l ls or the courage to face their offenders. Chi ldren  a re not able to 

express easi ly that they a re being abused. 

As a victim of child sexual abuse I can tel l  you that it is very hard to express this due to being 

intimidated, being told that your parents wi l l  fight and get divorced, told that no one wi l l  believe you, 

and that you wi l l  no longer have a family. 

I can say that I did tell my gra ndmother and she did not bel ieve me. When the abuse fina lly did come 

out from another vict im and I colla borated, I was told to be quiet and that "boys wi l l  be boys," and that 

it wou ld "brea k my gra ndpa's heart." Even at 24 years of age, when I tried to ta lk about th is, I did not 

pursue the abuse because I was pressured by fami ly members not to say anyth ing. Can you imagine 

being told this as a child? You must pass this bil l so when chi ldren a re matu re and strong enough to 

face their accusers they wi l l  be able to do this .  

With the current statute of l im itations, if the abuse stopped at age 7, I would have only had unti l  14 

years of age to report it. This needs to CHANGE !  

My abuse started at  such  a young age I do not remember. I either blocked it out, or I do not remember. 
IT a lways was. It continued into grade school. I then avoided ever being in the same room as my 

a buser. However, even in high school he attem pted to rape me on 2 occasions. I did fight h im off. As 
an adu lt he knew I did not want him around me. I made this obvious. He wou ld still try to i ntim idate 
me. When in  publ ic situations, I cou ld not do anyth ing. For example, at my wedding, he came through 

the dol lar dance. KNOWING I did not want him too, and I am positive it was his a rrogance saying, "What 

a re you going to do about it?????" 

I am cu rrently 43 years old. This is sti l l  traumatizing for me. I can say the abuse affected me. I was in 2 
a busive relationships .  I have self-loathing, a d istorted self-image. I look back at my chi ldhood and I 

have very few good memories. My chi ldhood was stolen from me 

Please pass this b i l l, 

G inger Westfa l l  

g i  nwestfa l l@yahoo.com 



Letter from Proud Mom of Th ree 
January 29, 20 1 4  

Chairman and members of the Legislative Committee, 
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I am writi ng you this letter to stress the importance of the bi l l  to extend the statute of l imitations on child 

rape. I am a child rape survivor that grew up in the state of North Dakota. I was raped by a family member 

who we know has victim ized at least 5 other g irls and boy. I however, was molested daily from the 

earliest I can remember at the age of 2 until 6 by an uncle who lived with my grandmother. My 

grandmother babysat me during the day while my mother and father worked. It then turned into raping 
me whenever she babysat me such as on weekends or during family holidays. The latest I remember this 

individual trying to rape me was the age of 16 when he exposed himself and tried to force h is penis into 

my face while I was babysitting my cousins at their farm house. 

You are probably wondering why I did not tell anyone. I can tell you when I was very l ittle he would 

threaten me. He told me my toys would be taken away, no one would bel ieve or love me and I would be 

sent away. He told me it was our secret and I would get into big trouble if I told. The neighbor g irl was 

also molested by him and she came forward. I remember how terrible the entire family talked about this 

girl, saying that she had problems, that she was lying, that they were poor etc . . .  This g irl was pretty much 
coerced into saying that she lied and it didn't happen. I felt ashamed and embarrassed. I knew that if I 

came forward the same fate would happen to me. I lived in fear every day when I went to my grandma's 

house. I would cry and tel l  my mother I did not want to. She thought it was because it was "boring" or 

because she was not the best housekeeper. So she would force me to go. ( I know now my mother has 

severe guilt over this and not realizing what was going on.) 

At about the age of 1 4 ,  I developed severe body complex issues. I was anorexic and bulimic until the age 

of 25. I lost many friends and close relationships because of this. I told my mother about the abuse at 

the age of 1 8, while I was in college. My roommates in college called my parents about my bulimia and 

how it was affecting them. My mother called me, at her wits end asking me why I was bulimic, what was 

wrong etc . . .  I finally got up the courage to tell her. I told her I was sexually abused by my uncle/her 

brother for years and I thought about it every single day. She remained quiet and hung up. She called 

some of her family members who then called me and called me a liar, threatened me and told me to shut 

up. My sister, who was also sexually abused informed them I was tel l ing the truth. I was then called again 

and told not to tarnish the family name, that it would break my Grandmother and Grandfather's heart and 

to keep quiet. I was stil l  called a liar by an aunt and was told "boys wi l l  be boys." 

I was 1 8  when I came forward and this is how I was treated.  Can you imagine being school age and trying 

to come forward or feeling gui lt and shame when you realize it is not ok to be touched sexually and that it 

is happen ing to you? We need to have tougher laws to stop these perpetrators from hurting more kids. It 

is im portant that when the victims become strong enough to come forward and want to prosecute their  

abuser we have laws set in place that allow this.  I am asking you to please extend the statute of 

l imitations on child rape 

Sincerely, 

Robin Jo Carter (Proud Mom of 3 boys under 3) 
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29-04-03.2. Statute of limitations as to child victim. 

If the victim of a violation of chapter 1 2. 1 -20 is under the age of fifteen, the applicable period 
of limitation, if any, does not begin to run until the victim has reached the age of fifteen. 

History. 

S.L. 1 987, ch. 3 9 1 ,  1 .  

Notes to Decisions 

Applicability. 

Charges based on the sexual abuse of defendants young niece were not barred by the statute of 
l imitations; the d istrict court correctly applied the current version of N. D.C.C. 29-04-03. 1 ,  and, because 
the victim was under 1 5  at the time of the sexual abuse, the statute of l imitations d id not begin to run u ntil 
her 1 5th birthday in 2002. The offense was reported to law enforcement authorities in December 2002, 
within the in itial seven-year limitation period, and the prosecution was commenced within seven 
years. State v. Goebel ,  2007 N D  4, 725 N .W.2d 578, 2007 N.D.  LEXIS 2 ( N . D. 2007). 

Charges based on the sexual abuse of defendants young nephew were not barred by the statute of 
l imitations; because the nephew was under 1 5  at the time of the offense, the statute of l imitations did not 
begin to run until his 1 5th birthday in 1 997, he did not report the offense to law enforcement until January 
3 1 ,  2005, therefore, the prosecution had to be commenced within three years after that date, and the 
State filed a criminal complaint against defendant in June 2005, well within the three-year l imitation 
period. State v. Goebel, 2007 ND 4, 725 N .W.2d 578, 2007 N . D .  LEXIS 2 (N .D.  2007]. 




